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EXPLANATORY NOTE

Gravis Oil Corporation (“Gravis” or the “Company”) is filing this Amendment No. 1 on Form 20-F/A (the “Amended Filing”) to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended April 30, 2011 (the “Original Filing”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on
November 15, 2011.  In September 2011, Gravis received cease trading orders from the Alberta Securities Commission and the British Columbia Securities
Commission for failure to timely file required disclosures therein.  In connection with the process of having the case trading orders revoked, the Company
determined that certain disclosures in the Original Filing would need to be revised.

For the convenience of the reader, this Amended Filing sets forth the Original Filing as modified and superseded where necessary to reflect the
restatement. The following items have been amended as a result of, and to reflect, the restatement:
 
 ● Introduction, to remove a reference to unproven properties;
   
 ● Item 3D – Risk Factors, to change the number of authorized shares of preferred stock from unlimited to 100 million;
   
 ● Item 4A – History and Developments of the Company, to provide expanded disclosure of Company activities;
   
 ● Item 4B – Business Overview, to remove a reference to unproven properties and provide expanded disclosure of Company activities;
   
 ● Item 5A – Operating Results, to provide disclosure regarding impairment of oil and gas assets;
   
 ● Item 5B – Liquidity and Capital Resources, to provide expanded disclosure regarding prior financings and liquidity events;
   
 ● Item 6B – Compensation, to revise certain disclosures regarding executive compensation and additional information on director compensation;
   
 ● Item 6C – Board Practices, to provide expanded disclosure on our audit committee and the qualifications of each member;
   
 ● Item 6E – Share Ownership, to provide disclosure on outstanding options owned by executive officers;
   
 ● Item 8A.7 – Legal Proceedings, to update disclosures regarding the cease trading orders that were issued in Canada; and
   
 ● Notes to the Financial Statements, to revise the supplemental information on oil and gas operations (unaudited) regarding accounting for reserve

information and to make other minor conforming changes.

In accordance with applicable SEC rules, this Amended Filing includes certifications from our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
dated as of the date of this filing.
 

Except for the items noted above, no other information included in the Original Filing is being amended by this Amended Filing. The Amended Filing
continues to speak as of the date of the Original Filing and, except as set forth in the sections indicated above, we have not updated the Original Filing to reflect
events occurring subsequently to the date of the Original Filing. Accordingly, this Amended Filing should be read in conjunction with our filings made with the
SEC subsequent to the filing of the Original Filing.
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INTRODUCTION
 

We are a corporation organized under the laws of the Province of Alberta, Canada. Since December 2006, our primary business activity has been the
acquisition, exploration and development of a number of heavy oil properties in the United States. To date, we have been assigned an immaterial amount of
proved reserves based on the anticipated total reserves in the Missouri area; however, we still believe we are an exploration stage company. Our activities to date
have included analysis and evaluation of technical data, preparation of geological models, acquisition of mineral rights, exploration and development drilling,
conceptual engineering, construction and operation of thermal demonstration projects. Our common shares trade in the United States on the Over-the-Counter
Bulletin Board exchange (OTC) under the symbol "GRAVF." As used in this annual report, the terms “issuer” and Gravis means Gravis Oil Corporation
individually, the terms "we", "us", "our" and "company" mean Gravis Oil Corporation together with its subsidiaries and "MegaWest USA" means our
directly-owned subsidiary MegaWest Energy (USA) Corp.

This annual report contains forward-looking statements as that term is defined in Section 27A of the United States Securities Act of 1933, as
amended and Section 21E of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. These statements relate to future events or
our future financial performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "may", "should", "expects", "plans",
"anticipates", "believes", "estimates", "predicts", "potential" or "continue" or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are
only predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, including the risks in the section entitled "Risk Factors" that may
cause our or our industry's actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance
and are subject to a wide range of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, and although we believe that the expectations represented by such forward-
looking statements are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will be realized. Any number of important factors could cause actual
results, future actions, conditions or events to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, the volatility of oil
and gas prices, the ability to implement corporate strategies, the state of domestic capital markets, the ability to obtain financing, changes in oil and gas
acquisition and drilling programs, operating risks, production rates, reserve estimates, changes in general economic conditions, and other factors. Undue
reliance should not be placed on forward-looking statements as we can give no assurance that they will prove to be correct. The forward-looking statements
contained in this annual report are made as of the date hereof. While we acknowledge that subsequent events and developments may cause the views expressed
herein to change, we have no intention and undertake no obligation to update, revise or correct such forward-looking information, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, except as required by applicable securities law.
 

Statements made in this annual report concerning the contents of any contract, agreement or other document are summaries of such contracts,
agreements or documents and are not complete descriptions of all of their terms. If we filed any of these documents as an exhibit to this annual report or to any
registration statement or annual report that we previously filed, you may read the document itself for a complete description of its terms.
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PART I
 
Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers

Not required.

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable

Not required.

Item 3. Key Information

A. Selected Financial Data

The following table summarizes selected financial data for and as of the five years ended April 30, 2011 are derived from our audited financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and audited by our independent registered public accountants. The selected financial
data as of April 30, 2011 and 2010 and for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 have been derived from our audited financial statements and related
notes included elsewhere in this annual report. The selected financial data as of April 30, 2009, 2008 and 2007 and for the years ended April 30, 2008 and
2007 have been derived from audited financial statements not included in this annual report, adjusted for differences between Canadian and U.S. GAAP. The
selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our audited financial statements and related notes included in this annual report and with the
information appearing under the heading "Item 5 - Operating and Financial Review and Prospects" below.

Effective May 1, 2010, we changed our accounting policies from Canadian GAAP to U.S. GAAP, which has been reflected retrospectively in this
report. Effective July 30, 2010, we changed the presentation currency of our consolidated financial statements from the Canadian dollar to the U.S. dollar,
reflecting the primary source of funding and spending. We believe that this change provides greater alignment of our presentation currency with our most
significant operating currency and underlying financial performance. Unless otherwise specified, all financial information included in this Form 20-F has
been stated in U.S. dollars.

Selected Financial Data
 

 
Year Ended April 30,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Revenues $1,582,176 $1,581,223 $135,190 $644,731 $231,261
Expenses $31,291,562 $9,531,582 $60,082,461 $40,734,966 $15,899,246
Net Loss ($29,709,386) ($7,950,359) ($59,947,271) ($40,090,235) ($15,667,985)
Foreign Exchange
Translation

($283,771) $4,984,026 ($13,832,144) $8,505,150 $354,583

Total Comprehensive
Loss ($29,993,157) ($2,966,333) ($73,779,415) ($31,585,085) ($15,313,402)
Net Income (Loss) per
Share

($2.22) ($0.60) ($4.60) ($5.05) ($7.09)

Weighted Average Number
of Common Shares 13,387,166 13,325,545 13,035,892 7,941,379 2,210,213
Total Assets $20,818,512 $31,596,571 $30,502,369 $88,185,360 $87,987,736
Long-term liabilities $20,061,550 $1,852,792 $858,286 $46,022,853 $1,900,432
Total Liabilities $23,650,925 $2,842,857 $952,720 $49,807,354 $3,072,949
Accumulated Retained
Earnings (Deficit) from
the Development Stage ($135,474,141) ($105,144,948) ($96,975,794) ($37,472,384) $2,551,300
Capital Stock(1) $79,016,425 $80,717,433 $78,828,533 $57,217,824 $36,625,531
Stockholders (Deficit)
Equity $(2,832,413) $28,753,714 $29,549,649 $38,378,006 $84,914,787
________________________
(1) Includes share capital, preferred shares and exchange shares.
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Item 3. Key Information - continued
 
B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not required.
 
C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds

Not required.

D. Risk Factors

The common shares of our company are considered speculative. Investing in our common shares involves a high degree of risk and uncertainty. You
should carefully consider the following risks and uncertainties in addition to other information in this annual report in evaluating our company and
our business before purchasing our common shares. Our business, operating or financial condition could be harmed due to any of the following risks.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS
 
If we are unable to obtain additional funding our business operations will be harmed and if we do obtain additional financing our then existing
shareholders may suffer substantial dilution.
 

During September 2011 the Company was cease traded by the Alberta and British Columbia securities commissions for failure to file certain
financial information – See Legal Proceedings below.  The Company has made the required filings and believes that the Alberta and British Columbia cease
trade orders will be lifted.    However, as of the date of this report the cease trade orders have not been revoked and no assurances can be given as to when or if
they will be lifted.   Until these cease trade orders are revoked the Company’s ability to raise capital is significantly restricted.

 
We expect that our current capital and our other existing resources will be sufficient only to provide a limited amount of working capital, and the

revenues generated will not alone be sufficient to fund our operations or planned growth. We anticipate that we will require up to approximately $2 million for
our anticipated operations for the next twelve months, depending on revenues. We believe that our currently available funds can sustain our current level of
operations for approximately three months from the date of this report.  In addition when our Senior Notes and Junior Notes come due the Company currently
lacks the resources to repay them.  While the Company plans on renegotiating the terms of the Senior Notes and Junior Notes there can be no assurance that
the Company will be successful and the Senior Note and Junior Note holders may demand repayment and or force their security interests against our assets. 
We will require additional capital to continue to operate our business and to further expand our exploration and development programs. We may be unable to
obtain additional capital required. Furthermore, inability to maintain capital may damage our reputation and credibility with industry participants. Our
inability to raise additional funds when required may have a negative impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

 
Future acquisitions and future exploration, development, production, leasing activities and marketing activities, as well as our administrative

requirements (such as salaries, insurance expenses and general overhead expenses, as well as legal compliance costs and accounting expenses) will require a
substantial amount of additional capital and cash flow.
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Item 3. Key Information - continued
 
We plan to pursue sources of additional capital through various financing transactions or arrangements, including joint venturing of projects, debt

financing, equity financing or other means. We may not be successful in locating suitable financing transactions in the time period required or at all, and we
may not obtain the capital we require by other means.
 

Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity will likely dilute your ownership percentage. This could also result in a decrease in the fair
market value of our equity securities because our assets would be owned by a larger pool of outstanding equity. The terms of securities we issue in future
capital transactions may be more favorable to our new investors, and may include preferences, superior voting rights and the issuance of warrants or other
derivative securities, and issuances of incentive awards under equity employee incentive plans, which may have a further dilutive effect.
 

Our ability to obtain needed financing may be impaired by such factors as the capital markets (both generally and in the oil and gas industry in
particular), our status as a new enterprise without a significant demonstrated operating history, the location of our oil and natural gas properties and prices of
oil and natural gas on the commodities markets (which will impact the amount of asset-based financing available to us) and/or the loss of key management.
Further, if oil and/or natural gas prices on the commodities markets decrease, then our revenues will likely decrease, and such decreased revenues may
increase our requirements for capital. If the amount of capital we are able to raise from financing activities, together with our revenues from operations, is not
sufficient to satisfy our capital needs (even to the extent that we reduce our operations), we may be required to cease our operations.
 

We may incur substantial costs in pursuing future capital financing, including investment banking fees, legal fees, accounting fees, securities law
compliance fees, printing and distribution expenses and other costs. We may also be required to recognize non-cash expenses in connection with certain
securities we may issue, such as convertible notes and warrants, which may adversely impact our consolidated financial results.

We have a history of losses which may continue, which may negatively impact our ability to achieve our business objectives.

We incurred net losses of $29,709,386, $7,950,359 and $59,947,271 for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We
cannot assure you that we can achieve or sustain profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. Our operations are subject to the risks and
competition inherent in the establishment of a business enterprise. There can be no assurance that future operations will be profitable. Revenues and profits, if
any, will depend upon various factors, including whether we will be able to continue expansion of our revenue. We may not achieve our business objectives
and the failure to achieve such goals would have an adverse impact on us.
 
We have a limited operating history and if we are not successful in continuing to grow our business, then we may have to scale back or even cease
our ongoing business operations.

We have received a limited amount of revenues from operations and have limited assets. We have yet to generate positive earnings and there can be no
assurance that we will ever operate profitably. We have a limited operating history. Our success is significantly dependent on a successful acquisition, drilling,
completion and production program. Our operations will be subject to all the risks inherent in the establishment of a developing enterprise and the uncertainties
arising from the absence of a significant operating history. We may be unable to locate recoverable reserves or operate on a profitable basis. We are in the
exploration stage and potential investors should be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by enterprises in the exploration stage. If our business plan is
not successful, and we are not able to operate profitably, investors may lose some or all of their investment.

 
Because we are small and do not have much capital, we may have to limit our exploration activity which may result in a loss of your investment.

Because we are small and do not have much capital, we must limit our exploration activity. As such we may not be able to complete an exploration
program that is as thorough as we would like. In that event, existing reserves may go undiscovered. Without finding reserves, we cannot generate revenues and
you will lose your investment.
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Item 3. Key Information - continued
 
Strategic relationships upon which we may rely are subject to change, which may diminish our ability to conduct our operations.
 

Our ability to successfully acquire additional properties, to discover reserves, to participate in drilling opportunities and to identify and enter into
commercial arrangements with customers will depend on developing and maintaining close working relationships with industry participants and on our ability
to select and evaluate suitable properties and to consummate transactions in a highly competitive environment. These realities are subject to change and may
impair our ability to grow.
 

To develop our business, we will endeavor to use the business relationships of our management to enter into strategic relationships, which may take
the form of joint ventures with other private parties and contractual arrangements with other oil and gas companies, including those that supply equipment and
other resources that we will use in our business. We may not be able to establish these strategic relationships, or if established, we may not be able to maintain
them. In addition, the dynamics of our relationships with strategic partners may require us to incur expenses or undertake activities we would not otherwise be
inclined to in order to fulfill our obligations to these partners or maintain our relationships. If our strategic relationships are not established or maintained, our
business prospects may be limited, which could diminish our ability to conduct our operations.

Although our estimated natural gas and oil reserve data has been prepared by an independent third party, the estimates may prove to be
inaccurate.
 

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of oil and natural gas reserves and the future cash flows attributed to such
reserves. In general, estimates of economically recoverable oil and natural gas reserves and the future net cash flows therefrom are based upon a number of
variable factors and assumptions, such as historical production from the properties, production rates, ultimate reserve recovery, timing and amount of capital
expenditure, marketability of oil and gas, royalty rates, the assumed effects of regulation by governmental agencies and future operating costs, all of which
may vary materially from actual results. For those reasons, estimates of the economically recoverable oil and natural gas reserves attributable to any particular
group of properties, classification of such reserves based on risk of recovery and estimates of future net revenues associated with reserves prepared by
different engineers, or by the same engineers at different times, may vary. Our actual production, revenues, taxes and development and operating expenditures
with respect to our reserves will vary from estimates thereof and such variations could be material.

Our primary and most valuable assets are pledged as security against our indebtedness.
 

In order to finance our exploration activities with a view toward establishing commercial operations we pledged our assets in Missouri as a security
against our Senior Notes and Junior Notes. If we default on the terms of any of these credit instruments, we could lose such assets, which would adversely
impact our business.

Current global financial conditions have been characterized by increased volatility which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects, liquidity and financial condition.

Current global financial conditions and recent market events have been characterized by increased volatility and the resulting tightening of the credit
and capital markets has reduced the amount of available liquidity and overall economic activity. There can be no assurance that debt or equity financing, the
ability to borrow funds or cash generated by operations will be available or sufficient to meet or satisfy our initiatives, objectives or requirements. Our inability
to access sufficient amounts of capital on terms acceptable to us for our operations could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, liquidity
and financial condition.
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Item 3. Key Information - continued
 
Our results of operations as well as the carrying value of our oil and gas properties are substantially dependent upon the prices of oil and
natural gas, which historically have been volatile and are likely to continue to be volatile.

Our results of operations and the ceiling on the carrying value of our oil and gas properties are dependent on the estimated present value of proved
reserves, which depends on the prevailing prices for oil and gas, which are and are likely to continue to be volatile. Recent world events have significantly
increased oil and gas prices, but we cannot assure that such prices will continue. Various factors beyond our control affect prices of oil and natural gas,
including political and economic conditions; worldwide and domestic supplies of and demand for oil and gas; weather conditions; the ability of the members
of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries to agree on and maintain price and production controls; political instability or armed conflict in oil-
producing regions; the price of foreign imports; the level of consumer demand; the price and availability of alternative fuels; and changes in existing federal
and state regulations. Current prices for oil are at or near historical highs, and any significant decline in oil or gas prices could have a material adverse effect
on our operations, financial condition, and level of development and exploration expenditures and could result in a reduction in the carrying value of our oil
and gas properties. Any decline in prices would cause a reduction in the amount of any reserves and, in turn, in the amount that we might be able to borrow to
fund development and acquisition activities. To date, we do not believe that the lack of reserves has hindered our efforts to obtain the capital we have sought.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY

The oil and gas industry is highly competitive and we may not be able to compete with current and potential exploration companies.
 

The oil and gas industry is intensely competitive. We compete with numerous individuals and companies, including many major oil and gas
companies, which have substantially greater technical, financial and operational resources and staff for suitable business opportunities, desirable oil and gas
properties for drilling operations, drilling equipment and funds. We may be unable to compete successfully with our existing competitors or with any new
competitors. The competition from other companies with greater resources and reputations may result in our failure to maintain or expand our business.

We may not be able to develop oil and gas reserves on an economically viable basis.
 
To the extent that we succeed in discovering oil and/or natural gas reserves, we cannot assure that these reserves will be capable of production levels

we project or in sufficient quantities to be commercially viable. Our viability depends on our ability to find or acquire, develop and commercially produce
additional oil and natural gas reserves. Without the addition of reserves through acquisition, exploration or development activities, our reserves and production
will decline over time as reserves are produced. Our future reserves will depend not only on our ability to develop then-existing properties, but also on our
ability to identify and acquire additional suitable producing properties or prospects, to find markets for the oil and natural gas we develop and to effectively
distribute our production into our markets. 

 
Future oil and gas exploration may involve unprofitable efforts, not only from dry wells, but from wells that are productive but do not produce

sufficient net revenues to return a profit after drilling, operating and other costs. Completion of a well does not assure a profit on the investment or recovery of
drilling, completion and operating costs. In addition, drilling hazards or environmental damage could greatly increase the cost of operations, and various field
operating conditions may adversely affect the production from successful wells. These conditions include delays in obtaining governmental approvals or
consents, shut-downs of connected wells resulting from extreme weather conditions, problems in storage and distribution and adverse geological and
mechanical conditions. While we will endeavor to effectively manage these conditions, we cannot be assured of doing so optimally, and we will not be able to
eliminate them completely in any case. Therefore, these conditions could diminish our revenue and cash flow levels and result in the impairment of our oil and
natural gas interests.
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Item 3. Key Information - continued
 
The potential profitability of oil and gas ventures depends upon factors beyond our control, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business.
 
The potential profitability of oil and gas properties is dependent upon many factors beyond our control. For instance, world prices and markets for oil and gas
are unpredictable, highly volatile, potentially subject to governmental fixing, pegging, controls, or any combination of these and other factors, and respond to
changes in domestic, international, political, social, and economic environments. Additionally, due to worldwide economic uncertainty, the availability and
cost of funds for production and other expenses have become increasingly difficult, if not impossible, to project. These changes and events may materially
affect our financial performance. In addition, a productive well may become uneconomic in the event that water or other deleterious substances are encountered
which impair or prevent the production of oil and/or gas from the well. In addition, production from any well may be unmarketable if it is impregnated with
water or other deleterious substances. These factors cannot be accurately predicted and the combination of these factors may result in us not receiving an
adequate return on invested capital.
 
The marketability of natural resources will be affected by numerous factors beyond our control.

The markets and prices for oil and gas depend on numerous factors beyond our control. These factors include demand for oil and gas, which
fluctuate with changes in market and economic conditions, and other factors, including:

 • worldwide and domestic supplies of oil and gas;
 • actions taken by foreign oil and gas producing nations;
 • political conditions and events (including instability or armed conflict) in oil-producing or gas-producing regions;
 • the level of global and domestic oil and gas inventories;
 • the price and level of foreign imports;
 • the level of consumer demand;
 • the price and availability of alternative fuels;
 • the availability of pipeline or other takeaway capacity;
 • weather conditions;
 • domestic and foreign governmental regulations and taxes; and
 • the overall worldwide and domestic economic environment.

Significant declines in oil and gas prices for an extended period may have the following effects on our business:

 • adversely affect our financial condition, liquidity, ability to finance planned capital expenditures and results of operations;
 • cause us to delay or postpone some of our capital projects;
 • reduce our revenues, operating income and cash flow; and
 • limit our access to sources of capital.

We may have difficulty distributing our oil and gas production, which could harm our financial condition.

In order to sell the oil and gas that we are able to produce, we may have to make arrangements for storage and distribution to the market. We will rely
on local infrastructure and the availability of transportation for storage and shipment of our products, but infrastructure development and storage and
transportation facilities may be insufficient for our needs at commercially acceptable terms in the localities in which we operate. This situation could be
particularly problematic to the extent that our operations are conducted in remote areas that are difficult to access, such as areas that are distant from shipping
and/or pipeline facilities. These factors may affect our ability to explore and develop properties and to store and transport our oil and gas production and may
increase our expenses.

Furthermore, weather conditions or natural disasters, actions by companies doing business in one or more of the areas in which we will operate, or
labor disputes may impair the distribution of oil and/or gas and in turn diminish our financial condition or ability to maintain our operations.
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Item 3. Key Information - continued
 
We are subject to complex laws and regulations, including environmental regulations, which can adversely affect the cost, manner or feasibility of
doing business.
 

Oil and gas operations in United States are subject to federal and state laws and regulations which seek to maintain health and safety standards by
regulating the design and use of drilling methods and equipment. Various permits from government bodies are required for drilling and production operations
to be conducted and we may not receive such permits. Oil and gas operations in the United States are also subject to federal and state laws and regulations
relating to, among other things, the construction and operation of facilities, the use of water in industrial processes, the removal of natural resources from the
ground, and the discharge/release of materials into the environment.
 

Environmental standards imposed by United States federal and state authorities are subject to change and any such changes could have material
adverse effects on our activities. Moreover, compliance with such laws may cause substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated.
Additionally, we may be subject to liability for pollution or other environmental damages, which we may elect not to insure against due to prohibitive premium
costs and other reasons. Our current and anticipated exploration and drilling activities are subject to the foregoing environment regulations and we would be
become subject to additional regulations if we establish reserves or enter into production.
 
Exploratory drilling involves many risks and we may become liable for pollution or other liabilities which may have an adverse effect on our
financial position.
 

Drilling operations generally involve a high degree of risk. Hazards such as unusual or unexpected geological formations, power outages, labor
disruptions, blow-outs, sour gas leakage, fire, inability to obtain suitable or adequate machinery, equipment or labor, and other risks are involved. We may
become subject to liability for pollution or hazards against which we cannot adequately insure or for which we may elect not to insure. Incurring any such
liability may have a material adverse effect on our financial position and operations.

 
Any change in government regulation and/or administrative practices may have a negative impact on our ability to operate and on our profitability.

The laws, regulations, policies or current administrative practices of any government body, organization or regulatory agency in the U.S. or any
other jurisdiction may be changed, applied or interpreted in a manner which will fundamentally alter our ability to carry on our business. The actions, policies
or regulations, or changes thereto, of any government body or regulatory agency, or other special interest groups, may have a detrimental effect on us. Any or
all of these situations may have a negative impact on our ability to operate and/or our profitability.

Our rights to drill on the leases owned by our company are only valid if we continue to pay contractual lease rental payments.
 

Continuation of existing undrilled leases owned by our company is dependent on the payment of lease rental payments. The majority of these lease
payments are pre-paid at the inception of the individual lease agreement with an option for the pre-payment of a second term at the expiry of the initial term. We
may not be in a financial position at the end of the primary lease term to pay the option payment for the second term, in which case the lease would expire at
the end of its primary term.
 
Our rights to produce petroleum from the leases that we own are dependent on continuous production and the payment of shut-in royalty
payments.
 

Our leases contain provisions that once commercial production has been established, continuous production must be maintained on a monthly basis
(with normal maintenance shut-ins excepted). In order to maintain our leases in force and effect, the leases include provisions for the payment of shut-in
royalties. Under our leases, we would be required to pay a shut-in royalty in certain circumstances when a well is shut-in due to lack of a suitable market, a
lack of facilities to produce the product, or other reasons defined within the shut-in provisions contained in our leases. We may not be in a financial position to
make such shut-in royalty payments, in which event our leases would terminate.
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Item 3. Key Information - continued
 
The real property associated with our projects for which we have leases may be subject to prior unregistered agreements or transfers that have
not been recorded or detected through title searches.
 

The oil and gas leases with respect to the real property associated with our projects do not guarantee title against all possible claims. The real property
may be subject to prior unregistered agreements or transfers that have not been recorded or detected through title research. If the oil and gas leases to the real
property associated with our projects are challenged, we may have to expend funds defending any such claims and may ultimately lose our interest in such
leases, which would have an adverse effect on revenues generated from such projects.

Operational hazards for which we do not maintain insurance are inherent in the exploration, drilling, and production of oil and gas.

Usual operational hazards incident to our industry include blowouts, cratering, explosions, uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or well fluids,
fires, pollution, releases of toxic gas, and other environmental hazards and risks. These hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life, severe damage to
and destruction of property and equipment, pollution or environmental damage, and suspension of operations. We maintain insurance to cover operational
hazards and rely on our agreements that require the operator of the properties in which we have an interest to maintain $1.0 million workers’ compensation,
$1.0 employer’s and general liability, $2.0 million aggregate general liability, $5.0 million well control, and $5.0 million bodily injury and property damage
insurance coverage. The insurance policies purchased under this covenant include us as the owner of a non-operating working interest as an insured under
such policies. We cannot assure that we could obtain or that our contractors will be able to continue to obtain insurance coverage for current or future activities.
Further, we cannot assure that any insurance obtained will provide coverage customary in the industry, be comparable to the insurance now maintained, or be
on favorable terms or at premiums that are reasonable. The insurance maintained by our contractors does not cover all of the risks involved in oil and gas
exploration, drilling, and production, and if coverage does exist, may not be sufficient to pay the full amount of such liabilities. We may not be insured
against all losses or liabilities that may arise from all hazards because such insurance may not be available at economical rates, the respective insurance
policies may have limited coverage, and other factors. For example, insurance against risks related to violations of environmental laws is not maintained. The
occurrence of a significant adverse event that is not fully covered by insurance or for which the coverage is insufficient to cover aggregate losses could expose
us to liability because we may be responsible for our working interest share of the damages in excess of any related insurance coverage. Further, we cannot
assure that adequate levels of insurance will be maintained for our benefit in the future at rates we consider reasonable. The occurrence of any of these risks
could lead to a reduction in our value and the loss of investments made by purchasers of our stock.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR COMMON SHARES

If we fail to remain current on our reporting requirements, we could be removed from the OTC Bulletin Board which would limit the ability of
broker-dealers to sell our securities and the ability of stockholders to sell their securities in the secondary market.
 

Companies trading on the Over-The-Counter Bulletin Board must be reporting issuers under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
must be current in their reports under Section 13, in order to maintain price quotation privileges on the OTC Bulletin Board. The lack of resources to prepare
and file our reports, including the inability to pay our independent registered public accounting firm, could result in our failure to remain current on our
reporting requirements, which could result in our being removed from the OTC Bulletin Board. As a result, the market liquidity for our securities could be
severely adversely affected by limiting the ability of broker-dealers to sell our securities and the ability of stockholders to sell their securities in the secondary
market. In addition, we may be unable to get re-approved for quotation on the OTC Bulletin Board, which may have an adverse material effect on our
company.
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Item 3. Key Information - continued
 
There has been a limited trading market for our common stock.

It is anticipated that there will be a limited trading market for our Common Stock on the NASD’s Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board for the foreseeable
future. The lack of an active market may impair your ability to sell your shares at the time you wish to sell them or at a price that you consider reasonable.
The lack of an active market may also reduce the fair market value of your shares. An inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital by selling
shares of capital stock and may impair our ability to acquire other companies or technologies by using common stock as consideration.
 
You may have difficulty trading and obtaining quotations for our common stock.

Our common stock is not actively traded, and the bid and asked prices for our common stock on the NASD Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board may
fluctuate widely. As a result, investors may find it difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations of the price of, our securities. This severely limits
the liquidity of the common stock, and would likely reduce the market price of our common stock and hamper our ability to raise additional capital.

Our common stock is not currently traded at high volume, and you may be unable to sell at or near ask prices or at all if you need to sell or
liquidate a substantial number of shares at one time.

Our common stock is currently traded, but with very low, if any, volume, based on quotations on the “Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board”, meaning
that the number of persons interested in purchasing our common stock at or near bid prices at any given time may be relatively small or non-existent. This
situation is attributable to a number of factors, including the fact that we are a small company which is still relatively unknown to stock analysts, stock
brokers, institutional investors and others in the investment community that generate or influence sales volume, and that even if we came to the attention of
such persons, they tend to be risk-averse and would be reluctant to follow an unproven company such as ours or purchase or recommend the purchase of our
shares until such time as we became more seasoned and viable. As a consequence, there may be periods of several days or more when trading activity in our
shares is minimal or non-existent, as compared to a seasoned issuer which has a large and steady volume of trading activity that will generally support
continuous sales without an adverse effect on share price. We cannot give you any assurance that a broader or more active public trading market for our
common stock will develop or be sustained, or that trading levels will be sustained.

Shareholders should be aware that, according to Commission Release No. 34-29093, the market for “penny stocks” has suffered in recent years
from patterns of fraud and abuse. Such patterns include (1) control of the market for the security by one or a few broker-dealers that are often related to the
promoter or issuer; (2) manipulation of prices through prearranged matching of purchases and sales and false and misleading press releases; (3) boiler room
practices involving high-pressure sales tactics and unrealistic price projections by inexperienced sales persons; (4) excessive and undisclosed bid-ask
differential and markups by selling broker-dealers; and (5) the wholesale dumping of the same securities by promoters and broker-dealers after prices have
been manipulated to a desired level, along with the resulting inevitable collapse of those prices and with consequent investor losses. Our management is aware
of the abuses that have occurred historically in the penny stock market. Although we do not expect to be in a position to dictate the behavior of the market or of
broker-dealers who participate in the market, management will strive within the confines of practical limitations to prevent the described patterns from being
established with respect to our securities. The occurrence of these patterns or practices could increase the future volatility of our share price.
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Item 3. Key Information - continued
 
The market price of our common stock may, and is likely to continue to be, highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations.

The market price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors that
are beyond our control, including:

 • dilution caused by our issuance of additional shares of Common Stock and other forms of equity securities, which we expect to make in
connection with future capital financings to fund our operations and growth, to attract and retain valuable personnel and in connection with
future strategic partnerships with other companies;

 
 • quarterly variations in our revenues and operating expenses;
 
 • changes in the valuation of similarly situated companies, both in our industry and in other industries;

 • changes in analysts’ estimates affecting our company, our competitors and/or our industry;

 • changes in the accounting methods used in or otherwise affecting our industry;

 • additions and departures of key personnel;

 • announcements of technological innovations or new products available to the personal protective equipment industry;

 • fluctuations in interest rates and the availability of capital in the capital markets; and

 • significant sales of our common stock.

These and other factors are largely beyond our control, and the impact of these risks, singly or in the aggregate, may result in material adverse
changes to the market price of our Common Stock and/or our results of operations and financial condition.

We have not paid dividends in the past and do not expect to pay dividends in the future. Any return on investment may be limited to the value of
our common stock.
 

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The payment of
dividends on our common stock will depend on earnings, financial condition and other business and economic factors affecting it at such time as the Board of
Directors may consider relevant.
 
Legislative actions, higher insurance costs and potential new accounting pronouncements may impact our future financial position and results of
operations.

There have been regulatory changes, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and there may potentially be new accounting pronouncements or
additional regulatory rulings that will have an impact on our future financial position and results of operations. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and other rule
changes as well as proposed legislative initiatives following the Enron bankruptcy are likely to increase general and administrative costs and expenses. In
addition, insurers are likely to increase premiums as a result of high claims rates over the past several years, which we expect will increase our premiums for
insurance policies. Further, there could be changes in certain accounting rules. These and other potential changes could materially increase the expenses we
report under generally accepted accounting principles, and adversely affect our operating results.

Our common stock is subject to the "penny stock" rules of the SEC and the trading market in our securities is limited, which makes transactions
in our stock cumbersome and may reduce the value of an investment in our stock.

The SEC has adopted Rule 15g-9 which establishes the definition of a "penny stock," for the purposes relevant to us, as any equity security that
has a market price of less than $5.00 per share or with an exercise price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions. For any transaction
involving a penny stock, unless exempt, the rules require:
 
 • that a broker or dealer approve a person's account for transactions in penny stocks; and
 • the broker or dealer receive from the investor a written agreement to the transaction, setting forth the identity and quantity of the penny stock to be

purchased.
 

In order to approve a person's account for transactions in penny stocks, the broker or dealer must:
 

 • obtain financial information and investment experience objectives of the person; and
 • make a reasonable determination that the transactions in penny stocks are suitable for that person and the person has sufficient knowledge and

experience in financial matters to be capable of evaluating the risks of transactions in penny stocks.
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Item 3. Key Information - continued
 
The broker or dealer must also deliver, prior to any transaction in a penny stock, a disclosure schedule prescribed by the SEC relating to the penny

stock market, which, in highlight form:
 
 • sets forth the basis on which the broker or dealer made the suitability determination; and
 • that the broker or dealer received a signed, written agreement from the investor prior to the transaction.
 

Generally, brokers may be less willing to execute transactions in securities subject to the "penny stock" rules. This may make it more difficult for
investors to dispose of our common stock and cause a decline in the market value of our stock.

Disclosure also has to be made about the risks of investing in penny stocks in both public offerings and in secondary trading and about the
commissions payable to both the broker-dealer and the registered representative, current quotations for the securities and the rights and remedies available to an
investor in cases of fraud in penny stock transactions. Finally, monthly statements have to be sent disclosing recent price information for the penny stock held
in the account and information on the limited market in penny stocks.

FINRA sales practice requirements may also limit a shareholder’s ability to buy and sell our stock.

In addition to the “penny stock” rules described above, FINRA has adopted rules that require that in recommending an investment to a customer, a
broker-dealer must have reasonable grounds for believing that the investment is suitable for that customer. Prior to recommending speculative low priced
securities to their non-institutional customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information about the customer’s financial status, tax
status, investment objectives and other information. Under interpretations of these rules, FINRA believes that there is a high probability that speculative low
priced securities will not be suitable for at least some customers. The FINRA requirements make it more difficult for broker-dealers to recommend that their
customers buy our common stock, which may limit your ability to buy and sell our stock and have an adverse effect on the market for our shares.
 
Future exercises or conversions of certain dilutive instruments, such as convertible Senior Notes, convertible Junior Notes and warrants, may
result in substantial dilution and new concentrations in ownership.
 

In the event that the holders of our Senior Notes and Junior Notes exercise or convert all dilutive derivative instruments held by them, including
warrants and accrued interest, they would receive a total of approximately 117,467,345 common shares or 86.3% (as of November 7, 2011) of our fully
diluted common shares. Future exercises or conversions of such instruments may result in substantial dilution and new concentrations in ownership. Such
shareholders could have the ability to control all matters submitted to our shareholders for approval (including the election and removal of directors and any
merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) and to control our management and affairs. Accordingly, this potential concentration of
ownership may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company, impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other
business combination involving our company or discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our
company, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our common shares.
 

 
13

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 20-F/A, June 21, 2012 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
 
Item 3. Key Information - continued
 
Shareholders' interests in our company will be diluted and investors may suffer dilution in their net book value per share if we issue additional
shares or raise funds through the sale of equity securities.
 

We are authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares, without par value, and 100,000,000 preferred shares, without par value. In the
event that we issue additional common shares in the future, enter into private placements to raise financing through the sale of equity securities or acquire
additional oil and gas property interests using common shares to acquire such interests, the interests of existing shareholders in our may be diluted and
existing shareholders may suffer dilution in their net book value per share depending on the price at which such securities are sold. The issuance of common
shares for future services or acquisitions or other corporate actions may have the effect of diluting the value of the shares held by our investors, and might
have an adverse effect on any trading market for our common shares.

Certain of our directors and officers may have a conflict of interest
 

Some of our directors and officers serve or may serve as directors or officers of other oil and gas or mineral exploration companies or have interests in
other oil and gas or mineral exploration companies or ventures. To the extent that we have dealings with such companies or ventures, certain of our directors
and officers may have a conflict of interest in negotiating and concluding terms relating to the extent of such dealings.
 
Item 4.Information on the Company

A. History and Development of the Company

Gravis was originally incorporated under the Company Act (British Columbia) on February 8, 2000 under the name Brockton Capital Corp. Its
name was then changed to MegaWest Energy Corp. effective February 27, 2007 before it became Gravis on June 20, 2011. At a meeting of the shareholders on
October 29, 2007, the shareholders approved the continuance of Gravis from the Province of British Columbia into the Province of Alberta under the Business
Corporations Act (Alberta). Effective February 12, 2008, Gravis was continued into the Province of Alberta as a company organized under the Business
Corporations Act (Alberta) and ceased to be a company organized under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). Effective June 20, 2011, the
Gravis’ share capital was consolidated on a one-for-ten basis. Except as otherwise noted, all common share, warrant and stock option figures disclosed herein
are reported on a consolidated basis.

Gravis is also a reporting issuer under the Securities Act in Alberta and British Columbia. The head office of Gravis is located at Suite 902, 105
150 Crowfoot Crescent NW, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T3G 3T2, while the registered office is Suite 3700, 400 Third Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta, T2P 4H2.

The Company was originally engaged in the consumer electronics market. However, due to our inability to generate revenues from this business, on
November 1, 2006 new management was hired to pursue alternative business opportunities, namely non-conventional oil and gas resource exploration and
development. In December 2006 we entered into several non-binding letters of intent with companies involved in the business of the exploration of oil and gas
resources in Kansas, Missouri, Kentucky and Texas.

On March 26, 2007, we purchased (through our subsidiary, MegaWest Energy (USA) Corp.) all of the assets of Deerfield Energy Kansas Corp.
The purchased assets included certain items of equipment and fixed assets and interests in two oil and gas leases covering 392 unproved acres in respect of the
Chetopa project near Chetopa, Kansas. The consideration given for the assets was 25,000 shares of our common stock and the assumption of a promissory
note in the amount of $500,000 payable to a private company, Agosto Corporation Limited. Pursuant to our assumption of the promissory note, we granted
Agosto a conversion feature that enables the holder of the note to convert the principal amount of the loan plus accrued interest into shares of our common
stock at a rate of US$2.50 per share. On maturity on June 20, 2008 these promissory notes were converted into common shares of our company.

As part of the project, Gravis Oil is obligated to pay a net revenue interest up to a maximum of $750,000 on net revenues generated from the Chetopa
project. The net revenue interest becomes payable after Gravis Oil recovers 100 percent of its capital and operating costs, and will be paid quarterly from 25
percent of the project's net revenues. As at September 30, 2010 no amount of net revenue interest has been earned.
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 

On April 2, 2007, we acquired (in conjunction with MegaWest Energy (USA) Corp.) all of the issued and outstanding membership units of
Kentucky Reserves, LLC (Kentucky Reserves) in consideration for $3,000,000 cash and 500,000 shares of our common stock. Kentucky Reserve's assets
included oil and gas leases covering 27,009 unproved acres in the Edmonson, Warren and Butler Counties in Kentucky. Pursuant to the membership unit
purchase agreement, we acquired a 62.5 percent working interest in the shallow rights in certain tar sands and a 37.5 percent interest in the certain deep rights.
Furthermore, pursuant to the purchase agreement, we were committed to undertake a $15,000,000 work program within the area covered by the leases, which
work program was required to be completed by October 2009 for the purpose of determining the most effective way of extracting heavy oil/bitumen from the
leases. The work program was to consist of field testing and evaluation, drilling, logging and coring of wells, formation and fluid testing, the construction of
heavy oil pilot projects such as steam, water flooding, solvent injection, electro-thermal heating, or the like. If we had been unable to expend the work program
commitment within the said period, we would have been subject to a 37.5 percent penalty on the unexpended amount of the work program commitment.
However, pursuant to an amending agreement dated April 9, 2009 with Kentucky Reserves II, LLC (“KRII”), the said work program obligations and
attendant penalty payment provisions were terminated in consideration for: (i) a reduction in our working interest in the shallow rights from 62.5 percent to
37.5 percent; (ii) a transfer of the ownership of the oil and gas leases to KRII; and (iii) our continuing obligation to pay, directly to the lessors of the lands
which make up the Kentucky project, lease rentals for the 24-month period commending March 1, 2009 (estimated at $225,000).

On April 5, 2007, we acquired (through MegaWest Energy (USA) Corp.) all of the issued and outstanding membership units of Deerfield Energy
LLC (“Deerfield Missouri”) in consideration for US$925,000 cash, including a change in control fee, and 475,000 shares of our common stock. The assets
of Deerfield Missouri include rights to oil development agreements in Vernon County, Missouri covering 7,620 unproved acres and all of the issued and
outstanding units of Deerfield Kansas. At the closing of the transaction, we paid $625,000 of the purchase price. Owing to potential issues related to certain oil
development agreements, the unpaid cash of $300,000 and 475,000 shares of our common stock were placed in an escrow account, set-up for our
indemnification in respect of the said claims. Pursuant to the escrow agreement, the said cash and shares can be released on a pro-rata basis to the previous
unit holders of Deerfield Missouri upon either the modification of certain oil development agreements into oil and gas leases or until 4,000 acres of replacement
acreage have been leased. To rectify the escrow indemnifications, we engaged in a leasing program in Missouri and in October 2007, we surpassed the 4,000
acre threshold of replacement acreage. As a result, the $300,000 cash and 475,000 shares of our common stock held in escrow were released. Of the cash held
in escrow, $100,000 plus interest was paid to us for reimbursement of our costs associated with leasing the replacement acreage.

On April 25, 2007, we acquired (in conjunction with MegaWest Energy (USA) Corp.) all of the issued and outstanding membership units of Trinity
Sands Energy LLC (Trinity) in consideration for $200,000 cash and 9,500 exchange shares of MegaWest Energy (USA) Corp. Each exchange share may be
exchanged for US$10 in cash or 10 shares of our common stock during the period January 1, 2008 to July 31, 2008, after this time, we may compel the
holders of the exchange shares to convert their exchange shares into shares of our common stock. The assets of Trinity consisted of a 50 percent working
interest in approximately 14,948 unproved acres in Edwards County, Texas and an earn-in agreement to increase the said working interest to 66.67 percent
and earn up to a 66.67 percent working interest in an additional 13,348 undeveloped acres in Edwards Country, Texas. As of February 28, 2008, all of the
exchange shares were converted into 950,000 shares of our common stock.

In June 2007, we began oil production from the Chetopa project and have shipped approximately 11,500 barrels of oil from the project. To date this
production has been incidental to the pilot project.
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 

 
On October 24, 2007, we acquired (in conjunction with MegaWest Energy Montana Corp.) a 40 percent working interest in oil and gas leases

covering approximately 37,400 unproved acres of land in Montana for consideration of $300,000 cash and 50,000 units, of which each unit consists of one
share of our common stock and one-half of one share purchase warrant (each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase an additional share of our common
stock at an exercise price of US$25.00 per share until April 24, 2009). Pursuant to earn-in agreements, we can earn an additional 20 percent working interest
in the lands by completing $2.5 million of work that includes additional leasing, seismic, geological studies, test wells and pilot project development and
implementation. In addition, our company and the vendors have established a regional area of mutual interest (AMI) covering approximately 1,000,000 acres
that will remain active for the next two years. The interest in the AMI will be divided 65 percent to our company and 35 percent to the vendors. We will pay for
100 percent of the lease acquisition, initial geological and geophysical activity, drilling and completing of all wells, if any, comprising an agreed upon initial
work program for each new prospect within the AMI and we will receive 100 percent payout of all such costs and expenses incurred for each such prospect
prior to vendor receiving its respective share.

In November 2007, we commenced construction of our first commercial project in Missouri called Marmaton River. Commissioning and start up of
the facility was completed on March 16, 2008 when steam injection commenced and the first oil sales from the project occurred on August 4, 2008 (see
"Business Overview" below in this annual report).

On May 15, 2008, we completed a private placement of 2,675,000 shares of our common stock at US$6.00 per share for aggregate proceeds of
US$16,050,000. The proceeds of the placement were used to fund our ongoing oil and gas exploration and development activities.

 In December 2008, due to low oil prices, we suspended all our capital projects, including operations at our two Missouri heavy oil projects (Grassy
Creek and Marmaton River), pending a recovery in oil prices and financing.

On August 28, 2009, we entered into a strategic arrangement with the Iroquois Capital Opportunity Fund, L.P. (" ICO Fund ") aimed at
recapitalizing our company and enabling the restart of production at our Missouri projects.  The arrangement involved several transactions, all of which were
completed on or about August 28, 2009, including, on a pre-consolidation basis:

 · the sale of a 10 percent working interest in our existing land and production projects on 15,313 acres of our oil and gas leases located in
Missouri and Kansas (the "Deerfield Area"), which area includes our Grassy Creek and Marmaton River projects, to Mega Partners 1, LLC
("MP 1"), an affiliate of the ICO Fund for $2.0 million. In connection with the sale of the working interest, we granted MP 1 various options,
including: (i) the option to acquire an additional 10 percent working interest in future development within the Deerfield Area; (ii) the option to
acquire up to a 20 percent proportionate interest in any of our properties outside of the Deerfield Area by paying a proportionate 133 percent share
of our costs-to-date in respect of such property until the later of the full redemption or conversion of the Series A or Series B preferred shares
(issued pursuant to the arrangement with the ICO Fund) and August 27, 2011; and (iii) the option to participate with our company in any future
oil and gas property acquisitions for a proportionate 20 percent share of the cost of any such acquisition until the later of the full redemption or
conversion of the Series A or Series B preferred shares (as defined herein) and August 27, 2011; and

 · an offering to investors (led by the ICO Fund) of 22,000 Series A convertible preferred shares ("Series A Preferred Shares"), each with a stated
value of US$100, for gross proceeds of $2.2 million.  The Series A Preferred Shares are convertible into common shares at US$0.70 per
common share and have a quarterly cumulative dividend equal to either 5 percent, if paid in cash (15 percent upon the occurrence of certain
events of default) or 7.5 percent, if paid in additional Series A Preferred Shares.  In connection with the Series A Preferred Share offering, our
company also issued to the subscribers thereunder: (i) 1,540,000 common stock purchase warrants, each entitling the holder thereof to purchase
an additional common share at US$2.50 per share until August 28, 2014 ("Preferred A Warrants"); and (ii) additional investment rights
consisting of the right to purchase 20,000 Series B convertible preferred shares ("Series B Preferred Shares"), each with a stated value of
US$100, convertible into common shares at US$1.00 per common share attached to which would be 1,000,000 common share purchase
warrants ("Preferred B Warrants"), each entitling the holder thereof to purchase an additional common share at US$3.50 per common share for
a period of five years from the date of issuance.
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 

Following closing of the August 28, 2009 financing, Gravis re-started its Deerfield, Missouri operations and the initial oil production response to
steam injection on both the Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects was positive.

On April 29, 2010, the Company secured a line of credit with a private lender for the sole purpose of buying natural gas to fuel the steam generators
on its Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects.   The credit facility was available up to a maximum of $1.0 million at an interest rate of 2% per month
calculated on the average daily outstanding principal balance.  As security, the Company signed a mortgage and a promissory note in the amount of $1.0
million granting security to the lender over certain Missouri properties.    The credit agreement could be terminated by the Company upon 30 days’ notice.
During the first quarter of the 2010 fiscal year, the Company drew $311,800 on the credit facility and repaid the amount in full in the second quarter.

The April 29, 2010 line of credit was terminated and the Company subsequently entered into a similar one on the same terms. In the third quarter of
2010, the Company had drawn $74,900.  The line of credit repaid in February 2011 and then terminated.

On July 30, 2010, the Company closed a $2.5 million financing with a group of its existing shareholders.  The transactions included the issuance of
$2.5 million in senior secured convertible notes (“Senior I Notes”), the conversion of the outstanding Preferred A Shares into junior secured convertible notes
(“Junior Notes”) and the reacquisition by Gravis of a 10% working interest in the Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects in exchange for a 2.75%
overriding royalty interest on the same properties.

A summary of the features and terms of the financing are as follows, on a pre-consolidation basis:

 · Issuance of Senior I Notes for proceeds of $2.5 million, maturing on January 30, 2012 with an annual coupon rate of 8% cash or 12% in
additional Senior I Notes at the Company’s option until January 30, 2011 and at the holder’s option thereafter.  Senior I Notes are redeemable in
cash at any time or convertible into common shares at $0.50 per common share at the Company’s option if the underlying shares are freely
tradable and common shares trade at or above $2.50 per share for the previous 20 consecutive trading days and the daily average trading
volume has been in excess of $750,000 per day for the same period.  In the event of redemption before the end of the term, there will be a 5%
premium due on the investment amount. Note holders may elect to receive the redemption in common shares at the conversion price.  Senior I
Note holders received one warrant for each $0.05 principal amount of the Senior I Notes for 5,000,000 warrants (“Senior I Warrants”).  Senior I
Warrants are exercisable at $0.20 per share until July 29, 2013.

 · Conversion of 22,000 Series A Preferred Shares plus accumulated dividends of $301,069 into $2,501,069 of Junior Notes maturing on July
30, 2013 with an annual coupon rate of 5% cash or 7.5% in additional Junior Notes, at the Company’s option and at the holder’s option
thereafter.  Junior Notes are redeemable in cash at any time or convertible into common shares at $0.50 per common share at the Company’s
option provided: i) production from the Missouri Deerfield project is 15,000 barrels of oil in a 30 day period; ii) the common shares have traded
at or above $2.50 per share for the preceding 20 consecutive trading days; and iii) the daily average dollar trading volume has been in excess of
US $750,000 per day for the same 20 day period.

 · Extension of the expiry date on the outstanding option to acquire Series B Preferred Shares to May 24, 2011 (further extended to June 7, 2011).

 · Re-acquisition of a 10% working interest in the Company’s Missouri Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects from MP1 in exchange for a
2.75% gross overriding royalty interest on the projects, effective July 1, 2010, as noted above.
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 

In addition:

 · MP1 retains the option to acquire up to an additional 10% interest in future projects within the Deerfield Area, on a project by project basis, by
paying up to a US $300,000 equalization payment per project and thereafter its proportionate share of all future development and operating costs
in respect of such project, including a proportionate share of facility costs.

 · For a period which is the latter of either the Series A or B Preferred Shares (or the underlying investment rights to buy Series B Preferred Shares)
being outstanding or August 28, 2011, MP1 had the option to acquire up to a 20% proportionate interest in any of the Company’s properties
outside of the Deerfield Area by paying a proportionate 133% of the Company’s costs-to-date in respect of such property and the option to
participate with the Company in any future oil and gas property acquisitions for a proportionate 20% share of any such acquisition. This option
expired.

On September 21, 2010 the Company and its working interest partner farmed out 5,100 net acres in the Little Muddy Area of the Company’s
Kentucky project.

On December 28, 2010, January 31, 2011 and March 7, 2011, the Company issued a total of $4.6 million senior secured convertible notes (“Senior
II Notes”).

A summary of the features and terms of the Senior II Notes are as follows:

 · Issuance of Senior II Notes for proceeds of $4.6 million, maturing 18 months after closing, with an annual coupon rate of 8% cash or 12% in
additional Senior II Notes at the Company’s option for the first six months after closing and at the holder’s option thereafter.  Senior II Notes are
redeemable in cash at any time or convertible into common shares at $0.20 per common share at the Company’s option if the underlying shares
are freely tradable and common shares trade at or above $2.50 for the previous 20 consecutive trading days and the daily average trading
volume has been in excess of US $750,000 per day for the same period.  Senior II Note holders received one warrant for each $0.50 principal
amount of the Senior Notes for 9,200,000 warrants ("Senior II Warrants").  Senior II Warrants are exercisable at $0.25 per share for a period of
36 months after closing.

In the event the Company issues common shares or securities convertible into or exercisable for common shares at a price per share or conversion or
exercise price less than the conversion or exercise prices agreed to for each note, the conversion price of the notes and the exercise price of the warrants are
automatically reduced to lower prices.  The number of warrants outstanding will be increased such that the expected exercise proceeds remain unchanged.

On December 28, 2010, the conversion price of the Senior I Notes and Junior Notes was reduced from $0.50 to $0.20 per share and the exercise price
of the Senior I Warrants was reduced from $0.50 to $0.25 per share.

During the spring of 2011, the administration of the Company was moved to Houston, Texas.

As at April 30, 2011, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $1.4 million, recurring losses and net cash outflows from operating
activities and an accumulated deficit during the development stage of $135.5 million.

On September 7, 2011 the Alberta Securities Commission issued a cease trade order against Gravis for failing to file the Company's audited annual
consolidated financial statements and management's discussion and analysis, for the year ended April 30, 2011 (the "Alberta Cease Trade Order").

The Company is also an OTC reporting issuer under British Columbia Instrument 51-509 Issuers Quoted in the U.S.Over-the-Counter Markets
and as such has certain reporting obligations in British Columbia, Canada.  On September 8, 2011 the British Columbia Securities Commission issued a
similar cease trade order pertaining to the trading of the Company’s securities in British Columbia for the Company's failure to file its April 30, 2011 audited
annual consolidated financial statements, management's discussion and analysis and an annual information form for the year ended April 30, 2011 (the "BC
Cease Trade Order", and together with the Alberta Cease Trade Order, the "Cease Trade Orders").
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 

During October 2011, as a result of the Company’s financial position, cost factors and market conditions it suspended operations on its Missouri oil
and gas assets, its only producing property.

The Company has incurred significant expense in completing a work-over of virtually all of its production wells at both of its Missouri
projects.  Pumps were upgraded or replaced and tubing re-landed. Thermal and pressure data acquisition equipment was installed in certain new well test
patterns, and well logs were been run to identify the un-swept areas of the reservoir.  Chemical surfactant and seismic stimulation technologies have been tested
on the new pattern with varied results. However, due to the significant cost of steam injection, and the Company’s financial position, management elected to
suspend operations on its Missouri oil and gas assets in September 2011.

On June 4, 2012, the Cease Trading Orders were revoked.

B. Business Overview
 
Prior to November 2006, we were a technology company, whose business plan was to acquire the rights to market, sell and distribute a product line

of consumer electronic technology products in Canada.
 

Since November 1, 2006, the primary business activity of Company has been the acquisition, exploration and development of a number of heavy oil
properties in the United States. Its activities to date have included the analysis and evaluation of technical data, preparation of geological models, the
acquisition of mineral rights, exploration and development drilling, conceptual engineering, construction and operation of thermal demonstration projects, and
securing capital to fund related expenditures.

In December 2008, the Company reduced its staff and suspended all its capital projects, including operations at its two Missouri heavy oil projects,
pending a recovery in oil prices and obtaining financing.

During the spring and summer of 2009, to provide funding to re-start steam injection operations on its Deerfield Missouri acreage, the Company
closed a 10% working interest disposition in its Deerfield Missouri project area for proceeds of $2,000,000 and closed the sale of 22,000 Series A Preferred
Shares (“Preferred A Shares”) with a stated value of $100 each for proceeds of $2,200,000. Following closing of the transactions, Gravis re-started its
Deerfield, Missouri project and the initial oil production response to steam injection on both the Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects was positive.

On July 30, 2010, the Company closed a $2.5 million financing with a group of its existing shareholders. The transactions included the issuance of
$2.5 million in senior secured convertible notes (“Senior I Notes”), the conversion of the outstanding Preferred A Shares into junior secured convertible notes
(“Junior Notes”) and the reacquisition by Gravis of a 10% working interest in the Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects in exchange for a 2.75%
overriding royalty interest on the same properties.

On December 28, 2010, January 31, 2011 and March 7, 2011, the Company issued a total of $4.6 million senior secured convertible notes (“Senior
II Notes”).

During the spring of 2011, the administration of the Company was moved to Houston, Texas.

As at April 30, 2011, the Company has a working capital deficiency of $1.4 million, recurring losses and net cash outflows from operating activities
and an accumulated deficit during the development stage of $135.5 million.
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 

During the year ended April 30, 2011, the primary focus of the Company has been on two thermal demonstration projects on its Missouri property -
Marmaton River and Grassy Creek. These projects were primarily designed to provide additional information to support a future commercial decision. While
the Company is confident that the projects are commercially viable, Gravis requires significant financing dedicated to these projects before it could make a
decision to proceed commercially. The Missouri property is in the early stage of development and no assurance can be given that the Company will be able to
establish commercial reserves on this property or any of its properties; therefore, Gravis is considered to be a development stage company.

Exploration for commercial reserves of oil and gas is subject to a number of risk factors set forth in this MD&A and the Risk Factors section. Few
prospects that are explored are ultimately developed into producing oil and/or gas fields. As Gravis' Missouri property is its only producing property and is in
the early stage of development, the Company may not be able to establish commercial reserves on the two projects located on the property.

The Company has, since 2008, focused its financial and technical resources on its thermal heavy oil recovery projects in the Deerfield area of
Missouri, conducting steam injection and research operations in the pilot areas designated as Marmaton River and Grassy Creek. Project operating costs have
been significantly higher than predicted during this time due to the unexpected discontinuity of operations, steam injection rates below design, and sub-optimal
completion methods for wells drilled in 2008. Steam injection operations have been suspended repeatedly at both projects from December 2008 to September
2009 and again from June 2010 to September 2010 for Grassy Creek, and from June 2010 to March 2011 for Marmaton River due to financing constraints.
For a large portion of the operating time, steam rates were well below design levels also due to financing constraints. The interruption of operations resulted in a
significant loss of heat in the formation, oil production at higher than expected steam-to-oil ratio ("SOR") values, and increased costs per-barrel of production.
Lower than design steam rates increased the per-unit cost of production. Gravis did conduct research activities during these interruptions to determine how best
to optimize future commercial developments, however, these research activities, while critical to future success, increased operating costs.  The Company has
incurred significant expense in completing a work-over of virtually all of its production wells at both Marmaton River and Grassy Creek. Pumps were
upgraded or replaced and tubing relanded. Thermal and pressure data acquisition equipment has been installed, and well logs have been run to identify the un-
swept areas of the reservoir. Chemical surfactant and seismic stimulation technologies have also been tested with varied results. However, due to the significant
cost of steam injection and the Company's financial position, management elected to suspend operations on its Missouri oil and gas projects in September
2011.

The Company's operations thus far have led to the following conclusions with respect to the efficacy of future development activities with respect to
steam-flood projects:

Once initiated, steam flooding must be continuous. The Company believes that shut-in periods of several months reduce heat efficiency and increase
steam-to-oil ratios;

Observation wells must be drilled and instrumented throughout the projects to improve effectiveness of the control of steam injection to an individual
pattern; and

Well design must include cased-through and perforated completions to allow control of the vertical distribution of steam in the reservoir.

The Company estimates that additional financing of approximately $8.7 would be required to achieve economically viability of its current
projects.  Future production could reduce such funding requirements, however, there is no guarantee that the Company will achieve positive and sustainable
cash flow.
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 

In the event the Company is successful in obtaining additional financing, in the first two years after re-starting operations, the Company intends to
allocate funds as follows:

Project Goal Estimated Cost (millions)
  
Capital identified in the GLJ Missouri Property Report - Total Proved Reserves to
drill, complete and tie in new patterns of wells in both existing projects

 
 
 

$2.284
  
To re-complete existing well patterns in Marmaton River Phase II and Grassy
Creek Phase I

 
$0.45

  
To install observation wells one per existing pattern  

$0.125
  
To cover operating expenses through initial pattern heating or re-heating.  This
also allows for the time lag between production and oil sales receipts

 
 
 

$2.0
  
General and administrative expenses $2.4
  
Contingency of 20% $1.4
  
Total $8.659

We expect that our current capital and our other existing resources will be sufficient only to provide a limited amount of working capital, and the
revenues generated will not alone be sufficient to fund our operations or planned growth. We anticipate that we will require up to approximately $2 million for
our anticipated operations for the next twelve months, depending on revenues. In addition when our Senior Notes and Junior Notes come due the Company
currently lacks the resources to repay them.  While the Company plans on renegotiating the terms of the Senior Notes and Junior Notes there can be no
assurance that the Company will be successful and the Senior Note and Junior Note holders may demand repayment and or force their security interests
against our assets. We will require additional capital to continue to operate our business and to further expand our exploration and development programs. We
may be unable to obtain additional capital required. Furthermore, inability to maintain capital may damage our reputation and credibility with industry
participants. Our inability to raise additional funds when required may have a negative impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial
condition.

Operational and Project Review

The following table summarizes the costs incurred in oil and gas property acquisition, exploration, and development activities for our company for
the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

Cost  Missouri   Kentucky   Montana   Kansas   Texas   Other   Total 
Balance, April 30, 2010  $ 24,936,309  $ 3,215,682  $ 686,209  $ 94,613  $ -  $ 1,354,996  $ 30,287,809 
Additions   1,516,465   102,364   -   4,745   -   -   1,623,574 
Depletion   (720,740)   -   -   -   -   -   (720,740)
Impairment   (9,066,590)   (3,179,174)   (602,913)   -   -   -   (12,848,677)
Foreign currency translation   (301,444)   (38,872)   (8,296)   (1,144)   -   (16,380)   (366,136)
Balance, April 30, 2011  $ 16,364,000  $ 100,000  $ 75,000  $ 98,214  $ -  $ 1,338,616  $ 17,975,830 

 
 

 
 

21

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 20-F/A, June 21, 2012 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
 
 
Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 

 
Cost  Missouri   Kentucky   Montana   Kansas   Texas   Other   Total 
Balance, April 30, 2009  $ 22,462,582  $ 2,695,991  $ 1,273,963  $ 83,803  $ 251,460  $ 1,529,053  $ 28,296,852 
Additions   714,821   49,223   15,413   -   -   5,557   785,014 
Recoveries and transfers   38,311   -   -   (3,200)   (323)   (4,719)   30,069 
Disposition   (2,011,529)   -   -   -   -   (379,548)   (2,391,077)
Depletion   (95,815)   -   -   -   -   -   (95,815)
Impairment   -   -   (816,696)   -   (290,237)   (55,612)   (1,162,545)
Foreign currency translation   3,827,939   470,468   213,529   14,010   39,100   260,265   4,825,311 
Balance, April 30, 2010  $ 24,936,309  $ 3,215,682  $ 686,209  $ 94,613  $ -  $ 1,354,996  $ 30,287,809 
 
Cost  Missouri   Kentucky   Montana   Kansas   Texas   Other   Total 
Balance, April 30, 2008  $15,426,924  $ 43,241,600  $ 17,464,748  $ 3,912,739  $ 297,870  $ 1,567,335  $ 81,911,216 
Additions   9,842,427   1,729,644   1,351,879   289,679   578,319   916,508   14,708,456 
Impairment   -   (36,981,914)   (15,396,845)   (3,646,484)   (578,319)   (865,237)   (57,468,799)
Foreign currency translation   (2,806,769)   (5,293,339)   (2,145,819)   (472,131)   (46,410)   (89,553)   (10,854,021)
Balance, April 30, 2009  $22,462,582  $ 2,695,991  $ 1,273,963  $ 83,803  $ 251,460  $ 1,529,053  $ 28,296,852 

Missouri

The Company's Missouri lease holdings totaled 38,119 gross acres with 98.3 % operating interest. On separate pilot projects at Deerfield (being
Marmaton River and Grassy Creek), Gravis has built two 500 barrel of oil per day steam drive production facilities (Marmaton River and Grassy Creek)
comprised of 116 development production wells, 39 steam injection wells and 14 service and observation wells. Throughout the Deerfield area, the Company
has drilled 73 exploration/delineation wells with a 67% success rate.

Phases I and II of the Marmaton River steam drive project together occupy 20 acres of project land developed as a pre-commercial project, which
includes a steam generation and oil treating plant with a throughput capacity of 500 barrels of oil per day, 23 steam injection wells, 64 producing wells, and 6
service and observation wells. All Phase II wells have been tied in with steam injection initiated in 3 of 10 patterns. As at April 30, 2011, cumulative production
at Marmaton is 42,253 barrels of oil. However, operations were suspended in September 2011. When shut in, Phase I had produced approximately 96% of
the proved reserves assigned to it by the independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator, GLJ Petroleum Consultants ("GLJ"). Phase II, in which only 3 of 10
patterns had been started up, had produced approximately 2% of its assigned proved reserves.

The Grassy Creek steam drive project has a steam injection and production treating plant similar to Marmaton River with a design capacity of 500
barrels of oil per day. Phase I of the project consists of 46 production wells, 15 steam injection wells, and 6 service and observation wells occupying
approximately 20 acres of the project site. As at April 30, 2011, cumulative production at Grassy Creek to date was 26,406 barrels of oil. In April 2011, the
Company drilled, completed and equipped the first of several Phase II patterns utilizing improved technology and methods that leverage experiences gained
from operating Phase I. The pattern was put into operation in early May 2011. Temperature profiles increased as planned and early oil production indications
were positive. However, due to capital constraints since fiscal year-end, Gravis suspended operations at Grassy Creek in September 2011. When shut in,
Phase I had produced approximately 15% of the proved reserves assigned to it by GLJ. Phase II, in which only one small demonstration pattern had been
drilled up, had not produced a measurable amount of its assigned proved reserves.

Previous production operations at Marmaton River and Grassy Creek achieved encouraging initial oil production with combined month average rates
above 200 bbls per day of clean sales oil achieved in March and April of 2010 . Gravis would anticipate increased production potential as a result of additional
investment in technology. It is anticipated that both the Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects could develop 250 to 300 acres of their respective 320 acres
of leases over their 25 to 30 year project life.  Additional drilling phases on each of these projects would be necessary to reach the 500 barrel per day target oil
production rates.  It is further anticipated that a number of additional projects of similar design and size may be drilled and constructed across Gravis’
Missouri lease holdings.
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 

Gravis sold all of its oil production for a field gate price equivalent to 80% of the NYMEX posted price for West Texas Intermediate oil sales. Gravis
purchases natural gas to fuel its boilers for an "at the burner tip" price approximately equivalent to the NYMEX Henry Hub spot price for natural gas. Natural
gas is the largest input cost for the Company's operations; therefore the current ratio of oil to natural gas prices has a very positive impact on project
economics.

As at April 30, 2011, the Company performed a ceiling test calculation to assess the ceiling limitation of its properties in Missouri. The Company
determined that its capitalized costs for the proven and unproven Missouri land exceeded the ceiling limitation. As a result, the Company recorded an
impairment charge of $9,066,590 (2010 — $nil; 2009 — $nil) on the Missouri projects and now carries the value of the Missouri properties at the value of
proved plus probable reserves.

The Company has, since 2008, focused its financial and technical resources on its thermal heavy oil recovery projects in the Deerfield area,
conducting steam injection and research operations in the pilot areas designated as Marmaton River and Grassy Creek. Project operating costs have been
significantly higher than predicted during this time due to the unexpected discontinuity of operations, steam injection rates below design, and sub-optimal
completion methods for wells drilled in 2008. Steam injection operations have been suspended repeatedly at both projects from December 2008 to September
2009 and again from June 2010 to September 2010 for Grassy Creek, and from June 2010 to March 2011 for Marmaton River due to financing constraints.
For a large portion of the operating time, steam rates were well below design levels also due to financing constraints. The interruption of operations resulted in a
significant loss of heat in the formation, oil production at higher than expected steam-to-oil ratio ("SOR") values, and increased costs per-barrel of production.
Lower than design steam rates increased the per-unit cost of production. Gravis did conduct research activities during these interruptions to determine how best
to optimize future commercial developments, however, these research activities, while critical to future success, increased operating costs.

While Gravis believes that future uninterrupted commercial operations, taking advantage of what has been learned in the pilot operations could result
in economically viable production rates, the Company is uncertain of its ability to achieve these results for the following reasons:

 · SOR performance may not reach the full cycle range of 7:1 to 9:1 as expected which would in turn lead to operating costs higher than
forecast;

 · The Company has identified two critical project design improvements that will be included in future development. Those are the installation
of low-cost observation wells, and cased-through- reservoir well construction. These improvements are not expected to have a significant
impact on future development costs. However, Grassy Creek Phase I and Marmaton River Phase II projects must be retrofitted at a
combined cost of approximately $575,000;\

 · Grassy Creek Phase I has produced to date approximately 15% of its proved reserves estimate and has remaining recoverable reserves of
172 Mbbl. The initial time to warm the formation to full production capacity was estimated at 9 months, Grassy Creek Phase I may
require additional warming time of up to 3 months. That would result in increased cost to recover the remaining reserves of up to $1.50 per
bbl. for Grassy Creek Phase I;

 · Operating costs, as noted above, have been significantly higher than forecast during operation of the pilot projects, and while Gravis
expects full cycle operating costs to be in range of $29.00 per bbl to $32.00 as forecast, there can be no guarantee that operating costs will
not vary either lower or higher than forecast; and

 · In September, 2011, Gravis shut in all operations in Missouri, having been unable to secure sufficient funding on commercially acceptable
terms to follow through to commercially successful exploitation of its Missouri reserves, including funds to implement the planned
modifications to wells in Grassy Creek Phase I, and Marmaton River Phase II, for operating costs to bring the projects to full production
rates, for contingencies, and for Corporate purposes, Gravis will need secure financing of approximately $8.7 million in order to re-
commence operations in both Grassy Creek and Marmaton River projects.
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 
Kentucky

The Kentucky lease holdings include a 37.5 % working interest in 29,147 unproved gross acres (10,930 net acres). The Kentucky property is
mainly undeveloped land and therefore was not assigned any reserve value under either the SEC or Canadian prepared independent reserve reports

On September 21, 2010, the Company and its 62.5% working interest partner (together the " Farmor " ) signed a farm-out agreement for their interest
in 5,100 net acres in the Little Muddy Area of Butler County, Kentucky to a Houston-based independent exploration and production company (" Farmee ") .

On December 4, 2010, this farm-out agreement was expanded to cover the full 29,147 unproved gross acres. All acreage leased in Kentucky by the
Farmor and the Farmee in Butler, Warren, Edmonson and Muhlenberg counties was pooled and subject to the new agreement. During September 2011, the
Company reviewed the situation with the Farmee with its working interest partner. As a result of this review Gravis and its working interest partner agreed that
there was a lack of development activity by the Farmee and that they should seek a release from the agreement.

During the year ended April 30, 2011, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $3,179,174 (2010 — $nil; 2009 — $36,981,914) on the
Kentucky project as a result of the lack of development activity by the Farmee and the curtailment of Company plans to continue exploration on the project due
to a lack of available capital. As a result of these factors and to help raise capital for other purposes the Company is seeking to dispose of its interest in this
property. To date no offers have been received on the property and the amount that may be ultimately realized is unknown.

Montana

The Montana leases total 3,982 gross acres (2,019 net) divided amongst two prospects: Devils Basin and Teton. The leasehold in the Devils Basin
prospect totals 1,175 gross acres (881 net). Gravis currently owns a 75% working interest in this prospect. There are two active leases in the Teton Prospect
totaling 2,807 gross acres ( 1,137 net acres ). Gravis currently owns a 53.69% working interest in this prospect.

Trade seismic was purchased on the Devils Basin prospect to identify one or more prospective drill locations targeting light oil from the Heath Shale.
The Company has no near-term plans to proceed with the project.

During the year ended April 30, 2011 the Company recorded an impairment charge of $602,913 (2010 — $816,696, 2009 — $15,396,845) on
the Montana project. The impairment was recorded due to the expiry of leases and the continued curtailment of plans to continue exploration on the lands in the
near term because of the lack of capital available for this project. The remaining costs represent the Company's estimate of the fair value of the leases as
determined by sales in the area for long term leases with farmout potential and related seismic value.

Kansas

The Chetopa project is a pre-commercial heavy oil demonstration project located two miles south of Chetopa, Kansas. The project is currently
suspended, and includes certain oil and gas equipment and a 100% interest in one oil and gas lease covering 320 net acres. On April 2, 2012 , The Company
sold its interest in the Chetopa Project for cash consideration of $7,100 and for a royalty of $5.00 US per bbl. on future production with a royalty cap of $1
million.

Other

Other costs consist primarily of five used steam generators and related equipment that will be assigned to future projects.
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 
Principal Markets
 

The principal market that we compete in is the North American energy market, specifically the North American oil market.
 
Extraction Processes and Technology
 

Our business model is dependent on the use of thermal recovery technologies to recover previously uneconomic oil and gas reserves that have now
been made economically viable by increases in the price of oil and the development of new technologies in Canada. Our operational and head office is in
Calgary, Alberta, where we have access to technical experts in the recovery of heavy oil using various methods of primary and thermal heavy oil recovery,
including CSS, SAGD, steam drive, in situ combustion, ET-DSPÔ (a form of electro-thermal heating) and solvent processes.
 
Heavy Oil
 

North America's heavy oil and bitumen deposits are estimated to contain more than 3 trillion barrels of resource, rivaling the oil reserves of Saudi
Arabia. Crude oil is considered "heavy" if its American Petroleum Institute, or API, gravity is lower than 20 degrees and its viscosity is higher than 1,000
centipoise. Natural bitumens are even poorer raw materials, with API gravities lower than 10 degrees and viscosities greater than 10,000 centipoise. Heavy oil
and bitumen are highly viscous requiring heat or dilution to enable significant production and recovery of reserves.
 

Numerous large oil sands projects, both mining and in situ have been announced and are being actively pursued to exploit this resource. The well-
established North American heavy oil deposits offer world-class exploitation opportunities. We believe that the need for North American energy self-sufficiency
combined with the encouraging outlook for heavy oil demand, and easy access to refineries make this an ideal time for the re-optimization of non-conventional
heavy oil supplies.
 

Similar to other maturing resources, primary heavy oil production in the Canadian oil industry has peaked and is on decline. Encouraged by
favorable economic terms and long term leases, thermal recovery is rapidly increasing and now exceeds 240,000 bopd. In Western Canada, there are multiple
approved SAGD projects, six approved CSS projects and one approved in situ combustion project in the Province of Alberta. Projections on the future phased
developments of these projects indicate that thermal production could reach 1,500,000 bopd by 2013 if investment proceeds as planned. There is a significant
and well-established commercial enhanced recovery technology industry in Canada.
 

Large unconventional energy resources that are difficult to produce using today's conventional recovery methods are the focus of our company. These
resources represent the key to easing energy supply concerns in the near term and the future.
 
In Situ Resource Recovery
 

Although most heavy oil or bitumen in Canada is currently produced by open pit mining, about 80% of the oil sands are buried too deep below the
surface for this process to be applied. This oil must be recovered by in situ techniques, which heat or dilute the heavy oil, thereby lowering its viscosity and
allowing it to migrate towards producing wells, where it is brought to the surface. A technical review of our prospects will identify the most suitable technology
for each resource and may include proven technologies such as CSS, SAGD, steam drive, in situ combustion and CO2 injection or such emerging
technologies as ET-DSPÔ (a form of electro-thermal heating) or N-Solv (a solvent based technology).
 

We will be exploring synergistic technologies to improve capital efficiency, increase energy efficiency, reduce energy costs, reduce the requirement for
water and increase the profitability of in situ processes. Production from in situ processes may well replace mining as the main source of heavy oil production
from tar sands, contributing significantly to energy self-sufficiency in North America.
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 
C. Organizational Structure

We have one wholly-owned subsidiary MegaWest USA, which was incorporated in Nevada on January 9, 2007, and the following indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries that are directly owned by MegaWest USA:
 

Subsidiary
 

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation

 

Incorporation /
Acquisition Date

 
MegaWest Energy Kentucky Corp. (formerly Kentucky Reserves, LLC) Ohio

 
April 2, 2007

 
MegaWest Energy Missouri Corp. (formerly Deerfield Energy LLC)
 

Delaware
 

April 5, 2007
 

MegaWest Energy Kansas Corp. (formerly Deerfield Energy Kansas Corp.)
 

Delaware
 

April 5, 2007
 

MegaWest Energy Texas Corp. (formerly Trinity Sands Energy LLC)
 

Delaware
 

April 25, 2007
 

MegaWest Energy Montana Corp.
 

Delaware
 

October 19, 2007
 

D. Property, Plants and Equipment

The following table sets forth the number of oil wells in which we held a working interest as of April 30, 2011 and 2010.
 
 Producing Non-Producing
 April 30, 2011 April 30, 2010 April 30, 2011 April 30, 2010
 Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
Kansas     33 33.0 33 33.0
Missouri (1) 116 116 111 99.9 1 1 - -
Kentucky     5 1.9 5 1.9
Montana     - - - -
Texas     5 1.75 5 1.75
Total 116 116 111 99.9 44 37.65 43 36.65

(1)We drilled six production, one injection and two observation wells in the year ending April 30, 2011. These were drilled in the Grassy Creek Project in
Missouri. As well, we increased our working interest in all Missouri producing wells to 100% in the year ending April 30, 2011.
 
Project Areas
 

The following table sets forth the lease areas we have an interest in, by area, as of April 30, 2010 and 2009:
 
Project Areas  April 30, 2011   April 30, 2010  
  Gross   Net   Gross   Net  
Kansas (1)   385   385   385   385 
Missouri   38,119   37,470   38,119   36,598 
Kentucky (1)   29,147   10,930   29,147   10,930 
Texas (1)   19,938   9 ,969   29,516   11,751 
Montana (1)   3,982   2,019   15,688   8,673 
Total   91,571   60,773   112,855   68,337 
_____________
(1) We have discontinued our plans for any further expenditure on these properties as a result of poor drilling results in prior years and a lack of resources.

See Operational and Project Review above.
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 

Oil and natural gas information is provided in accordance with the United States Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Topic 932 -
“Extractive Activities - Oil and Gas”.

The Company retains qualified independent reserves evaluators to evaluate the Company’s proved oil reserves. The Company does not have any
natural gas reserves. For the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 the reports by GLJ Petroleum Consultants (“GLJ”) covered 100% of the Company’s
oil reserves.

Proved oil and natural gas reserves, as defined within the SEC Rule 4-10(a)(22) of Regulation S-X, are those quantities of oil and gas, which, by
analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from a given date forward from known
reservoirs, and under existing economic conditions, operating methods and government regulations prior to the time of which contracts providing the right to
operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, regardless of whether determinable or probabilistic methods are used for the
estimation. The project to extract the hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within a
reasonable time. Developed oil and natural gas reserves are reserves that can be expected to be recovered from existing wells with existing equipment and
operating methods or in which the cost of the required equipment is relatively minor compared to the cost of a new well; and through installed extraction
equipment and infrastructure operational at the time of the reserves estimate is the extraction is by means not involving a well. Estimates of the Company’s oil
reserves are subject to uncertainty and will change as additional information regarding producing fields and technology becomes available and as future
economic and operating conditions change.

The following table summarizes the Company’s proved developed and undeveloped reserves (all oil) within the United States, net of royalties, as at
April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009:
 
Oil (MBbls)  2011  2010  2009 
          
Proved reserves as at May 1   445   79   45 
Extensions and discoveries   46   -   43 
Dispositions   -   (3)   - 
Production   (28)   (32)   (9)
Revisions of prior estimates   -   401   - 
Total Proved reserves as at April 30   463   445   79 
             
Oil (MBbls)   2011   2010   2009 
             
Proved developed producing   191   191   - 
Non-producing   -   -   34 
Proved undeveloped   272   254   45 
Total Proved reserves as at April 30   463   445   79 

Capitalized Costs Related to Oil and Gas Assets  2011   2010   2009  
          
Proved properties  $ 10,474,051  $ 9,630,780  $ 2,958,979 
Unproved properties   105,123,129   104,692,582   107,996,621 
   115,597,180   114,323,362   110,955,600 
Less: accumulated impairment   (98,143,411)   (85,294,734)   (84,187,801)
Less: accumulated depletion   (816,555)   (95,815)   - 
  $ 16,637,214  $ 28,932,813  $ 26,767,799 
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Item 4.Information on the Company - continued
 
Costs incurred in Oil and Gas Activities:  2011   2010   2009  
          
Development  $ 1,623,574  $ 779,457  $ 13,131,400 
Exploration   -   -   - 
  $ 1,623,574  $ 779,457  $ 13,131,400 

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows From Proved Oil Reserves and Changes Therein:

The following standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows from proved oil reserves has been computed using the average first-day-of-
the-month price during the previous 12-month period, costs as at the balance sheet date and year-end statutory income tax rates. A discount factor of 10% has
been applied in determining the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows. The Company does not believe that the standardized measure of
discounted future net cash flows will be representative of actual future net cash flows and should not be considered to represent the fair value of the oil
properties. Actual net cash flows will differ from the presented estimated future net cash flows due to several factors including:
 
 • Future production will include production not only from proved properties, but may also include production from probable and

possible reserves;

 • Future production of oil and natural gas from proved properties may differ from reserves estimated;

 • Future production rates may vary from those estimated;

 • Future rather than average first-day-of-the-month prices during the previous 12-month period and costs as at the balance sheet date will
apply;

 • Economic factors such as changes to interest rates, income tax rates, regulatory and fiscal environments and operating conditions
cannot be determined with certainty;

 • Future estimated income taxes do not take into account the effects of future exploration expenditures; and

 • Future development and asset retirement obligations may differ from those estimated.

Future net revenues, development, production and restoration costs have been based upon the estimates referred to above. The following tables
summarize the Company’s future net cash flows relating to proved oil reserves based on the standardized measure as prescribed in FASB Topic 932 -
“Extractive Activities - Oil and Gas”:

Future cash flows relating to proved reserves:  2011   2010   2009  
          
Future cash inflows  $ 26,338,000  $ 26,291,000  $ 3,425,000 
Future operating costs   (9,686,000)   (10,672,000)   (2,004,000)
Future development costs   (3,345,000)   (3,488,000)   (889,000)
Future asset retirement costs   (141,000)   (139,000)   (60,000)
Future income taxes   -   -   - 
Future net cash flows   13,166,000   11,992,000   472,000 
10% discount factor   (3,225,000)   (3,286,000)   (139,000)
Standardized measure  $ 9,941,000  $ 8,706,000  $ 333,000 

Reconciliation of future cash flows relating to proved reserves:  2011   2010   2009  
Undiscounted value as at May 1  $ 11,992,000  $ 472,000  $ 256,000 
Extensions and discoveries   1,239,600   -   1,075,000 
Dispositions   -   (17,900)   - 
Production   (775,700)   (481,100)   (44,900)
Revisions of prior volume estimates   -   10,806,300   - 
Revisions of pricing   710,100   1,212,700   (814,100)
Undiscounted value as at April 30   13,166,000   11,992,000   472,000 
10% discount factor   (3,225,000)   (3,286,000)   (139,000)
Standardized measure  $ 9,941,000  $ 8,706,000  $ 333,000 
 
 
 

28

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 20-F/A, June 21, 2012 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 

Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects
 
A. Operating Results
 

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011, should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and related notes included elsewhere in this annual
report. The following discussion may contain forward-looking statements that reflect our current plans, estimates and beliefs and involve risks and
uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute
to such differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this annual report.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The Company’s accounting policies are described in Note 5 to the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2011. The
consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and other
disclosures in these financial statements.  Actual results may differ from those estimates due to factors such as fluctuations in interest rates, currency
exchange rates, inflation levels and commodity prices, changes in economic conditions and legislative and regulatory changes.

Significant estimates used in the preparation of these financial statements include estimates of oil and gas reserves and resources and the estimated
value of the unproved properties, fair value of the Preferred A Shares at the date of their exchange, derivative fair values, stock-based compensation fair values
and estimated cost and timing related to asset retirement obligations.

Certain fair value estimates are based on expected volatility of the Company’s share price.  In 2011, the Company used a volatility rate based on peer
entities rather than historical trading prices of its common shares as used in 2010 and prior years.  The volatility of peer entities is considered more
representative for the Company due to the dilutive impact of financings completed in 2011 and the limited trading of the Company’s shares on the OTC
Bulletin Board.

The preparation of the financial statements requires making estimates and judgments that affect our reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue
and expenses. On an ongoing basis the Company evaluates the estimates, including those related to acquisitions, status of oil and gas projects (proved or
unproved), asset impairment, tax valuation allowances, volatility and market value of our share price, the valuation of preferred shares and contingencies.
These estimates are based on information that is currently available to us and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could vary from those estimates under different assumptions and conditions.

The critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our  consolidated financial statements are described below.

Oil and Gas Operations

Gravis follows the full cost method to account for its oil and gas operations, whereby all costs of exploring for and developing oil and gas reserves are
capitalized and accumulated in country-by-country cost centers. These capitalized costs will be depleted using the unit-of-production method based on
estimates of proved reserves once the underlying property in considered proved. The costs related to unproved properties are not subject to depletion. Factors
used to make this assessment included commercial production levels on demonstration projects for an extended period of time and the existence of proved
reserves which are not yet considered commercially viable and which require additional capital to complete their ultimate development.
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Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects - continued
  

The capitalized costs in each unproved project are assessed to determine whether it is likely such costs will be recovered in the future. Costs which
are not likely to be recovered in the future are written-off. We assess the carrying amounts of our unproved oil and gas assets for impairment by assessing the
likelihood of recovering our costs through cash flow projections of future net proceeds.

Management prepared estimates of future net proceeds using internal and independent estimates of resource potential. The process of estimating
quantities of resource potential is inherently uncertain and complex. It requires significant judgments and decisions based on available geological, geophysical,
engineering and economic data. These estimates may change substantially as additional data from ongoing exploration activities becomes available and as
economic conditions impacting oil and gas prices and costs change. Our resource estimates are based on assumed exploration success, availability of future
capital to finance development, future production forecasts, prices and economic conditions. Additional assumptions and estimates used in the future net
proceeds calculations include:

 • estimates of production and recovery rates, which vary depending on the method of extraction used and the characteristics of the reservoir
and resource estimates;

 
 • estimates of operating costs, which vary with equipment and facility efficiency, inflation;
 
 • estimates of the proceeds of the disposal of oil and gas assets and
 
 • estimates of future capital costs, which vary with inflation, equipment and facility performance.

Significant changes in these factors could reduce our estimates of future net proceeds and accordingly could result in an impairment of our oil and
gas assets. Management will perform quarterly assessments of the carrying amounts of its oil and gas assets as additional data from ongoing exploration
activities becomes available.

As a result of these procedures, the Company recorded a $12,848,677 impairment charge on its properties during the year ended April 30, 2011
(2010 - $1,162,545; 2009 - $57,468,799).

Fair Value of the Company’s Common Shares, Options and Warrants and Derivatives

Gravis used valuation techniques that rely on unobservable inputs for its derivatives to estimate their fair values such as expected volatility rates
comparable to peer companies.

The fair value of options and warrants granted and the conversion feature of convertible notes were based on Black-Scholes and binomial pricing
models, which use the common share fair value on the grant date as an input.

PENDING ACCOUNTING CHANGES

The FASB has issued ASU No. 2010-13, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Effect of Denominating the Exercise Price of a Share-
Based Payment Award in the Currency of the Market in Which the Underlying Equity Security Trades. This ASU codifies the consensus reached in EITF
Issue No. 09-J, "Effect of Denominating the Exercise Price of a Share-Based Payment Award in the Currency of the Market in Which the Underlying Equity
Security Trades." The amendments to the Codification clarify that an employee share-based payment award with an exercise price denominated in the
currency of a market in which a substantial portion of the entity’s equity shares trades should not be considered to contain a condition that is not a market,
performance, or service condition. Therefore, an entity would not classify such an award as a liability if it otherwise qualifies as equity. This rule will not
have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. The Company has applied the principles from the update in its financial
reporting.
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Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects - continued
 

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2010-06, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820): Improving
Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements. The ASU amends Subtopic 820-10 with new disclosure requirements and clarification of existing disclosure
requirements. New disclosures required include the amount of significant transfers in and out of levels 1 and 2 fair value measurements and the reasons for
the transfers. In addition, the reconciliation for level 3 activity will be required on a gross rather than net basis. The ASU provides additional guidance related
to the level of disaggregation in determining classes of assets and liabilities and disclosures about inputs and valuation techniques. The amendments are
effective for annual or interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the requirement to provide the reconciliation for level 3 activities
on a gross basis, which will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010. The Company is currently assessing the impact of ASU 2010-6
and does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

The FASB has issued ASU 2011-05, Comprehensive Income: Presentation of Comprehensive Income, the requirements of which increase in the
prominence of other comprehensive income in financial statements. The Company is currently assessing the impact of ASU 2011-05 and does not expect
adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Results of Operations
 
Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2010

  Years ended April 30  
  2011   2010  
Revenue and other income       
Oil sales  $ 1,565,963  $ 1,575,150 
Interest income   16,213   6,073 
   1,582,176   1,581,223 
         
Expenses         
Operating   3,470,746   3,955,084 
Impairment of oil and gas assets   12,848,677   1,162,545 
General and administrative   3,307,060   3,193,449 
Depreciation, depletion and accretion   844,160   293,113 
Interest and accretion   1,512,443   - 
Foreign exchange loss (gain)   (86,959)   98,225 
Change in fair value of derivatives   9,395,435   829,166 
   31,291,562   9,531,582 
Net loss  $ (29,709,386)  $ (7,950,359)
Net loss per share  $ (2.22)  $ (0.60)

Weighted average number of shares - basic and diluted   13,387,166   13,325,545 

Oil sales

During the year ended April 30, 2011, the Company’s Missouri properties produced 26,549 barrels of oil at an average price (net of royalties) of
$59 per barrel as compared to 2010 production of 29,775 barrels at an average price (net of royalties) of $53 per barrel.

Production decreased due to 3 months of shut in for downhole repairs and then operations with restricted gas use to conserve operating funds.

Interest income

2011 interest income is mainly interest earned from July 2010 to April 2011 on the long-term receivable at U.S bank prime rate plus 3%. 2010 interest
income was earned on bank balances.

Operating expenses

During the year ended April 30, 2011, the Company incurred $3,470,746 ($131 per barrel) of operating costs compared to $3,955,084 ($133 per
barrel) in 2010.
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Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects - continued
 
Impairment of oil and gas assets

Impairment charges were recorded on the Missouri, Montana and Kentucky properties during the fourth quarter of the year ended April 30, 2011.
These impairments were recorded in the fourth quarter due to:

 • the lack of funds available to the Company at year-end and into fiscal 2012;
 

 • the limited progress in attracting additional funds from March 2011 until September 2011; and
 

 • the reduction in remaining lease term of a significant part of the acreage.

Management did not consider an impairment charge appropriate earlier in the fiscal year, as they expected to be able to attract funds that would enable
the Company to continue their activities, including development of the unproved properties.

This expectation was supported by the fact that investors provided $4 million in convertible loans to the Company in December 2010 and January,
February and July 2011 and the (anticipated) conversion of part of the convertible debt in March and April 2011.  Further impairment may be necessary in the
future.
 
General and administrative expenses

  Year ended April 30  
  2011   2010  
Stock-based compensation:       
 Stock options  $ 575,835  $ 500,293 
Compensation warrants   152,010   - 
Consulting warrants   166,810   - 
 Shares issued for services   -   7,638 
 Less: capitalized portion   (9,495)   (50,846)
   885,160   457,085 
Salaries and benefits   1,063,706   1,401,257 
Professional fees   1,104,290   460,101 
Investor relations   64,818   45,177 
Office and administrative   325,259   938,534 
Information technology   44,364   52,754 
Less: capitalized portion   (180,537)   (161,459)
   2,421,900   2,736,364 
  $ 3,307,060  $ 3,193,449 

The primary variances in general and administrative expenses for the 2011 periods as compared to the 2010 periods are as follows:

 • Stock-based compensation expense is higher in 2011 due to the granting of:
 
 • 500,000 stock options in January 2011 and 802,000 stock options in April 2011;
 
 • 480,000 compensation warrants in April 2011; and
 
 • 720,000 consulting warrants in July 2010 and 2,000,000 consulting warrants in December 2010;
 
 • Salaries and benefit costs increased in the fourth quarter of 2011 due to the hiring of a new president in January 2011. Annual salaries and

benefits costs are lower in 2011 due to reduced staffing levels for the majority of the year;
 
 • Professional fees, consisting of legal, audit, accounting and tax advisory fees, increased due to services related to financial reporting and

regulatory compliance and the Company’s dispute with its landlord (see Contingency and Contractual Obligation section);
 
 • Investor relations expenses increased in 2011 related to the Company’s efforts to raise investor awareness of the Company;
 
 • Office and administrative costs decreased due to management’s efforts to reduce costs, the closing of a field office in Missouri and no

Calgary office lease payments made since December 2009 (see Contingency and Contractual Obligation section); and
 
 • Information technology costs decreased in 2011 due to a reduction in the outsourcing of technology services.
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Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects - continued
 
Interest and accretion

Interest and accretion expense is related to the interest and accretion on the Junior and Senior notes.

Foreign exchange gain/loss

The 2011 net foreign exchange gain is comprised of gains on the translation of U.S. dollar denominated transactions and balances to Canadian
dollars in the first quarter, partially offset by losses on the translation of Canadian dollar denominated transactions and balances to U.S dollars in the second,
third and fourth quarters, both due to a weakening U.S. dollar.

The 2010 net foreign exchange loss is comprised of Canadian dollar foreign exchange losses on the translation of U.S. dollar denominated
transactions and balances to Canadian dollars.

Change in fair value of derivatives

The increase in the fair value of the following derivative liabilities is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations as change in fair value of
derivatives expense:

  
Preferred A

Warrants   
Preferred B

Option   
Conversion

feature derivative   
Senior

warrants   
Consulting

warrants   Total 
Balance, April 30, 2010  $ 740,269  $ 590,640  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 1,330,909 
Fair value on date of issue   -   -   1,883,200   1,808,070   166,810   3,858,080 
Conversion of Senior I Notes   -   -   (84,530)   -   -   (84,530)
Change in fair value   2,479,431   4,531,654   1,070,960   988,820   324,570   9,395,435 
Balance, April 30, 2011  $ 3,219,700  $ 5,122,294  $ 2,869,630  $ 2,796,890  $ 491,380  $ 14,499,894 

Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2009

  Years ended April 30  
  2010   2009  
Revenue and other income       
Oil sales  $ 1,575,150  $ - 
Interest income   6,073   135.190 
   1,581,223   135,190 
         
Expenses         
Operating   3,955,084   - 
Impairment of oil and gas assets   1,162,545   57,468,799 
General and administrative   3,193,449   4,046,550 
Depreciation, depletion and accretion   293,113   127,884 
Interest and accretion   -   12,479 
Foreign exchange loss (gain)   98,225   (1,573,251)
Change in fair value of derivatives   829,166   - 
   9,531,582   60,082,461 
Net loss  $ (7,950,359)  $ (59,947,271)
Net loss per share  $ (0.60)  $ (4.60)

Weighted average number of shares - basic and diluted   13,325,545   13,035,892 
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Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects - continued
 
Oil Sales and Operation Costs   

During fiscal 2010 the Company began commercial production on its Missouri property and as such began recording oil sales and operating costs.
Prior to the year ended April 30, 2010 any incidental oil sales and operating costs were capitalized see Operational and Project review section.

Impairment of Oil and Gas Assets

See Operational and Project Review section.
 
General and administrative expenses .

  Year ended April 30  
  2010   2009  
Stock-based compensation:       
 Stock options  $ 500,293  $ 784,887 
Compensation warrants   -     
Consulting warrants   -     
 Shares issued for services   7,638   222,533 
 Less: capitalized portion   (50,846)   (472,486)
   457,085   534,934 
Salaries and benefits   1,401,257   2,576,423 
Professional fees   460,101   439,370 
Investor relations   45,177   188,908 
Office and administrative   938,534   1,136,719 
Information technology   52,754   213,229 
Less: capitalized portion   (161,459)   (1,043,033)
   2,736,364   3,511,616 
  $ 3,193,449  $ 4,046,550 
 
 • Stock-based compensation expense of $457,085 was recorded for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010 (2009 - $534,934). The overall decrease

in stock-based compensation from 2010 to 2009 is primarily due to the vesting of certain options granted in prior years for which stock-based
compensation was recorded in 2009 but is no longer recognized in 2010.

 • Salary and benefit costs of $1,401,257 were recorded for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010 (2009 - $2,576,423). The decrease in salaries
and benefit costs in fiscal 2010 is due to a change in the mix of the employees with less senior staff in 2010 than in 2009.

 • Professional fees totaled $460,101 for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010 (2009 - $439,370), which consist of legal, audit, accounting and tax
advisory fees. The decrease in the professional fees in fiscal 2010 is primarily due to the reduced audit and tax consulting fees compared to fiscal
2009.

 • Investor relations expenses of $45,177 were incurred for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010 (2009 - $188,908) in an effort to raise investor
awareness. The decrease in investor relations costs for fiscal year 2010 is due to fewer investor relations consultants engaged during the period
compared to fiscal 2009.

 • Office and administrative costs totaled $938,534 for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010 (2009 - $1,136,719) and are primarily comprised of
office rent and supplies, license and maintenance costs, insurance, telephone and internet, travel and miscellaneous costs. The decrease is
primarily due to a decrease in lease payments in fiscal 2010 due to re-negotiated lease terms on the Calgary office combined with no lease
payments made for that office since December 2009 (See Item 8A. “Financial Information - Financial Statement and Other Information - Legal
Proceedings”) and the closing of a field office in Missouri.

 • Information technology costs totaled $52,754 for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010 (2009 - $213,229) and mainly consist of part-time
information technology consulting, software license and maintenance fees. The decrease in information and technology costs is due to fewer
information technology consultants engaged during fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009.
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Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects - continued
 
Foreign Exchange Gain (Loss) .

We recorded a foreign exchange loss of $98,225 for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010 compared to a foreign exchange gain of $1,573,251 for the
fiscal year ended April 30, 2009. Foreign exchange gain (loss) reflects the impact of changes in the U.S. dollar/Canadian dollar exchange rate on our U.S.
dollar denominated cash balances that we hold to pay costs associated with our U.S. dollar denominated projects. While the U.S. dollar depreciated against the
Canadian dollar during fiscal 2010, the Canadian dollar depreciated against the U.S. dollar during fiscal 2009.
 
Change in fair value of derivatives.

The increase in the fair value of the following derivative liabilities is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations as change in fair value of
derivatives expense:

  
Preferred A

Warrants   
Preferred B

Option   
Conversion feature

derivative   
Senior

warrants   
Consulting

warrants   Total 
Balance, April 30, 2009  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 
Fair value on date of issue   323,564   138,671   -   -   -   462,235 
Foreign currency translation   25,479   14,029   -   -   -   39,508 
Change in fair value   391,226   437,940   -   -   -   829,166 
Balance, April 30, 2010  $ 740,269  $ 590,640  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 1,330,909 

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

As at April 30, 2011, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $1,428,025 compared to a working capital deficiency of $209,701 at April
30, 2010.

During June 2011 the Company raised $1.76 million raised on the exercise of 17,600 Preferred B Options.  However, due to the significant capital
cost of steam injection, the volatility of oil prices, and the Company’s financial position, management elected to suspend operations on its Missouri oil and gas
assets in October 2011.

Gravis expects that its current capital and its other existing resources will be sufficient only to provide a limited amount of working capital. In
addition the Company lacks the resources to repay the Senior I Notes and the Junior Notes (as defined herein) as they have reached maturity, nor the Senior II
Notes as they become due . While the Company has not been notified of any intention on the part of the creditors to enforce their rights , there can be no
assurance that they will not demand repayment and force their security interests against the Company's assets. The Company will require additional capital to
continue to operate its business and to further expand its exploration and development programs. However, there can be no assurance that Gravis will be able to
obtain additional capital when required. Furthermore, the inability to secure capital on a timely basis may have a significantly negative impact on its future
consolidated results of operations, financial condition and its ability to continue as a going concern.

Investing Activities

During the year ended April 30, 2011, the Company incurred $1,623,574 of expenditures on oil and gas assets compared to $785,014 in 2010.

On July 30, 2010, the Company and Mega Partners 1, LLC entered into an arrangement whereby the Company acquired MP1’s 10% working
interest in the projects in exchange for a 2.75% gross overriding royalty interest effective July 1, 2010. Under this arrangement, the Company converted a
receivable related to joint venture capital and operating costs owing by MPI on its Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects in Mi ssouri to a promissory note
and the Company will recover the balance of the amount due from 50% of the gross overriding royalty payments to МР1 . During the time the long term
receivable is outstanding, the Company will receive interest on the outstanding b alance at the U.S. bank prime rate plus three percent (3%). As at April 30,
2011, the balance of the long term receivable was $294,862.
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Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects - continued
 
Financing Activities

On April 29, 2010, the Company secured a line of credit with a private lender for the sole purpose of buying natural gas to fuel the steam generators
on its Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects. The credit facility is available up to a maximum of $1.0 million at an interest rate of 2% per month
calculated on the average daily outstanding principal balance. As security, the Company signed a mortgage and a promissory note in the amount of $1.0
million granting security to the lender over certain Missouri properties. The credit agreement can be terminated by the Company upon 30 days’ notice. During
the first quarter, the Company drew $311,800 on the credit facility and repaid the amount in full in the second quarter.

The April 29, 2010 line of credit was terminated and the Company subsequently entered into a similar one on the same terms. In the third quarter,
the Company had drawn $74,900. The line of credit repaid in February 2011 and then terminated.

On July 30, 2010, the Company closed a $2.5 million financing with a group of its existing shareholders. The transactions included the issuance of
$2.5 million in senior secured convertible notes ("Senior I Notes"), the conversion of the outstanding Preferred A Shares into junior secured convertible notes
("Junior Notes") and the reacquisition by Gravis of a 10% working interest in the Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects in exchange for a 2.75%
overriding royalty interest on the same properties.

A summary of the features and terms of the financing are as follows, on a pre-consolidation basis:

 · Issuance of Senior I Notes for proceeds of $2.5 million, maturing on January 30, 2012 with an annual coupon rate of 8% cash or 12% in
additional Senior I Notes at the Company's option until January 30, 2011 and at the holder's option thereafter. Senior I Notes are redeemable
in cash at any time or convertible into common shares at US$0.50 per common share at the Company's option if the underlying shares are
freely tradable and common shares trade at or above $2.50 per share for the previous 20 consecutive trading days and the daily average
trading volume has been in excess of $750,000 per day for the same period. In the event of redemption before the end of the term, there will
be a 5% premium due on the investment amount. Note holders may elect to receive the redemption in common shares at the conversion
price. Senior I Note holders received one warrant for each $0.05 principal amount of the Senior I Notes for 5,000,000 warrants (" Senior I
Warrants"). Senior I Warrants are exercisable at $0.50 per share until July 29, 2013.

 · Conversion of 22,000 Preferred A Shares plus accumulated dividends of $301,069 into $2,501,069 of Junior Notes maturing on July 30,
2013 with an annual coupon rate of 5% cash or 7.5% in additional Junior Notes, at the Company's option and at the holder's option
thereafter. Junior notes are redeemable in cash at any time or convertible into common shares at $0.50 per common share at the Company's
option provided: i) production from the Missouri Deerfield project is 15,000 barrels of oil in a 30 day period; ii) the common shares have
traded at or above US $2.50 per share for the preceding 20 consecutive trading days; and iii) the daily average dollar trading volume has
been in excess of US $750,000 per day for the same 20 day period.

 · Extension of the expiry date on the outstanding option to acquire Series В Preferred Shares to May 24, 2011 (further extended to June 7,
2011).

 · Re-acquisition of a 10% working interest in the Company's Missouri Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects from MP1 in exchange for
a 2.75% gross overriding royalty interest on the projects, effective July 1, 2010, as noted above.
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Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects - continued
 

In addition:

 · MP1 retains the option to acquire up to an additional 10% interest in future projects within the Deerfield Area, on a project by project basis,
by paying up to a US $300,000 equalization payment per project and thereafter its proportionate share of all future development and
operating costs in respect of such project, including a proportionate share of facility costs.

 · For a period which is the latter of either the Series A o r В Preferred Shares (or the underlying investment rights to buy Series В Preferred
Shares) being outstanding or August 28, 2011, МР1 had the option to acquire up to a 20% proportionate interest in any of the Company's
properties outside of the Deerfield Area by paying a proportionate 133% of the Company's costs-to-date in respect of such property and the
option to participate with the Company in any future oil and gas property acquisitions for а proportionate 20% share of any such
acquisition. This option expired.

On September 21, 2010 the Company and its working interest partner farmed out 5,100 net acres in the Little Muddy Area of the Company's
Kentucky project.

On December 28, 2010, January 31, 2011 and March 7, 2011, the Company issued a total of $4.6 million senior secured convertible notes ("Senior
II Notes").

A summary of the features and terms of the Senior II Notes are as follows:

 · Issuance of Senior II Notes for proceeds of $4.6 million, maturing 18 months after closing, with an annual coupon rate of 8% cash or 12%
in additional Senior II Notes at the Company's option for the first six months after closing and at the holder's option thereafter.  Senior II
notes are redeemable in cash at any time or convertible into common shares at $0.20 per common share at the Company's option if the
underlying shares are freely tradable and common shares trade at or above $2.50 for the previous 20 consecutive trading days and the daily
average trading volume has been in excess of US $750,000 per day for the same period. Senior II Note holders received one warrant for each
$0.50 principal amount of the Senior Notes for 9,200,000 warrants (Senior II Warrants). Senior H Warrants are exercisable at $0.25 per
share for a period of 36 months after closing.

In the event the Company issues common shares or securities convertible into or exercisable for common shares at a price per share or conversion or
exercise price less than the conversion or exercise prices agreed to for each note, the conversion price of the notes and the exercise price of the warrants are
automatically reduced to lower prices. The number of warrants outstanding will be increased such that the expected exercise proceeds remain unchanged.

On December 28, 2010, the conversion price of the Senior I Notes and Junior Notes was reduced from $0.50 to $0.20 per share and the exercise price
of the Senior I Warrants was reduced from $0.50 to $0.25 per share.

During 2011, the Company issued 2,720,000 warrants to a consultant for professional services. The warrants are exercisable at $0.25 per common
share. These warrants expire three years from the date of issuance. As at April 30, 2011, these warrants have a weighted average life remaining of 2.6 years.

The Company's common shares trade in the United States  on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board exchange (" ОТС").
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Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects - continued
 

The number of outstanding shares and the number of shares that could be issued if all dilutive instruments are converted to shares is as follows:

As at September 30, 2011 (12) April 30, 2011 April 30, 2010
    
Common shares (1) 14,078,947 14,078,947 13,328,947
Preferred A Shares (2) – – 3,459,295
Preferred A Warrants (3) (11) 19,250,000 19,250,000 1,540,000
Preferred B Shares (4)  (11) 8,799,500 10,000,000 2,000,000
Preferred B Warrants (4) (11) 15,399,125 17,500,000 1,000,000
Senior I Notes (5) (11) 11,750,000 11,750,000 –
Senior I Warrants (5) (11) 12,500,000 12,500,000 –
Senior II Notes (6) (11) 23,000,000 23,000,000  
Senior II Warrants (6) (11) 9,200,000 9,200,000  
Junior Notes (2) (11) 12,505,340 12,505,340 –
Consulting Warrants (7) 2,720,000 2,720,000 –
Stock Options  (1)  (9) 1,404,300 1,404,300 1,069,800
Compensation Warrants (1)  (9) 480,000 480,000  
Accrued Senior I Notes (interest) (10)(11) 1,620,657 1,105,068 –
Accrued Senior II Notes (interest) (10)(11) 1,862,466 705,534  
Accrued Junior Notes (interest) (10)(11) 1,097,215 704,068 –
 135,667,550 136,903,257 22,398,042
Notes:
(1)           As at September 30, 2011, senior management and directors held an aggregate of 120,000 common shares, 250,000 Series B Preferred Shares,
250,000 Preferred B Warrants and 1,192,500 stock options.

(2)           On July 30, 2010, the Company converted 22,000 Series A Preferred Shares plus $301,069 of accumulated dividends to $2,501,069 of Junior
Notes.  The Junior Notes are redeemable in cash at any time at the Company’s option or convertible into common shares at $0.20 per common share at the
Company’s option under terms and conditions specified in the existing agreement for Series A Preferred Shares.

(3)           The Preferred A Warrants remain as issued on August 28, 2009. Each warrant allows the holder to purchase one common share at US $0.20 per
share for a period of five years from issuance.

(4)           Pursuant to the offering to investors, lead by the ICO Fund and in conjunction with the issuance of the Series A Preferred Shares, on August 28,
2009 Gravis granted to investors acquiring Series A Preferred  Shares,  options to purchase up to 20,000 Series B Preferred Shares, at a price of $100 per
Series B Preferred Share (the “Preferred B Options”).  The Preferred B Options became exercisable on November 25, 2009 and were valid until November 26,
2010 (extended to June 7, 2011).  On June 7, 2011, the Company issued 17,599 Series В Preferred Shares on the exercise of 17,599 Preferred В Options for
gross proceeds to the Company of $1,759,900.  Each Series B Preferred Share is convertible into common shares, at the option of the holder without payment
of additional consideration, such that the holder is entitled to 500 common shares per Series B Preferred Share so converted. After 12 months from the date of
issue, the Company can force the conversion of the Series В Preferred Shares provided certain conditions are met. The remaining 2,401 Preferred В Options
expired unexercised.
In conjunction with the exercise of the Preferred B Options, the Company issued to the investors acquiring Series B Preferred Shares 875  Preferred В
Warrants, for each Series B Preferred Share purchased for a total of 15,399,125 Preferred B Warrants in aggregate.  Each Preferred В Warrant allows the
warrant holder to purchase a common share at US $0.20 per share until June 7, 2016.

(5)           On July 30, 2010, the Company issued US $2,500,000 of Senior I Notes.  The Notes are redeemable in cash at any time at the Company’s option
or convertible into common shares at US $0.20 per common share at the Company’s option under terms and conditions specified in the agreement.

One Senior I Warrant has been issued to the holder for each $0.20 principal amount of the Senior I Notes for a total of 12,500,000 warrants exercisable at
$0.20 per share.
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Item 5.          Operating and Financial Review and Prospects - continued
  
(6)           In December 2010, January 2011 and March 2011, the Company issued US $4,600,000 of Senior II Notes.  The Notes are redeemable in cash at
any time at the Company’s option or convertible into common shares at US $0.20 per common share at the Company’s option under terms and conditions
specified in the agreement.

One warrant (“Senior II Warrant”) has been issued to the holder for each $0.50 principal amount of the Senior II Notes for a total of 23,000,000 warrants
exercisable at $0.25 per share.

(7)           The Company issued 720,000 warrants on July 30, 2010 and 2,000,000 warrants on December 28, 2010 as part of fee arrangements with an
independent consultant for professional services.  The warrants are exercisable at $0.25 per share.

(8)           During the year ended April 30, 2011, 1,302,000 options were granted, 213,500 options expired 304,000 options were forfeited and 450,000 options
were cancelled.

(9)           In January 2011, the Company granted 480,000 compensation warrants.

(10)           Interest accrued on the junior notes and the senior notes are payable in additional junior notes and senior notes.  As at April 30, 2011, $502,934
(September 30, 2011 – $916,068) of accrued interest is convertible at $0.20 per share.

(11)           As of September 30, 2011, the holders of the Senior I & II Notes and Junior Notes upon exercise or conversion of all dilutive derivative instruments
held by them, would hold a total of approximately 116,984,303 common shares or 86.2% of the fully diluted common shares of Gravis, and could have the
ability to control all matters submitted to Gravis' shareholders for approval (including the election and removal of directors and any merger, consolidation or
sale of all or substantially all of our Company's assets) and to control the Company's management and affairs.  Accordingly, this potential concentration of
ownership may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the Company, impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other
business combination involving the Company or discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the
Company, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the market price of Gravis’ shares.

C. Research and Development
 

We do not currently, and did not previously, have any research and development policies in place. Over the past three fiscal years, no funds were
expended by our company on research and development activities. 
 
D. Trend Information
 

We are an exploration stage company engaged principally in the acquisition, exploration and development of oil and gas properties in the United
States. As a result, our business is dependent on the worldwide prices of oil and gas. In the past, oil and gas prices have been volatile. Prices are subject to
wide fluctuations in response to changes in supply of, and demand for, oil and gas, market uncertainty, and a variety of additional factors that are beyond
our control.
  
E. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors. In
addition, we have no unconsolidated special purpose financing or partnership entities that are likely to create material contingent obligations.
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Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects - continued
 
F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations
 

The following table summarizes our minimum contractual obligations as of April 30, 2011.
 
Contractual Obligations  Payments due by period  
  Total   Less than 1 year   1-3 years   3-5 years   More than 5 years  
Lease payments (1)   -   -   -   -   - 
Total  $ -  $ -   -   -   - 
______________
 (1) We are in a dispute with our landlord over the termination of our office lease. We contend that the lease has terminated in accordance with its terms and

accordingly, we are of the opinion that no amounts are due under the office lease. See Item 8A. “Financial Information - Financial Statement and Other
Information - Legal Proceedings”

Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees

A. Directors, Senior Management and Employees
 

Set forth below are the name, age, principal position and a biographical description of each of our directors and executive officers:

Name and Age Position
Tim L. Morrison (38) Chief Executive Officer, Secretary and

Chairman of the Board of Directors
George Orr (i) (50) Director
M. Elden Schorn (i) (72) Director
Fred Zeidman (i) (65) Director
Jeffrey Freedman (64) Chief Financial Officer
Pat McCarron (60) Vice President Operations
E. Wayne Sampson (60) Vice President Land

(i) Member of the Audit Committee

Tim Morrison
 

Mr. Morrison was named President and Chief Executive Officer of Gravis Oil (formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.) on January 4, 2011, Secretary on
March 10, 2011 and a director on April 29, 2011. Prior to joining Gravis Oil, he served as Chief Operating Officer of Cox Operating LLC and Cox Oil LLC,
a Dallas-based oil and gas production company. Mr. Morrison played a key role in the $100 million dollar cleanup and rebuild of Cox's Oil and Gas properties
in South Louisiana following Hurricane Katrina in 2005. Earlier in his career, Mr. Morrison spent five years with Halliburton Energy Services, where he
served as District Manager of the San Juan and Raton Basin oil fields. He has strong operational experience with both onshore and offshore facilities, and has
technical expertise in stimulation, sand control, completion tools, reservoir modeling, and production analysis. He holds a B.S. degree in Chemical
Engineering from Texas Tech University. Mr. Morrison currently serves as a director for the Louisiana Oil & Gas Association.

George Orr
 

Mr. Orr has served as a director since December 2006. From December 2006 to October 2008 and again from February 14, 2011 to June 30, 2011
Mr. Orr served as our Chief Financial Officer . Mr. Orr is a Chartered Accountant and has several years experience dealing with public company reporting and
administrative requirements. Mr. Orr provides advisory services to a number of other reporting issuers and private companies.
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees - continued
 
Elden Schorn
 
Mr. Schorn has served as a director since April 2011.  Mr. Schorn has substantial experience in business-government relations, developed through executive
positions with trade organizations representing Canadian manufacturers and the Canadian government. He previously served as Vice President of the British
Columbia Region for the Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters Association, which is one of Canada's leading business networks. Earlier in his career, Mr.
Schorn served as Consul and Senior Investment Advisor for the Canadian Consulate in New York City. Mr. Schorn received his undergraduate degree from
the University of British Columbia and did additional course work at the University of Alberta.  Mr. Schorn currently serves as a director for Smart Cool
Systems and One World Financial Corp. both listed on the TSX. He also serves as a director for Mantra Venture Group and Global Green Solutions Inc. listed
on the OTCBB.

Fred S. Zeidman
 

Mr. Zeidman has served as a director since November 2009.  Mr. Zeidman, Chairman Emeritus of the United States Holocaust Memorial Council,
was appointed by President George W. Bush in March 2002 and served in that position from 2002 - 2010. A prominent Houston based business and civic
leader, Mr. Zeidman also serves as Chairman of the University of Texas Health Science System Houston and is on the Board of Trustees of the Texas Heart
Institute and the Institute for Rehabilitation and Research (TIRR). He further serves on the Board of Directors and Executive Committee of The University of
Saint Thomas and chairs its Audit and Finance Committee.  Mr. Zeidman also serves on the Board of Hyperdynamics Corp.  He was formerly Chairman of
the Board of SulphCo Inc., Chief Restructuring Officer of Transmeridian Exploration, Inc. and Bankruptcy Trustee of AremisSoft Corp. He has previously
served as Chairman of the Board of Seitel Inc., Interim President of Nova Bio Fuels, Inc. and Senior Director Governmental Affairs Ogilvy Government
Relations in Washington, DC. Mr. Zeidman also serves on the Board of Prosperity Bank in Houston.

Jeffrey Freedman
 

Mr. Freedman has been our Chief Financial Officer since July 2011. Between March 2011 and June 2011, Mr. Freedman served as a director of
Global Investor Services, Inc., a publicly traded investor marketing company. Between 2009 and 2011, Mr. Freedman served as Vice President of Corporate
Development for SulphCo Inc., a publicly traded crude oil field technology oil service company. Mr Freedman also served as a founding shareholder of Allis-
Chalmers Energy Inc., serving on that company's Board of Directors from 2002 to April 2007. Earlier in his career, Mr. Freedman served as Managing
Director for Oilfield Services and Equipment for Prudential Securities and Smith Barney. He holds a B.A. degree in Finance from Babson College and an
M.B.A. from the Stern School of Business at New York University.

Pat McCarron
 

Mr. McCarron has served as our Vice President Operations since June 2008. Mr. McCarron has extensive experience in operations with over 25 years
of experience with gas processing, SAGD and conventional oil operations. Specifically, Mr. McCarron has experience dealing with construction,
commissioning and start-up of new facilities, production operations supervision, and management of environment, health and safety programs. Mr.
McCarron holds a Power Engineers Certificate and has completed an Environmental Management program at the University of Calgary. Mr. McCarron served
as the Operations Team Leader for Gulf Canada's Surmont SAGD pilot project from November 1996 to April 1998, and served as the Manager of Health
and Safety for Harvest Energy Trust from February 2006 to August 2008.
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees - continued
 
Wayne Sampson
 

Mr. Sampson has served as our Vice President Land since January 2007.  Mr. Sampson studied Petroleum Land Management at Mount Royal
College and Business Administration at the University of Tulsa.  He has over 35 years of land management experience, primarily in small to intermediate
exploration and development companies in Canada and the United States.  Over the past 25 years, Mr. Sampson has held numerous senior management and
executive positions in both countries.  Prior to joining our company, Mr. Sampson has held positions ranging from VP Land and Legal at Fall-Line Exploration
in Denver (1983-1986); he served as an independent land consultant in Denver and Calgary (1987-1993); he served as Land Manager at CS Resources in
Calgary (1994-1997), VP Land & Accounting at Van Horne Oil & Gas in Calgary (1998), VP Land at Petrovera Resources in Calgary (1999-2004) and
Land Manager at Viking Trust/Harvest Trust in Calgary(2004-20007).  Mr. Sampson is a Professional Landman (Canadian Association of Petroleum
Landmen) and a member of American Association of Professional Landmen.

There are no family relationships between any of the directors or executive officers of our company. There are no arrangements or understandings
between any of our directors and/or executive officers and any other person pursuant to which that director and/or executive officer was selected.
 
B. Compensation

The following table sets forth a summary of all compensation paid during the years ending April 30, 2011, 2010, and 2009 by the following
executive officers: (i) those who acted as the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer; and (ii) executive officers whose total salary and
bonus exceeded $150,000 (the "Named Executive Officers").

Name and Principal
Position

Fiscal Year
Ended  April

30
Salary

($)

Share-
Based

Awards
($)

Option-Based
Awards
($) (1)(11)

Non-Equity Incentive Plan
Compensation

Pension
Value

($)

All Other
Compen-

sation
($)

Total
Compen-

sation
($)

Annual Incentive Plans
($)

Long-Term
Incentive

Plans
($)

Tim Morrison
CEO, Secretary and
Director

2011
2010
2009

61,359
NA
NA

-
-
-

128,560(10)

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

189,919
-
-

George Orr
Director (4)

2011
2010
2009

NA
NA

56,965

-
-
-

72,818 (9)

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

72,818
-

56,965
Pat McCarron
Vice President,
Operations

2011
2010
2009

185,040
185,040
138,780

-
-
-

35,618(9)

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-

$100,000

185,040
185,040
238,780

E. Wayne Sampson (5)

Former Vice President,
Land

2011
2010
2009

176,500
176,496
176,496

-
-
-

28,494(9)

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

204,994
176,496
176,496

Kelly Sledz(6)

Former Vice President,
Finance

2011
2010
2009

NA
100,832
110,550

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
100,832
110,550

George T. Stapleton, II
Former Chief Executive
Officer and Director (7)

2011
2010
2009

NA
189,231
236,899

-
-
-

72,818(9)

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

72,818
189,231
236,899

Kelly D. Kerr (8)

Former VP
Finance  and CFO

2011
2010
2009

108,281
100,832

-

-
-
-

-
38,940

-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

108,281
139,772

-

R. William Thornton
Former President, Chief
Executive Officer and
Director

2011
2010
2009

49,359
250,080
250,000

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

49,359
250,080
250,000

Notes:
(1) "Options" includes all options, share purchase warrants and rights granted by our company as compensation for employment services or

office.  Pursuant to the common share consolidation on June 20, 2011 all Options are shown on a consolidated basis.
(2) "SAR" or "stock appreciation right" means a right granted by our company, as compensation for employment services or office, to receive cash or an

issue or transfer of securities based wholly or in part on changes in the trading price of our company's publicly traded securities.
(3) "LTIP" or "long term incentive plan" means a plan that provides compensation intended to motivate performance over a period greater than one fiscal

year, but does not include Option or SAR plans or plans for compensation through shares or units that are subject to restrictions on resale.
(4) Mr. Orr was our Chief Financial Officer from December 21, 2006 to October 27, 2008, and from February 14, 2011 to June 30, 2011.  Mr. Orr’s

personal company was paid CND $22,400 for his services during the year ended April 30, 2011.
(5) Mr. Sampson resigned from our Company effective May 31, 2011.
(6) Mr. Sledz resigned from our company effective January 23, 2009.
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees - continued
 
(7) Mr. Stapleton resigned as CEO on January 4, 2011 and as a director on April 29, 2011.
(8) Mr. Kerr joined our company on October 14, 2009 and resigned November 30, 2010.
(9) These Options were issued on April 5, 2011 at $0.50 and expire April 5, 2014.  In conjunction with the issuance of these Options, Mr. Orr forfeited

30,000 previously issued Options at $1.50, Mr. Stapleton forfeited 30,000 previously issued Options, Mr. McCarron forfeited 90,000 previously
issued Options at $1.50 and Mr. Sampson 90,000 previously issued Options at $1.50.  At the time of issuance Mr. Stapleton was not an officer.

(10) Mr. Morrison options are at $0.50 and expire as to 500,000 on January 1, 2015 and 100,000 on April 5, 2014.  Mr. Morrison resigned from his
position on January 23, 2012.

(11) Based on the grant date fair value of the applicable awards. The fair value of the options granted is obtained by multiplying the number of options
granted by their value established according to the Black, Scholes pricing model. This value is the same as the fair value established in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.  The following assumptions were used for options granted in 2011: expected volatility – 130%; risk-
free rate – 1.41%; forfeiture rate – 15%; expected life – 3.4 years; dividend yield – 0%.  The following assumptions were used for options granted in
2010: expected volatility – 214%; risk-free rate – 2.57%; forfeiture rate – 10%; expected life – 3 years; dividend yield – 0%.

Retirement Benefits
 

We do not have in place any pension or actuarial plan to provide pension, retirement or similar benefits and no funds were set aside or accrued by
our company or our subsidiaries during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011 to provide pension, retirement or similar benefits.
 
Employment Agreements
 

We entered into an executive employment agreement with Pat McCarron, under which we agreed to employ Mr. McCarron as Vice President
Operations as of July 16, 2008. Pursuant to the agreement, Mr. McCarron receives an annual salary of $185,040 and bonuses as may be determined by the
board. Upon execution of the agreement, we paid Mr. McCarron a $100,000 signing bonus. Mr. McCarron is entitled to coverage under our Directors and
Officers Liability Insurance and Errors and Omission Insurance (with a minimum cover of at least $2,000,000 per occurrence). If Mr. McCarron's
employment is terminated for just cause or by Mr. McCarron without constructive dismissal, we will pay Mr. McCarron the amount of his unpaid annual
salary to and including the date of termination, any declared but unpaid bonus and all outstanding vacation pay and expense reimbursements. If Mr.
McCarron's employment is terminated by us without just cause or by Mr. McCarron for constructive dismissal, then in addition to the foregoing amounts,
Mr. McCarron will receive a severance payment in the amount of one year's annual salary plus $10,000 in respect of lost benefits less applicable withholdings
and deductions and all stock options held by Mr. McCarron will automatically vest. Additionally, in the event of a change of control, we and/or Mr. McCarron
may terminate Mr. McCarron's employment, in which event we will pay Mr. McCarron the termination payments set out above.

A change of control is defined in the agreement as the occurrence of any of: (a) the purchase or acquisition of shares of our common stock (or
securities convertible thereto or carrying the right to acquire our common stock) as a result of which a person or group of persons, acting jointly or in concert,
beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over shares of our common stock that would have the right to cast more than 50% of the votes attached to all
our common stock; or (b) approval by our shareholders of: (i) an amalgamation, arrangement or combination of our company with another entity pursuant to
which our shareholders immediately before such combination do not own securities of the successor or continuing entity which would entitle them to cast more
than 50% of the votes attaching to all of our common stock immediately thereafter; (ii) a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of our company; (iii) the sale,
lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of our company; (iv) the election at a meeting of our shareholders of a number of directors, who
were not included in the slate for election as directors approved by our prior board of directors, and who would represent a majority of our board of directors,
or (v) the appointment of a number of directors which would represent a majority of our board of directors and which were nominated by any holder of our
voting shares or by any group of holders of our voting shares acting jointly or in concert and not approved by our prior board of directors.

The Company does not have any formal employment agreement with Messrs. Morrison or Freedman.
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees - continued
 
Director Compensation
 

No cash compensation was paid to any of our directors for services as a director during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011.  Our company has no
formal arrangement pursuant to which directors are compensated by us for their services in their capacity as directors, except for the granting from time to time
of incentive stock options.  Directors are entitled to reimbursement for reasonable travel and other out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with
attendance at meetings of our board.  Our board of directors may award special remuneration to any director undertaking any special services on our behalf,
other than services ordinarily required of a director.  No director received and/or accrued any compensation for his services as a director, including committee
participation and/or special assignments for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011.

The following table provides information concerning compensation paid to the non-executive current and former directors for the fiscal year ended
April 30, 2011.

Name Fees Earned ($)
Share-Based
Awards ($)

Option-Based
Awards (#)(1)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan

Compensation ($)
Pension Value

($)
All Other

Compensation ($) Total ($)
Brian J. Evans Nil Nil 80,00(2) Nil Nil Nil Nil
Fred Zeidman Nil Nil 150,000(2) Nil Nil Nil Nil
Neil McCrank Nil Nil 80,000(2) Nil Nil Nil Nil
Elden Schorn Nil Nil 100,000(2) Nil Nil Nil Nil

Notes:
1) "Options" includes all options, share purchase warrants and rights granted by our company as compensation for employment services or

office.  Pursuant to the common share consolidation on June 20, 2011 all Options are shown on a consolidated basis.
2) These options have an exercise price of $0.50 and expire on April 5, 2014.  In conjunction with the issuance of these Options Mr. Evans forfeited

80,000 previously issued options, Mr. Zeidman forfeited 50,000 previously issued options and Mr. McCrank forfeited 80,000 previously issued
options

The following table sets forth information with respect to the outstanding Options granted to the non-executive current and former directors for the
fiscal year ended April 30, 2011.

 Option-Based Awards Share-Based Awards

Name

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Options
(#) (1)

Option exercise
Price
(US$)

Option Expiration
Date

Value of
Unexercised In-the-

Money Options
($)(2)

Number of Shares
or Units of Share

that Have Not
Vested

(#)

Market or Payout
Value of Share-
Based Awards
That Have Not

Vested
($)

Brian Evans 80,000 0.50 April 5, 2014 4,000 - -

Fred Zeidman 150,000 0.50 April 5, 2014 7,500 - -

Neil McCrank 80,000 0.50 April 5, 2014 4,000 - -

Elden Schorn 100,000 0.50 April 5, 2014 5,000 - -

Notes:
1) "Options" includes all options, share purchase warrants and rights granted by our company as compensation for employment services or

office.  Pursuant to the common share consolidation on June 20, 2011 all Options are shown on a consolidated basis
2) "in-the-money Options" means the excess of the closing price of our common shares on April 30, 2011 over the exercise price of the options.  Our

company’s shares trade on the Over-the-Counter-Bulletin Board in the United States.  The closing price of our common shares on April 29, 2011
(last trade day) was as US$0.55 per share
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees - continued
 
C. Board Practices
 
Board of Directors
 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Alberta), at each annual general meeting of our shareholders all of our directors retire
and the shareholders appoint a new board of directors. Each director holds office until our next annual general meeting unless: (i) he dies or resigns; (ii) he is
removed by ordinary resolution of our shareholders (or class or series of shareholders if such class or series has the exclusive right to elect one or more
directors); or (iii) the director becomes disqualified to hold officer, as provided under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta). A director appointed or elected
to fill a vacancy on our board holds office for the unexpired term of his predecessor (generally, until our next annual general meeting).
 

We are required to ensure that our articles and by-laws authorize a board of directors consisting of seven directors. Furthermore, in the event that any
Series B preferred shares are issued, then the holders of such shares will have the right to nominate a director to our board as long as Series B preferred shares
remain issued and outstanding.
 
Committees of the Board of Directors
 

Our board of directors has established the committees described below.

Audit Committee
 

The terms under which the audit committee operates are set out in the Audit Committee Charter, which provides that the audit committee will, among
other things:  (i) review and report to our board of directors our financial statements and MD&A and the auditor's report, if any, prepared in relation to those
financial statements, before they are published; (ii) review our annual and interim earnings press releases we publicly disclose this information; satisfy itself
that adequate procedures are in place for the review of our public disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from our financial statements and
periodically assess the adequacy of those procedures; (iii) recommend to our board of directors the external auditor to be nominated for the purpose of
preparing or issuing an auditor's report or performing other audit, review or attest services to our company, and the compensation of the external auditor; (iv)
oversee the work of the external auditor engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor's report or performing other audit, review or attest services
for our company, including the resolution of disagreements between management and the external auditor regarding financial reporting; (v) monitor, evaluate
and report to our board of directors on the integrity of the financial reporting process and the system of internal controls that management and the board of
directors have established; (vi) monitor the management of the principal risks that could impact the financial reporting of our company; (vii) establish
procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by our company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing
matters, and the confidential, anonymous submission by our employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters; (viii) pre-approve
all non-audit services to be provided to our company or its subsidiary entities by our company's external auditor; and (ix) review and approve our company's
hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and employees of the present and former external auditor of our company.

The members of our company's audit committee are George Orr (Chairman), Fred Zeidman and Elden Schorn.  Mr. Zeidman and Mr. Schorn are
considered to be independent members.   Mr. Orr is not considered to be independent owing to being the former interim CFO of the Company.   The test we use
to determine the independence of our directors is that set out in the Canadian Securities Regulators' Multilateral Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees ("MI
52-110").   The instrument provides that a member of an audit committee is independent if the member has no direct or indirect material relationship with
Gravis (namely, a relationship which could, in the view of Gravis' board of directors, reasonably interfere with the exercise of a member's independent
judgment ).
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Item 6.          Directors, Senior Management and Employees - continued
  

Each of the members of the Audit Committee is financially literate as such term is defined in MI 52-110.  Mr. Orr is a chartered accountant under the
rules of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia and has acted as the Chief Financial Officer of numerous TSXV and OTCBB listed
companies.  Mr. Zeidman is a member of audit committee of Hyperdynamics Corp. a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange and was the Chief
Restructuring Officer of Transmeridian Exploration, Inc. and Bankruptcy Trustee of AremisSoft Corp.  Mr. Zeidman also holds a Masters of Business
Administration from New York University.  Mr. Schorn was the Canadian government's representative with respect to New York Financial Institutions. Prior
thereto he was the Director General of Western Diversification Canada and was the operations manager for the Western Diversification fund making
investments in Western Canadian Business ventures. In that capacity he was the head of assessment on all projects in British Columbia. Mr. Schorn is
presently on the audit committee of the TSX listed technology company, Smartcool Systems.

Compensation Committee
 

Our compensation committee discharges our board of directors’ responsibilities relating to compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and our
company's other executive officers, including the Chairman of the Board, President, Principal Financial Officer, Principal Accounting Officer (or Controller)
and Vice President in charge of a principal business unit, division or function such as sales, administration or finance, any other officer who performs a
policy-making function, or any other person who performs similar significant policy-making functions for our company (collectively, the Executive
Officers).  The Committee has overall responsibility for approving and evaluating all compensation plans, policies and programs of our company as they
affect the Executive Officers.  Prior to October 29, 2007, our corporate governance and human resources committee oversaw our company's compensation
matters.  Currently, the responsibilities of the compensation committee are performed by the board as a whole.

Corporate Governance and Human Resources Committee
 

The function of the corporate governance and human resources committee is to assist our board of directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities,
primarily through: (i) overseeing the management of programs, including, but not limited to: (A) our company's compensation program, including, but not
limited to: benefits program, employee salary and bonus program, stock option program and group savings plan, and (B) corporate policy and procedure
process and controls; and (ii) providing an avenue of communication for internal operations.  Currently, the responsibilities of the corporate governance and
human resources committee are performed by the board as a whole.

Nominating Committee
 

Our nominating committee operates and is responsible for: (i) identifying and recommending to our board of directors individuals qualified to be
nominated for election to the board; (ii) recommending to our board the members and chairman for each board committee; (iii) overseeing the annual self-
evaluation of the performance of the board and the annual evaluation of our company's management; and (iv) establishing a process for nominating and
evaluating new members of our board of directors. Our nominating committee operates under a Charter adopted by our board of directors. Currently, the
responsibilities of the nominating committee are performed by our board of directors as a whole.
 
Reserves Committee
 

Our reserves committee is responsible for overseeing the engagement of independent reserve engineers and assists our board of directors with its
regulatory reporting obligations of reserves. Currently, the responsibilities of the reserves committee are performed by our board of directors as a whole.
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees - continued
 
Director Service Contracts
 

There are no arrangements or understandings between us and any of our subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any of our directors, on the other hand,
providing for benefits upon termination of their employment or service as directors of our company or any of our subsidiaries.

D. Employees

As of April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 we and our subsidiaries employed the following full-time equivalent persons:
 
 2011 2010 2009
Directors - Canada 2 3 4
Directors - USA 2 2 1
Senior Management - Canada 2 3 4
Senior Management - USA 1 1 0
Managers & Supervisors - Canada 2 2 2
Managers & Supervisors - USA 2 2 2
Office Staff - Canada 0 1 3
Office Staff - USA 0 1 1
Field Staff - USA 13 11 2
Total Employees 24 26 19

E. Share Ownership
 
Beneficial Ownership of Executive Officers and Directors
 

The following table sets forth certain information as of October 31, 2011 regarding the beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares by each of our
directors and executive officers
 

Name
Office Held

Common Shares
Options and Dilutive Securities

Exercisable for Common Shares(1)

Number Beneficially
Owned(2) Percentage of Class(3)

Number Beneficially
Owned

(unexercised)
Exercise

Price
Expiration

Date
Tim Morrison
CEO, Secretary and
Director

- -
500,000
100,000

US$0.50
US$0.50

January 1, 2015
April 5, 2015

George Orr
Director 95,000 * 230,000 US$0.50 April 5, 2015

Elden Schorn
Director - - - - -

Fred Zeidman
Director - - - - -

Jeffrey Freedman
CFO 500,000 (4) 3.6% - - -

Pat McCarron
Vice President, Operations 25,000 * 112,500 US$0.50 April 5, 2015
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees - continued
____________
* Less than 1%.
(1) Includes vested and unvested stock options granted under our Canadian equity incentive plan and our U.S. equity incentive plan.
(2) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and generally includes voting or

investment power with respect to securities. Common shares relating to options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of the date of the
above table are deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of the person holding such securities but are not deemed outstanding for computing
the percentage of any other person. Except as indicated by footnote, and subject to community property laws where applicable, the persons named in
the table above have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned by them.

(3) The percentages shown are based on 14,078,947 common shares issued and outstanding as of October 31, 2011.
(4) Includes 250,000 common shares issuable upon conversion of 500 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and 250,000 common shares issuable upon

exercise of common stock purchase warrants.
 
Stock Options and Equity Incentive Plans
 

On June 5, 2008, our board of directors adopted two new equity incentive plans, the Canadian equity incentive plan and the U.S. equity incentive
plan. The Canadian equity incentive plan replaces and supersedes our former Canadian stock option plan, and the U.S. equity incentive plan replaces and
supersedes our former U.S. stock option plan. The total number of our common shares that may be awarded under the Canadian equity incentive plan and the
U.S. equity incentive plan together cannot exceed 10% of the total number of our common shares issued and outstanding from time to time. Each of our equity
and stock option plans are described below.
 

The purpose of our equity and stock option plans are to provide us with a share-related mechanism to attract, retain and motivate qualified directors,
officers, consultants and employees, to reward those persons from time to time for their contributions toward our long-term goals, and to enable and encourage
such persons to acquire our common shares as long-term investments.

Canadian Equity Incentive Plan
 

The Canadian equity incentive plan was adopted by our board of directors and became effective on June 5, 2008. The material terms of the
Canadian plan are: (i) the plan administrator is appointed by the board of directors; (ii) the term of the plan is indefinite; (iii) awards eligible to be awarded
under the plan include stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units, performance awards and other stock based awards; (iv) options are
subject to adjustment in the event of s subdivision or consolidation of our common shares, an amalgamation, or other corporate event affecting our common
shares; and (v) the board of directors determines the date of grant, the number of shares subject to option grants, the exercise price per share, the vesting period
and option term. The minimum exercise price of any option granted under the plan is the weighted average price of our common shares on the principal stock
exchange on which our common shares trade for the five trading days prior to and including the date of grant.
 
Canadian Stock Option Plan
 

We adopted the Canadian Stock Option Plan for Canadian resident directors, senior officers, employees and consultants on August 24, 2004. The
plan provides that stock options granted under the plan vest in the manner determined by the administrator appointed under the plan on the date of the grant.
The price at which a stock option may be exercised is determined by our board of directors at the time of the grant. The plan also provides that we may not
grant stock options to any person or that person's associates that will in aggregate, when exercised, exceed in any 12 month period 5% of our issued and
outstanding common shares.
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees - continued

 
As of February 19, 2007 and August 9, 2007, our Canadian stock option plan was amended and restated as follows: (i) to provide that the total

number of common shares that may be issued upon the exercise of stock options issued under the plan plus the total number of common shares that may be
issued upon the exercise of stock options issued under a stock option plan, dated January 5, 2007, for United States based employees cannot exceed 20% of
the total number of common shares issued and outstanding from time to time; (ii) to set out the circumstances under which the number and class of shares
issuable upon the exercise of a stock option will be adjusted; (iii) to allow for the immediate vesting of all unexpired and unvested stock options in the event of
a change of control of our company and for the acceleration of the vesting of stock options at the discretion of the administrator appointed under the plan; (iv)
to set out how the exercise price of a stock option may be paid and specifically to provide for a (cashless) net exercise option; (v) to provide that our obligation
to issue shares upon the exercise of a stock option is dependant upon certain factors, including the compliance of the shares with any applicable laws; (vi) to
provide an option holder is responsible for the payment of any withholding taxes in respect of the exercise of a stock option; (vii) to set out the discretion of our
board of directors in respect of various matters concerning the interpretation of the plan and the granting and exercise of stock options and, specifically, the
discretion to extend the expiry date of the stock options and to determine the price per share at which a stock option may be exercised; and (viii) to correct
minor typographical and grammatical errors and inconsistencies in the text of the plan. The Canadian stock option plan was replaced by the Canadian equity
incentive plan on June 5, 2008.
 
U.S. Equity Incentive Plan
 

The U.S. equity incentive plan was adopted by our board of directors and became effective on June 5, 2008. The material terms of the plan are: (i)
the plan administrator is appointed by the board of directors except that the board of directors may, in its discretion, establish a committee composed of two or
more members of the board or two or more other persons to administer the plan; (ii) the term of the plan is 10 years; (iii) awards eligible to be awarded under
the plan include stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units, performance awards and other stock based awards; (iv) options are subject to
adjustment in the event of s subdivision or consolidation of our common shares, an amalgamation, or other corporate event affecting our common shares; and
(v) the board determines the date of grant, the number of shares subject to option grants, the exercise price per share, the vesting period and option term. The
minimum exercise price of any option granted under the plan is the weighted average price of our common shares on the principal stock exchange on which our
common shares trade for the five trading days prior to and including the date of grant.
 
U.S. Stock Option Plan
 

As of January 5, 2007, our board of directors adopted a stock option plan for U.S. resident directors, senior officers, employees and consultants.
The material terms of the plan were: (i) the number of common shares reserved for issuance under the plan was 20% of the issued and outstanding common
shares from time to time less the number of stock options granted under our Canadian stock option plan; (ii) the plan was administered by our board of
directors, except that the board of directors may, in its discretion, establish a committee composed of two or more members of the board or two or more other
persons to administer the plan; (iii) incentive stock options (stock options which qualify under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (United
States) may be granted to any individual who, at the time the option is granted, is resident in the U.S. and who is an employee of our company or any related
corporation; (iv) non-qualified stock options (stock options that do not qualify under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986) may be granted to
employees and to such other persons who are not employees as the plan administrator shall select, subject to any applicable laws; (v) the plan provides that,
generally, the number of shares subject to each stock option, the exercise price, the expiry time, the extent to which such stock option is exercisable and other
terms and conditions relating to such stock options will be determined by the board of directors of our company or any committee to which such authority is
delegated by the board from time to time; (vi) the term of the stock options granted under the plan will not exceed ten years from the date of grant, provided that
the term of the stock options will be reduced upon the death of an option holder or if an option holder ceases to be employed by or hold office with our
company; (vii) the vesting of stock options granted under the plan will be in 25% increments, beginning one year from the date of the grant, provided that the
plan allows for the immediate vesting of all unexpired and unvested stock options in the event of a change of control of our company and for the acceleration of
the vesting of stock options at the discretion of the administrator appointed under the plan; (viii) the exercise price of the stock options will be determined by
the plan administrator in compliance with applicable laws, including the rules of an applicable stock exchange or national market system; and (ix) the plan
will terminate when all of the stock options, available for grant thereunder, have been granted or when the plan is otherwise terminated by our company
(provided that any stock options outstanding when the plan is terminated will remain in effect until they are exercised or expire). The U.S. stock option plan
was replaced by the U.S. equity incentive plan on June 5, 2008.
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees - continued
 

On June 5, 2008, our board of directors amended and restated the Canadian and U.S. Stock Option Plans to allow the issuance under such plans of
other equity instruments, including stock appreciation rights. The amended incentive plans specify that the number of common shares reserved for issuance
under the plans is 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares.

The following table sets forth information with respect to the outstanding Options granted to the Named Executive Officers as of April 30, 2011.

 Option-Based Awards Share-Based Awards

Name

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Options
(#) (1)

Option exercise
Price
(US$)

Option Expiration
Date

Value of
Unexercised In-the-

Money Options
($)(2)

Number of Shares
or Units of Share

that Have Not
Vested

(#)

Market or Payout
Value of Share-
Based Awards
That Have Not

Vested
($)

Tim Morrison 500,000 0.50 Jan. 1, 2015 25,000 - -

Tim Morrison 100,000 0.50 April 5, 2015 5,000 - -

George Orr
Director (4)

230,000 0.50 April 5, 2014 11,500 - -

Pat McCarron 112,500 0.50 April 5, 2014 5,625 - -

Wayne Sampson 90,000 0.50 April 5, 2014 4,500 - -

George Stapleton, II 230,000 0.50 April 5, 2014 11,500 - -

Kelly D. Kerr - - - - - -

R. William Thornton - - - - - -

Notes:
(1) "Options" includes all options, share purchase warrants and rights granted by our company as compensation for employment services or

office.  Pursuant to the common share consolidation on June 20, 2011 all Options are shown on a consolidated basis
(2) "in-the-money Options" means the excess of the closing price of our common shares on April 30, 2011 over the exercise price of the options.  Our

company’s shares trade on the Over-the-Counter-Bulletin Board in the United States.  The closing price of our common shares on April 29, 2011
(last trade day) was as US$0.55 per share.
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees - continued
 

The following table summarizes changes in our stock options during the 2011, 2010 and 2009 fiscal years:
 
  Number of   Weighted Avg.  
  Options   Exercise Price  
Outstanding, April 30, 2008   965,000  $ 8.10 

Granted   647,300   2.70 
Forfeited   (410,100)   (5.30)
Cancelled   (454,350)   (8.90)

Outstanding, April 30, 2009   747,850  $ 4.10 
Granted   413,200   1.40 
Forfeited   (91,250)   (4.90)

Outstanding, April 30, 2010   1,069,800  $ 3.00 
Granted   1,302,000   0.50 
Expired   (213,500)   (4.90)
Forfeited   (304,000)   (2.50)
Cancelled   (450,000)   (2.80)

Outstanding, April 30, 2011   1,404,300  $ 0.60 

On November 4, 2008, the Company cancelled 454,350 outstanding stock options held by employees and consultants that had a weighted average
exercise price of $8.90 per share and reissued 409,350 new stock options to the employees with an exercise price of $1.50 per share The modification resulted
in an incremental fair value of $180,760 to be expensed over the modified vesting period whereby 25% of the options vest six months from the grant date and
25% of the options vest on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date.

During fiscal 2010, the Company granted 413,200 stock options to certain employees, consultants and directors with a three-year term at exercise
prices ranging from $1.00 to $1.80 per share. These options vest 25% six months from the grant date and 25% on each of the first, second and third
anniversaries of the grant date.

On January 1, 2011, the Company granted 500,000 stock options exercisable at $0.50 per share. These options vest in three equal tranches on the
first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date and expire on January 1, 2015.

On April 5, 2011, the Company granted 802,000 stock options exercisable at $0.50 per share of which 772,500 options vest immediately and
29,500 options vest in three equal tranches on the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date. These options expire on April 5, 2014.

In April 2011, the Company granted 480,000 warrants to certain officers and directors as recognition of past service contributions for which the
$152,010 estimated fair value was recognized on the date of issuance. The warrants are exercisable at $0.50 per share until April 5, 2014
 

The following table summarizes information regarding the options outstanding under our stock option and equity incentive plans as of April 30,
2011:

   Options Outstanding   Options Exercisable  

Exercise Price   Options 
Weighted Avg.

Remaining Life  
Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price  Options  

Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price 

$ 0.50    1,302,000 3.2 years  $ 0.50   772,500  $ 0.50 
$ 1.50    97,150 1.0 years  $ 1.50   75,050  $ 1.50 
$ 1.80    5,000 2.7 years  $ 1.80   2,500  $ 1.80 
$ 6.20    150 1.2 years  $ 6.20   150  $ 6.20 
     1,404,300 3.1 years  $ 0.60   850,200  $ 0.60 
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Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions

A. Major Shareholders
 

As of October 31, 2011, there are no persons known to us to be the beneficial owners of more than 5% of the issued and outstanding shares of our
common stock.

B. Related Party Transactions

All related party transactions were in the normal course of operations and measured at fair value, which is the amount agreed upon by the transacting
parties. In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Company had the following related party transaction:
 

During the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company paid $104,406 (Cdn$105,727), $95,919 (Cdn$102,851) and $107,748
(Cdn$116,416), respectively, in professional fees to a law firm, where the former Corporate Secretary of the Company is a partner. As at April 30, 2011,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities included $522 (2010 - $34,454; 2009 - $2,992) due to the law firm.

C. Interests of experts and counsel.
 

Not required.

Item 8. Financial Information

A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information.

Item 8A.1 See Item 17.
 
Item 8A.2 See Item 17.
 
Item 8A.3 See Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, page F-2.
 
Item 8A.4 We have complied with this requirement.
 
Item 8A.5 Not applicable.
 
Item 8A.6 Not applicable.
 
Item 8A.7 Legal Proceedings.

Legal Proceedings
 

Except as noted below, there are no legal actions either in process or pending and the we are not aware of any contemplated, legal, governmental or
arbitration proceedings, including those related to bankruptcy, receivership or those involving a third party which have, or may have, significant effects on
our financial position or profitability.
 
(a)           In January 2010, the Company experienced a flood in its office premises as a result of a broken water pipe. There was significant damage to the
premises rendering them unusable until remediation had been completed by the landlord. Pursuant to the lease contract, the Company has asserted that rent
should be abated during the remediation process and accordingly, the Company has not paid rent since December 2009. During the remediation process, the
Company engaged an independent environmental testing company to test for air quality and for the existence of other potentially hazardous conditions. The
testing revealed the existence of potentially hazardous mould and the consultant provided specific written instructions for the effective remediation of the
premises. During the remediation process, the landlord did not follow the consultant’s instructions and correct the potentially hazardous mould situation and
subsequently in June 2010 gave notice and declared the premises to be ready for occupancy. The Company re-engaged the consultant to re-test the premises and
the testing results again revealed the presence of potentially hazardous mould. The Company has determined that the premises are not fit for re-occupancy and
considers the landlord to be in default of the lease and the lease terminated.
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Item 8. Financial Information - continued
 

The landlord disputes the Company’s position and has given notice that it considers the Company to be in default of the lease for failure to re-occupy
the premises.

In addition, the landlord has claimed that the Company owes monthly rent for the premises from January 2010 to June 30, 2010 in the amount of
$247,348 (Cdn$234,098) and has claimed that, as a result of the alleged default, pursuant to the terms of the lease, the Company owes three months
accelerated rent in the amount of $114,837 (Cdn$108,685). The landlord has also asserted that the Company would be liable for an amount up to the full
lease obligation of $1,596,329 (Cdn$1,510,816) which otherwise would have been due as follows:

Year Ended April 30    
2011  $ 473,055 
2012   473,055 
2013   473,055 
2014   177,164 
Thereafter   - 
Total  $ 1,596,329 

To date, no legal action has been commenced by the landlord and the cost, if any, to the Company is not determinable. Accordingly, no amounts
related to rent or the disputed lease obligation have been recorded in the financial statements.

(b)           Gravis is a reporting issuer in Alberta, Canada and as such has certain reporting obligations. On September 7, 2011 the Alberta Securities
Commission issued a cease trade order against Gravis for failing to file its audited annual consolidated financial statements as well its annual management's
discussion and analysis for the year ended April 30, 2011, in accordance with the timelines permitted under applicable securities laws. On September 8, 2011
the British Columbia Securities Commission also issued a cease trade order against Gravis for the same reasons. In addition, as the Company is an OTC
reporting issuer under British Columbia Instrument 51-509 Issuers Quoted in the U.S. Over-the-Counter Markets , the British Columbia cease trade order
also requires Gravis to file its annual information form for the year ended April 30, 2011 (the "AIF").

The Company filed its audited annual consolidated financial statements, annual management's discussion and analysis, and AIF for the year ended
April 30, 2011 in October 2011, however, during the process of seeking the revocation of the cease trade orders, the Company determined that certain
revisions would be required to its April 30, 2011 audited annual consolidated financial statements, as well as its annual management's discussion and
analysis, the AIF and its Form 51-101 F1 Statement of Reserves and Other Oil and Gas Information ("51-101F1"). This revised MD&A (and the
concurrently filed AIF and NI 51-101F1) includes expanded disclosure, discussion and analysis on the Company's operations during the year-ended April 30,
2011 and events subsequent thereto. The revisions required of the April 30, 2011 audited consolidated financial statements were not of a material nature.

On June 4, 2012, the cease trading orders were lifted by the Alberta Securities Commission and the British Columbia Securities Commission.

Item 8A.8 Dividend Policy.
 
Dividend Distribution Policy
 

We have never paid cash dividends to our common shareholders. We intend to retain future earnings, if any, for use in the operation and expansion
of our business and do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Holders of our common shares are entitled to receive such dividends as
may be declared from time to time by our board, in its discretion, out of funds legally available for that purpose.
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Item 8. Financial Information - continued
 
B. Significant Changes

Except as described in this annual report, since the date of the annual financial statements included in this annual report, no significant changes
have occurred.

Item 9. The Offer and Listing
 
A. Offer and Listing Details
 

Our common shares are quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board since March 28, 2005, initially under the symbol "BCKOF" until March 5, 2007, then
"MGWSF" until June 17, 2011 and are now traded under the symbol “GRAVF”. Our common shares were previously listed on the Canadian Venture
Exchange (now the TSX Venture Exchange) from August 27, 2001 to June 16, 2004.
 

The annual high and low market prices for our common shares on the OTC Bulletin Board for the five most recent full fiscal years are as follows:
 

Fiscal Year Ended
OTC Bulletin Board

High Low
April 30, 2011 US$1.40 US$0.14
April 30, 2010 US$1.30 US$1.00
April 30, 2009 US$7.10 US$0.10
April 30, 2008 US$27.50 US$4.00
April 30, 2007 US$27.50 US$5.00

The high and low market prices for our common shares for each full financial quarter for the two most recent full fiscal years and any subsequent
period on the OTC Bulletin Board were as follows:
 

Quarter Ended
OTC Bulletin Board

High Low
October 31, 2011 US$0.20 US$0.05

July 31, 2011 US$0.60 US$0.07
April 30, 2011 US$0.77 US$0.28

January 31, 2011 US$0.45 US$0.14
October 31, 2010 US$0.50 US$0.20

July 31, 2010 US$0.80 US$0.80
April 30, 2010 US$1.30 US$1.00

January 31, 2010 US$1.80 US$1.50
October 31, 2009 US$0.90 US$0.80

July 31, 2009 US$0.40 US$0.30

The high and low market prices of our common shares for each of the most recent six months on the OTC Bulletin Board were as follows:
 

Month Ended
OTC Bulletin Board

High Low
October 30, 2011 US$0.14 US$0.05

September 30, 2011 US$0.14 US$0.06
August 31, 2011 US$0.20 US$0.12

July 31, 2011 US$0.35 US$0.10
June 30, 2011 US$0.50 US$0.07
May 31, 2011 US$0.60 US$0.42
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Item 9. The Offer and Listing - continued
 
B. Plan of Distribution
 

Not applicable.
 
C. Markets
 

Our common shares are quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol "GRAVF".
 
D. Selling Shareholders
 

Not applicable.
 
E. Dilution
 

Not applicable.
 
 
F. Expenses of the Issue
 

Not applicable.

Item 10. Additional Information
 
A. Share Capital
 

Not applicable.
 
B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

Our company was incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada on February 8, 2000. At a meeting of the shareholders
of our company on October 29, 2007, the shareholders approved the continuance of our company from the Province of British Columbia into the Province of
Alberta under the Alberta Business Corporations Act. Effective February 12, 2008, our company continued into the Province of Alberta under the Alberta
Business Corporations Act and we ceased to be a company organized under the British Columbia Business Corporations Act.
 
Objects and Purposes
 

Neither our articles nor by-laws contain a description of our objects and purposes.
 
Directors
 

Neither our articles nor by-laws restrict: (i) a director's power to vote on a proposal, arrangement or contract in which the director is materially
interested; or (ii) our directors' power, in the absence of an independent quorum, to vote compensation to themselves or any members of their body. Our by-
laws provide that our directors may, without shareholder approval, borrow money upon the credit of our company, issue and sell bonds or debentures and
provide guarantees. Neither our articles nor by-laws set out a mandatory retirement age for our directors. Our directors are not required to own securities of our
company in order to serve as directors.
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 
Authorized Capital
 

Our articles provide that our authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares, without par value, and 100,000,000 shares of
preferred stock, without par value. Our preferred stock may be issued in one or more series and our directors may fix the number of shares which is to
comprise each series and the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to each series.

Rights, Preferences and Restrictions
 

Pursuant to our articles, holders of our common shares are entitled to vote at all meetings of shareholders, except meetings at which only holders of a
specified class of shares are entitled to vote, receive any dividend declared by our board of directors and, subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and
conditions attaching to any other class of shares, receive the remaining property of our company upon dissolution.
 

Shares of our preferred stock of each series rank on a parity with our shares of preference stock of any other series and are entitled to a preference
over common shares with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets or return of capital in the event of liquidation, dissolution or
winding-up of our company. Shares of our preferred stock do not have voting rights.
 

The provisions in our articles attaching to our common shares and our preference stock may be altered, amended, repealed, suspended or changed
by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds of the outstanding common shares and two-thirds of the shares of preferred stock, as
applicable.
 

With the exception of special resolutions (i.e. resolutions in respect of fundamental changes to our company, including: the sale of all or substantially
all of our assets, a merger or other arrangement or an alteration to our authorized capital) that require the approval of holders of two-thirds of the outstanding
common shares entitled to vote at a meeting, either in person or by proxy, resolutions to approve matters brought before a meeting of our shareholders require
approval by a simple majority of the votes cast by shareholders entitled to vote at a meeting, either in person or by proxy.
 
Shareholder Meetings
 

The Business Corporations Act (Alberta) provides that: (i) meetings of shareholders must be held in Alberta, unless otherwise provided in a
company's by-laws; (ii) directors must call an annual general of shareholders not later than 15 months after the last preceding annual general; (iii) for the
purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive notice of or vote at meetings of shareholders, the directors may fix in advance a date as the record date
for that determination, provided that such date shall not precede by more than 50 days or by less than 21 days the date on which the meeting is to be held; (iv)
the holders of not less than 5% of the issued shares entitled to vote at a meeting may requisition the directors to call a meeting of shareholders for the purposes
stated in the requisition; (v) only shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting, our directors and our auditor are entitled to be present at a meeting of
shareholders; and (vi) upon the application of a director or shareholder entitled to vote at the meeting, the Court of Queens Bench of Alberta may order a
meeting to be called, held and conducted in a manner that the Court directs.
 

Pursuant to our by-laws, the quorum for the transaction of business at a meeting of our shareholders is two shareholder who are present, in person or
by proxy, that in the aggregate hold at least 5% of the issued and outstanding shares entitled to be voted at the meeting.

Limitations on Rights of Non-Canadians
 

Except as provided in the Investment Canada Act, there are no limitations specific to the rights of non-Canadians to hold or vote our common shares
under the laws of Canada or Alberta, or in our charter documents. The following summarizes the principal features of the Investment Canada Act for non-
Canadian residents proposing to acquire our common shares.
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 
The Investment Canada Act governs the acquisition of Canadian businesses by non-Canadians. Under the Investment Canada Act, non-Canadian

persons or entities acquiring “control” (as defined in the Investment Canada Act) of a corporation carrying on business in Canada are required to either notify,
or file an application for review with, Industry Canada. Industry Canada may review any transaction which results in the direct or indirect acquisition of
control of a Canadian business, where the gross value of corporate assets exceeds certain threshold levels (which are higher for investors from members of the
World Trade Organization, including United States residents, or World Trade Organization member-controlled companies) or where the activity of the
business is related to Canada’s cultural heritage or national identity. No change of voting control will be deemed to have occurred, for purposes of the
Investment Canada Act, if less than one-third of the voting control of a Canadian corporation is acquired by an investor.

If an investment is reviewable under the Investment Canada Act, an application for review in the form prescribed is normally required to be filed with
Industry Canada prior to the investment taking place, and the investment may not be implemented until the review has been completed and the Minister
responsible for the Investment Canada Act is satisfied that the investment is likely to be of net benefit to Canada. If the Minister is not satisfied that the
investment is likely to be of net benefit to Canada, the non-Canadian applicant must not implement the investment, or if the investment has been implemented,
may be required to divest itself of control of the Canadian business that is the subject of the investment.
 

Certain transactions relating to our common shares would be exempt from the Investment Canada Act, including:
 
 • the acquisition of our common shares by a person in the ordinary course of that person's business as a trader or dealer in securities;
 
 • the acquisition of control of our company in connection with the realization of security granted for a loan or other financial assistance and not for

a purpose related to the provisions of the Investment Canada Act; and
 
 • the acquisition of control of our company by reason of an amalgamation, merger, consolidation or corporate reorganization following which the

ultimate direct or indirect control in fact of our company, through ownership of our common shares, remains unchanged.
 
Delay of Change of Control
 

With the exception of provisions in our articles that limit the number of directors that can be appointed between annual meetings of shareholders and
that give our directors the authority to issue blank cheque preferred stock, there are no provisions in our articles or by-laws that would have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company, and that would operate only with respect to a merger, acquisition or corporate
restructuring involving our company. For limitation on the rights of non-Canadians to acquire control of our company, see above “Limitations on Rights of
Non-Canadians.”
 
Reporting of Share Ownership
 

Neither our articles nor our by-laws contain any provisions governing the ownership threshold above which shareholder ownership must be
disclosed. Securities legislation in Canada, however, requires that we disclose in our annual general meeting proxy statement, holders who beneficially own
more than 10% of our issued and outstanding shares.
 
C. Material Contracts
 

The following is a summary of the material provisions of the agreements referenced below and should be read together with the full text of such
agreements.
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued

 
On December 28, 2010, January 31, 2011 and March 7, 2011, the Company issued a total of $4.6 million senior secured convertible notes (“Senior

II Notes”).

A summary of the features and terms of the Senior II Notes are as follows:

 • Issuance of Senior II Notes for proceeds of $4.6 million, maturing 18 months after closing, with an annual coupon rate of 8% cash or 12% in
additional Senior II Notes at the Company’s option for the first six months after closing and at the holder’s option thereafter. Senior II Notes are
redeemable in cash at any time or convertible into common shares at $0.20 per common share at the Company’s option if the underlying shares are
freely tradable and common shares trade at or above $2.50 for the previous 20 consecutive trading days and the daily average trading volume has
been in excess of US $750,000 per day for the same period. Senior II Note holders received one warrant for each $0.50 principal amount of the
Senior Notes for 9,200,000 warrants (Senior II Warrants). Senior II Warrants are exercisable at $0.25 per share for a period of 36 months after
closing.

 • In the event the Company issues common shares or securities convertible into or exercisable for common shares at a price per share or conversion
or exercise price less than the conversion or exercise prices agreed to for each note, the conversion price of the notes and the exercise price of the
warrants is automatically reduced to such lower prices. The number of warrants outstanding will be increased such that the expected exercise
proceeds remain unchanged.

On December 28, 2010, the conversion price of the Junior Notes was reduced from $0.50 to $0.20 per share.

On September 21, 2010, the Company and its 62.5% working interest partner (together the “Farmor”) signed a farm-out agreement for their interest
in 5,100 net acres in the Little Muddy Area of Butler County, Kentucky to a Houston-based independent exploration and production company (“Farmee”).
Gravis has a 32.5% working interest in the property.

On or before January 5, 2011, the Farmee is to spud the first of a four well initial test program to test the commercial productivity of the Big Clifty
Formation. All wells are to be completed and tested or plugged within 45 days of spud date. In respect of each initial well drilled and tested by the Farmee,
Farmee will earn an assignment of Farmor’s 100% working interest in 25 contiguous acres around such well. Upon termination of the testing of the initial
wells, the Farmee will have the option to nominate a 640 acre block of additional lands to be earned by further drilling. Upon selecting the 640 acre additional
land block, the Farmee has the ability to earn up to an 82% net revenue interest by drilling a minimum of 24 Big Clifty test wells. If multi-lateral horizontal
wells are drilled, each multi-lateral well will equate to a maximum of three vertical wells with Farmee retaining an overriding royalty of between 1% and 5.5%.
Farmee will retain the right to participate for a 10% working interest reducing the Farmor’s working interest to 90%.

Pursuant to this agreement, the Farmee will reimburse the Farmor for any lease rentals paid during the period that the Farmee has a right to earn in the
lands. In addition, the Farmee will make a cash payment of $25/acre to the Farmor for each acre assigned to it under the agreement.
 

On July 30, 2010, the Company closed a financing with a group of its existing shareholders for US $2.5 million of funding. The transactions
consist of the issuance of $2.5 million in senior secured convertible notes, the conversion of the outstanding Preferred A Shares into junior secured convertible
notes and the reacquisition by Gravis of a 10% working interest in the Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects in exchange for a 2.75% overriding royalty
interest on the same properties.  In addition, one warrant was issued to the Senior I Note holders for each $0.50 principal amount of the Senior I Notes for a
total of 5,000,000 Senior I Warrants (“Senior I Warrants”).  The Senior I Warrants were initially exercisable at $0.50 per share until July 29, 2013.  On
December 28, 2010, the conversion price of the Senior I Notes was reduced to $0.20 per share and the number of Senior I Warrants was increased to
12,500,000 and the exercise price reduced to $0.20 per share.
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 
On April 29, 2010 the Company secured a line of credit with a private lender for the sole purpose of buying natural gas to fuel the steam generators

on its Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects. The credit facility is available up to a maximum of $1.0 million at an interest rate of 2% per month
calculated on the average daily outstanding principal balance. As security, the Company has signed a mortgage and a promissory note in the amount of $1.0
million granting security to the lender over certain Missouri properties. The credit agreement can be terminated by the Company upon 30 days notice. At the
date of this report, this credit facility has been terminated

Effective August 28, 2009, the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, MegaWest Energy Missouri Corp. (MegaWest Missouri) entered into a
purchase and sale agreement with Mega Partners 1, LLC, (MP 1), an affiliate of the Iroquois Capital Opportunity Fund, L.P., pursuant to which the
Company sold a 10 percent working interest in existing land and enhanced recovery projects on 15,313 acres of the Company's oil and gas leases located in
Missouri and Kansas (the Deerfield Area), including the Grassy Creek and Marmaton River projects, for the purchase price of US$2 million.

Effective August 28, 2009, MegaWest Missouri entered into an operating agreement relating to the operation of the Grassy Creek and Marmaton
projects and the exploration and development of future projects within the Deerfield Area. In particular, the operating agreement provides as follows: (i)
MegaWest Missouri will operate any existing and future projects in the Deerfield Area; (ii) each party to the operating agreement will pay its proportionate share
of development and operating costs; and (iii) MP 1 will have the right to acquire up to an additional 10 percent working interest in future development within
the Deerfield Area, on a project-by-project basis, by paying up to a $300,000 equalization payment per project and thereafter its proportionate share of all future
development and operating costs in respect of each project.

Pursuant to a side letter agreement entered into effective August 28, 2009, between MegaWest Missouri and MP 1, the Company granted MP 1 the
option to acquire up to a 20 percent proportionate interest in any of The Company's properties outside of the Deerfield Area by paying a proportionate
133 percent share of Gravis's costs-to-date in respect of such property until the later of the full redemption or conversion of the Series A or Series B preferred
shares (issued pursuant to the arrangement with the ICO Fund) are issued and outstanding and August 27, 2011; and (ii) the option to participate with the
Company in any future oil and gas property acquisitions for a proportionate 20 percent share of the cost of any such acquisition until the later of the full
redemption or conversion of the Series A or Series B preferred shares and August 27, 2011.

In respect of an offering that was completed on August 28, 2009, Gravis entered into a form of private placement subscription agreement pursuant to
which we issued to various investors led by the Iroquois Capital Opportunity Fund, L.P. 22,000 Series A convertible preferred shares, each with a stated value
of $100, for aggregate gross proceeds of $2.2 million. In conjunction with the offering of the Series A preferred shares, Gravis also issued to the subscribers
thereunder: (i) Series A warrants, each warrant entitling the holder thereof to purchase one common share at US$0.70 per share; and (ii) additional investment
rights consisting of the right to purchase a Series B convertible preferred share which would be convertible into common shares and Series B warrants
representing the right to purchase common shares.

In addition, the form of subscription agreement provides that: (i) Gravis will file a registration statement, if required, to be in effect at the time of
conversion with respect to the common shares underlying the Series A or Series B preferred shares and the warrants related to each issuance; (ii) certain liens
against Gravis's properties are prohibited and consent of a majority interest of the subscribers is required for certain actions that would adversely change the
rights of the subscribers while either the Series A or Series B preferred shares are issued and outstanding; (iii) if the Company issues certain common stock or
securities exchangeable into common stock at a price less than the conversion price of the outstanding Series A or Series B preferred shares, then the
conversion price of the said preferred shares will be adjusted to this lower price; (iv) the conversion price of the Series A or Series B preferred shares will be
adjusted proportionately to take account of any dividends on common stock, splits or consolidations, or reclassification of common stock; (v) Gravis is
prohibited from pledging its properties under certain circumstances and the Company is prohibited from selling a majority interest in its properties without the
consent of a majority interest of the subscribers as long as the Series A or Series B preferred shares are issued and outstanding. Such majority interest consent
is also required for certain actions that would adversely change the rights of the subscribers while either the Series A or Series B preferred shares are issued
and outstanding. These negative pledges do not pertain to the Series B preferred shares unless Series B preferred shares having a face value of more than
$1,400,000 have been issued; (vi) while Series A preferred shares are issued and outstanding, the Series A preferred shareholders have the right to nominate
one director to Gravis's board. Should Series B preferred shares be issued, the holders of such shares will have the right to nominate one additional director to
Gravis's board; (vii) certain default provisions result in the dividend rate increasing to 15 percent payable in cash during the event of default; (viii) until
August 28, 2010, the ICO Fund has a right of first refusal with respect to any financings or equity linked debt offerings conducted by the Company; and (ix)
Gravis has agreed to pay $75,000 of the ICO Fund's legal fees and to engage a technology consulting firm recommended by the ICO Fund for six months at a
cost not to exceed $20,000 per month.
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 

On April 9, 2009, Gravis entered into an amending agreement with the Company's joint venture partner, Kentucky Reserves II, LLC (KRII) to
resolve its outstanding work commitments under the Kentucky membership unit purchase agreement. Pursuant to the amending agreement, the Company's
work program obligations and attendant penalty payment provisions under the purchase agreement were terminated in consideration for: (i) a reduction in
working interest in the shallow rights (on the Kentucky land) from 62.5 percent to 37.5 percent; (ii) the transfer of ownership of the Kentucky leases to KRII;
and (iii) the obligation to prepay, directly to the lessors of the lands which make up the Kentucky project, lease rental for the 24-month period commencing
March 1, 2009.

On July 31, 2008, Gravis entered into a purchase agreement whereby the Company purchased (in connection with MegaWest Energy Montana Corp.)
a 75 percent working interest in oil and gas leases of approximately 4,990 undeveloped acres in Montana. The consideration given for the purchase was
$105,000 cash and 10,000 common shares.

In respect of a private placement that was completed on May 15, 2008, Gravis entered into a form of private placement subscription agreement with
various accredited investors whereby the Company issued 2,765,000 common shares, at a price of $6.00 per share, for aggregate proceeds of $16,050,000.

On October 24, 2007, Gravis entered into a purchase agreement whereby it purchased (in connection with MegaWest Energy Montana Corp.) a 40
percent working interest in oil and gas leases of approximately 33,000 undeveloped acres in Montana. The remaining consideration paid for the purchase was
$300,000 cash, 50,000 common shares and 25,000 common share purchase warrants (each of which were exercisable into common shares at a price of
US$25.00 until April 24, 2009). The common share purchase warrants were not exercised and expired.

 
In April 2007, Gravis entered into a membership unit purchase agreement whereby it purchased, through the Company's subsidiary, MegaWest

Energy (USA) Corp., all of the issued and outstanding membership units of Trinity Sands Energy LLC (Trinity) in consideration for $200,000 in cash and
95,000 exchange shares of MegaWest Energy (USA) Corp. and the release of Trinity of its obligations to the Company in respect of a promissory note
(previously assumed by Gravis - see Agreement dated December 20, 2006 below) in the amount of $1,200,000 granted by Trinity to Agosto Corporation
Limited. Each exchange share may be exchanged for US$10 in cash or 10 Gravis common shares during the period January 1, 2008 to July 31, 2008. As of
February 28, 2008, all of the exchange shares were converted into 950,000 Gravis common shares.

In April 2007, Gravis entered into a membership unit purchase agreement whereby it purchased (though MegaWest Energy (USA) Corp.) all of the
issued and outstanding membership units of Kentucky Reserves, LLC in consideration for $3,000,000 in cash and 500,000 Gravis common shares.

In April 2007, Gravis entered into a membership unit purchase agreement whereby the Company purchased (though MegaWest Energy (USA) Corp.)
all of the issued and outstanding membership units of Deerfield Energy LLC in consideration for $800,000 in cash and 475,000 Gravis common shares. In
connection with the purchase agreement, the Company entered into an escrow agreement whereby part of the consideration of the Deerfield Energy LLC
acquisition was placed into escrow, to be released under certain conditions. At the date of this application, all common shares pursuant to this agreement have
been released from escrow.

In March 2007, Gravis entered into an asset purchase agreement whereby the Company purchased (though MegaWest Energy (USA) Corp.) all of the
assets of Deerfield Energy Kansas Corp. in consideration for 25,000 Gravis common shares and the release of Deerfield Energy LLC (the parent of Deerfield
Energy Kansas Corp.) of its obligations to the Company in respect of a promissory note (previously assumed by the Company) in the amount of $500,000
granted by Deerfield Energy LLC to Agosto Corporation Limited. (See agreement dated December 20, 2006 below.)
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 
In respect of a private placement that was completed on March 1, 2007, Gravis entered into a form of private placement subscription agreement with

various accredited investors whereby the Company issued 2,744,855 units, at a price of $10.00 per unit. Each unit consisted of one common share and one-
half of one common share purchase warrant, with each whole warrant entitling the holder to purchase an additional common share at an exercise price of
$13.00 per share for a period of one year. On December 14, 2007, the term of the common share purchase warrants was extended six months and they expired
unexercised on August 28, 2008.

In respect of a private placement that was completed on March 1, 2007, Gravis entered into a rights agreement with PowerOne Capital Markets
Limited (an accredited investor) pursuant to the terms of the PowerOne consulting agreement, whereby the Company issued rights to buy 37,500 units at a
price of US$10.00 per unit. Each unit consisted of one common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant, with each whole warrant entitling
the holder to purchase an additional common share at an exercise price of US$13.00 per share for a period of one year. On December 14, 2007, the term of the
common share purchase warrants was extended six months and they expired unexercised on August 28, 2008.

In respect of a private placement that was completed on January 5, 2007, Gravis entered into a form of private placement subscription agreement
with various accredited investors whereby the Company issued 842,500 units, at a price of US$5.00 per unit. Each unit consisted of one common share and
one-half of one common share purchase warrant, with each whole warrant entitling the holder to purchase an additional common share at an exercise price of
US$10.00 per share for a period of one year. On December 14, 2007, the term of the common share purchase warrants was extended six months and they
expired unexercised on July 5, 2008.

In respect of a private placement that was completed on January 5, 2007, Gravis entered into a rights agreement with PowerOne Capital Markets
Limited (an accredited investor) pursuant to the terms of the PowerOne consulting agreement, whereby the Company issued rights to buy 18,000 units at a
price of US$5.00 per unit. Each unit consisted of one common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant, with each whole warrant entitling
the holder to purchase an additional common share at an exercise price of US$10.00 per share for a period of one year. The warrants expired unexercised.

Pursuant to a form of debt settlement and subscription agreement dated December 21, 2006, entered into with each of Karkrash Holdings Ltd.,
Carob Management Ltd., Brian Hanson, Roy Brown and Amisano Hanson Chartered Accountants, Gravis issued 60,000 common shares to the subscribers
in settlement of CND$165,700 of debt.

Pursuant to a letter of intent dated December 20, 2006, entered into with Trinity Sands Energy LLC and its unit holders in respect of Gravis's
purchase of all of the issued and membership units of Trinity Sands Energy LLC, the Company entered into an assumption and loan conversion agreement
with a private company, Agosto Corporation Limited dated December 20, 2006, as amended, whereby Gravis assumed the repayment of a $1,200,000 loan
made by Agosto to Trinity Sands Energy LLC. In exchange for the assumption of Agosto loan, the Company issued a convertible promissory note to Agosto in
the amount of $1,200,000 with simple interest accruing at a rate of six percent per annum. This convertible promissory note was extinguished in April 2007
pursuant to a membership unit purchase agreement. (See agreement dated April 2007 above.)

Pursuant to a letter of intent dated December 20, 2006, entered into with Deerfield Energy LLC in respect of Gravis's acquisition of all of the assets of
Deerfield Energy LLC, the Company entered into an assumption and loan conversion agreement with Agosto Corporation Limited dated December 20, 2006,
as amended, whereby the Company assumed the repayment of a $500,000 loan made by Agosto to Deerfield Energy LLC. In exchange for the assumption of
Agosto loan, the Company issued a convertible promissory note to Agosto in the amount of $500,000 with simple interest accruing at a rate of six percent per
annum. This convertible promissory note was extinguished in March 2007 pursuant to a membership unit purchase agreement. (See agreement dated March
2007 above.)

In respect of a private placement that was completed December 18, 2006, Gravis entered into a form of private placement subscription agreement
with various accredited investors whereby the Company issued 2,350,000 common shares at $1.00 per share.
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 
D. Exchange Controls.
 

There are presently no governmental laws, decrees or regulations in Canada which restrict the export or import of capital, or which impose foreign
exchange controls or affect the remittance of interest, dividends or other payments to non-resident holders of our common shares. However, any remittances of
dividends to shareholders not resident in Canada are subject to withholding tax in Canada (see Item 10E. “Additional Information - Taxation”).
 
E. Taxation.

The following is a discussion of Canadian and United States tax consequences material to our shareholders. To the extent that the discussion is
based on tax legislation which has not been subject to judicial or administrative interpretation, the views expressed in the discussion might not be accepted by
the tax authorities in question or by court. The discussion is not intended, and should not be construed, as legal or professional tax advice and does not
exhaust all possible tax considerations.

United States Federal Income Taxation
 

The following discussion summarizes the material U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to the purchase, ownership and
disposition of our common shares. Unless otherwise stated, this summary deals only with shareholders that are U.S. Holders (as defined below) who
hold their common shares as capital assets.
 

As used in this section, the term “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of a common share who is:
 
 • an individual citizen or resident of the United States or an individual treated as a U.S. citizen or resident for U.S. federal income tax purposes;
 
 • a corporation or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes created or organized in or under the laws of the United

States, any State or the District of Columbia;
 
 • an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or
 
 • any trust if (A)(i) a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and (ii) one or more

United States persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust, or (B) such trust validly elects to be treated as a United
States person.

 
The term “Non-U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of a common share that is an individual, corporation, estate or trust and is not a U.S. Holder.

The tax consequences to a Non-U.S. Holder may differ substantially from the tax consequences to a U.S. Holder. Certain aspects of U.S. federal income tax
relevant to a Non-U.S. Holder are discussed below.
 

This description is based on provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, existing and proposed U.S. Treasury
regulations promulgated thereunder, administrative and judicial interpretations thereof, and the U.S.-Canada Tax Treaty, each as in effect as of the date of this
document. These sources may change, possibly with retroactive effect, and are open to differing interpretations. This description does not discuss all aspects
of U.S. federal income taxation that may be applicable to investors in light of their particular circumstances or to investors who are subject to special treatment
under U.S. federal income tax law, including:

 • insurance companies;
 
 • dealers in stocks, securities or currencies;
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 
 • financial institutions and financial services entities;
 
 • real estate investment trusts;
 
 • regulated investment companies;
 
 • persons that receive common shares in connection with the performance of services;
 
 • tax-exempt organizations;
 
 • persons that hold common shares as part of a straddle or appreciated financial position or as part of a hedging, conversion or other

integrated instrument;
 
 • persons who acquire their common shares through the exercise or cancellation of employee stock options or otherwise as consideration for

their services;
 
 • individual retirement and other tax-deferred accounts;
 
 • expatriates of the United States and certain former long-term residents of the United States;
 
 • persons liable for the alternative minimum tax;
 
 • persons having a “functional currency” other than the U.S. dollar; and
 
 • direct, indirect or constructive owners of 10% or more, by voting power or value, of our common shares.

If a partnership or an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes owns common shares, the U.S. federal income tax
treatment of a partner in such a partnership will generally depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. A partnership that owns
common shares and the partners in such partnership should consult their tax own advisors about the U.S. federal income tax consequences of holding and
disposing of common shares.
 

All investors are urged to consult their own tax advisors as to the particular tax consequences to them of an investment in our common shares,
including the effect and applicability of United States federal, state, local and foreign income and other tax laws (including estate and gift tax laws) and tax
treaties.
 
Distributions Paid on the Common Shares
 

Subject to the discussion below under “Passive Foreign Investment Company Considerations,” a U.S. Holder generally will be required to include in
his or her gross income as ordinary dividend income the amount of any distributions paid on the common shares, including the amount of any Canadian
taxes withheld, to the extent that those distributions are paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. Subject to the discussion below under “Passive Foreign Investment Company Considerations,” distributions in excess of our earnings and profits
will be applied against and will reduce the U.S. Holder’s tax basis in its common shares and, to the extent they exceed that tax basis, will be treated as gain
from a sale or exchange of those common shares. Our dividends will not qualify for the dividends-received deduction applicable in some cases to U.S.
corporations.
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 

Dividends that we pay in Canadian dollars, including the amount of any Canadian taxes withheld therefrom, will be included in your income in a
U.S. dollar amount calculated by reference to the exchange rate in effect on the day such dividends are received, regardless of whether the payment is in fact
converted into U.S. dollars. A U.S. Holder who receives payment in Canadian dollars and converts them into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate other than the
rate in effect on such day will have a foreign currency exchange gain or loss that would be treated as ordinary income or loss. U.S. Holders should consult
their own tax advisors concerning the U.S. tax consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of Canadian dollars.

Subject to certain limitations, “qualified dividend income” received by a non-corporate U.S. Holder in tax years beginning on or before December 31,
2010 will be subject to tax at a reduced maximum tax rate of 15%. Distributions taxable as dividends paid on the common shares should qualify for the 15%
rate provided that we are not a passive foreign investment company (as described below) for U.S. tax purposes and that either: (i) we are entitled to benefits
under the income tax treaty between the United States and Canada, referred to as the U.S.-Canada Tax Treaty, or (ii) the common shares are readily tradable
on an established securities market in the United States and certain other requirements are met. We believe that we are entitled to benefits under the U.S.-
Canada Tax Treaty and that the common shares currently are readily tradable on an established securities market. However, no assurance can be given that
the common shares will remain readily tradable. The rate reduction does not apply unless certain holding period requirements are satisfied. With respect to the
common shares, the U.S. Holder must have held such shares for at least 61 days during the 121-day period beginning 60 days before the ex-dividend date.
The rate reduction also does not apply to dividends received from passive foreign investment companies, see discussion below, or in respect of certain hedged
positions or in certain other situations. The legislation enacting the reduced tax rate contains special rules for computing the foreign tax credit limitation of a
taxpayer who receives dividends subject to the reduced tax rate. U.S. Holders of common shares should consult their own tax advisors regarding the effect of
these rules in their particular circumstances.
 

Subject to the discussion below under “Information Reporting and Back-up Withholding,” a Non-U.S. Holder generally will not be subject to U.S.
federal income or withholding tax on dividends received on common shares unless that income is effectively connected with the conduct by that Non-U.S.
Holder of a trade or business in the United States, in which case a corporate Non-U.S. Holder may also be subject to the U.S. branch profits tax.

Foreign Tax Credit
 

Any dividend income resulting from distributions we pay to a U.S. Holder with respect to the common shares generally will be treated as foreign
source income for U.S. foreign tax credit limitation purposes. Subject to certain conditions and limitations, Canadian tax withheld on dividends may be
deducted from taxable income or (subject to complex limitations) credited against a U.S. Holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability. The rules relating to the
determination of foreign source income and the foreign tax credit are complex, and the availability of a foreign tax credit depends on numerous factors. Each
investor who is a U.S. Holder should consult with its own tax advisor.
 
Disposition of Common Shares
 

Upon the sale or other disposition of common shares, subject to the discussion below under “Passive Foreign Investment Company Considerations,”
a U.S. Holder generally will recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized on the disposition and the holder’s adjusted tax
basis in the common shares. U.S. Holders should consult their own advisors with respect to the tax consequences of the receipt of a currency other than U.S.
dollars upon such sale or other disposition.
 

Gain or loss upon the disposition of the common shares will be treated as long-term if, at the time of the sale or disposition, the common shares were
held for more than one year. The deductibility of capital losses by a U.S. Holder is subject to limitations. In general, any gain or loss recognized by a U.S.
Holder on the sale or other disposition of common shares will be U.S. source income or loss for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes. U.S. Holders should consult
their own tax advisors concerning the source of income for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes and the effect of the U.S.-Canada Tax Treaty on the source of
income.
 

Subject to the discussion below under “Information Reporting and Back-up Withholding,” a Non-U.S. Holder generally will not be subject to U.S.
federal income or withholding tax on any gain realized on the sale or exchange of common shares unless:
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 
 • that gain is effectively connected with the conduct by the Non-U.S. Holder of a trade or business in the United States, and, if a tax treaty

applies, is attributable to a permanent establishment or fixed base of the Non-U.S. Holder in the United States; or
 
 • in the case of any gain realized by an individual Non-U.S. Holder, that holder is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable

year of the sale or exchange, and other conditions are met.
 
Passive Foreign Investment Company Considerations
 

Investors should note that a non-U.S. corporation such as us may be a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC, as defined in Section 1297 of
the Code. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a foreign company is generally considered a PFIC for any taxable year in which either (i) 75% or more of its
gross income is passive income, or (ii) at least 50% of the average value of all of its assets for the taxable year produce or are held for the production of passive
income. We do not believe that we have been a PFIC, or will be a PFIC for the current taxable year. However, because the determination of whether we are a
PFIC is based upon the composition of our income and assets from time to time, and because of certain legal uncertainties, there can be no assurance that we
will not be considered a PFIC for the current taxable year or any future taxable year.

If we were classified as a PFIC, a U.S. Holder (other than a U.S. Holder who makes a timely QEF election, as discussed below) would be required to
allocate to each day in its holding period with respect to the common shares a pro rata portion of any distributions received (or deemed to be received) on the
common shares which are treated as “excess distributions,” as defined under the Code. Generally, an excess distribution is the ratable share of distributions
received (or deemed to be received) by a U.S. Holder during the taxable year that is greater than 125% of the average annual distributions received by such
U.S. Holder in the three preceding years (or such shorter period as the U.S. Holder may have held such shares). Any amount of the excess distribution treated
as allocable to a prior taxable year would be subject to tax at the highest individual or corporate tax rate, as the case may be, applicable for such prior year and
an interest charge will be imposed with respect to the resulting tax liability allocated to each such year. Any dividends received would not qualify for the
reduced maximum tax rate. In addition, any gain recognized on a disposition or deemed disposition of common shares would be treated in the same manner as
an excess distribution. Any such gain would be treated as ordinary income rather than as capital gain.
 

Under certain circumstances, shares held by a Non-U.S. Holder may be attributed to a United States person owning an interest, directly or
indirectly, in the Non-U.S. Holder. In this event, dividends and other transactions in respect of the shares would be attributed to such United States person for
purposes of applying the PFIC rules.
 

Under some conditions, one or more elections (including a “QEF election”) are available that may reduce the adverse effect of the PFIC rules.
However, it is highly uncertain whether such conditions will be met in our case. Therefore, such elections would likely not be available.
 
Information Reporting and Backup Withholding
 

Payments in respect of common shares may be subject to information reporting to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and to U.S. backup withholding
tax at a rate equal to the fourth lowest income tax rate applicable to individuals (which, under current law, is 28%). Backup withholding will not apply,
however, if you (i) are a corporation or come within certain exempt categories, and demonstrate the fact when so required, or (ii) furnish a correct taxpayer
identification number and make any other required certification. U.S. Holders who are required to establish their exempt status generally must provide such
certification on IRS Form W-9.
 

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be credited against a U.S. Holder’s U.S.
tax liability, and a U.S. Holder may obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules by filing the appropriate claim for
refund with the IRS.
 

Any U.S. Holder who holds 10% or more in vote or value of our common shares will be subject to certain additional United States information
reporting requirements.
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 
U.S. Gift and Estate Tax
 

An individual U.S. Holder of common shares will generally be subject to U.S. gift and estate taxes with respect to common shares in the same
manner and to the same extent as with respect to other types of personal property.
 
Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences
 

The following summary is a general discussion of material Canadian federal income tax consequences that may apply to holders and prospective
holders of common shares that are non-residents of Canada (Non-Canadian Holders). This discussion is based on the Income Tax Act (Canada), the
regulations promulgated thereunder, all amendments thereto publicly proposed by or on behalf of the Minster of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof, the
published administrative practices of the Canada Revenue Agency and on the current provisions Canada-United States Income Tax Convention (1980), as
amended (the Canada-US Treaty), any or all of which may materially and adversely change at any time, possibly on a retroactive basis. In addition, this
discussion does not consider the potential effects, adverse or beneficial, of any proposed changes in the governing tax law, whether by judicial, executive or
legislative action, which, if effected, may be applied, possibly on a retroactive basis. No opinion was requested by us, or has been provided by our counsel or
independent registered public accounting firm, with respect to the Canadian income tax consequences described in the following discussion. Accordingly, we
urge holders and prospective holders of common shares to consult with, and rely upon, their own tax advisors in analyzing the potential Canadian federal,
provincial, local and non-Canadian tax consequences associated with purchasing, owning and disposing of common shares.
 

As used in this section the term "Non-Canadian Holder" denoted the beneficial owner of one or more common shares who is:
 
 • a non-resident of Canada;
 
 • holds our common shares as capital property;

 • deals with us at arm's length; and
 
 • does not use or hold our common shares in or in the course of carrying on business in Canada.
 

Special rules may apply to a holder of common shares that is an insurer that carries on an insurance business in Canada and elsewhere, which rules
are not discussed in this annual report. Such holders of common shares should consult their own advisors.
 
Dividends
 

Though we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future, should a Non-Canadian Holder of common shares receive dividend
distributions, such holder will be subject to a Canadian withholding tax equal to 25%, subject to such lower rate as may be available under an applicable tax
treaty, of the gross amount of any distributions paid or deemed to be paid.
 

In accordance with the Canada-US Treaty the rates of withholding tax applicable to distributions paid to a Non-Canadian Holder who is a resident of
the United States and who is entitled to rely on the benefits of the Canada - US tax treaty are:
 
 • to the extent such holder is a company that beneficially owns at least 10% of our voting stock, 5% of the gross amount of such distribution

paid; or
 
 • in all other cases, 15% of the gross amount of such distribution paid.
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 
We are required to withhold the applicable amount from each distribution paid and remit the withheld amount directly to the Receiver General for

Canada for the account of the Non-Canadian Holder.
 

In accordance with the Canada-US Treaty, certain tax-exempt entities residing in the United States and entitled to rely on the benefits of the Canada -
US tax treaty may be exempt from Canadian withholding taxes, including any withholding taxes levied in respect of dividends received on our common
shares.
 
Sale, Exchange or other Disposition of Common Shares
 

A Non-Canadian Holder who disposes of common shares, including by deemed disposition upon death, will not be subject to Canadian federal
income tax on any capital gain (or capital loss) thereby realized unless the common shares constitute "taxable Canadian property" as defined by the Income
Tax Act (Canada) and no relief is afforded under any applicable tax treaty. Generally, our common shares will not constitute taxable Canadian property of a
Non-Canadian Holder unless at any time during the 60-month period immediately preceding the disposition, more than 50% of the fair market value of the
common shares was derived directly or indirectly, from one or any combination of real or immovable property situated in Canada, Canadian resource
property, timber resource property, or any option in respect of, or interest in, such properties.
 

Our management is of the view that our common shares do not derive their value principally from real or immovable property situated in Canada,
Canadian resource property, timber resource property, or any option in respect of, or interest in, such properties.
 
F. Dividends and paying agents

Not applicable.
 

G. Statement by experts

Not applicable.
 
H. Documents on display

This annual report and the exhibits thereto and any other document we file pursuant to the Exchange Act may be inspected without charge and copied
at prescribed rates at the following Securities and Exchange Commission public reference rooms: 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549.
You may obtain information on the operation of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s public reference room in Washington, D.C. by calling the
Securities and Exchange Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330 or by visiting the Securities and Exchange Commission’s website at http://www.sec.gov, and may
obtain copies of our filings from the public reference room by calling 1-800-SEC-0330. The Exchange Act file number for our Securities and Exchange
Commission filings is 000-49760.
 

The Securities and Exchange Commission maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding registrants that make electronic filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission using its EDGAR (Electronic Data Gathering,
Analysis, and Retrieval) system. Certain of our material documents or filings can also be viewed on SEDAR (the System for Electronic Document Analysis
and Retrieval of the Canadian securities regulatory authorities) at www.sedar.com.
 

Documents and agreements concerning our company referred to in this annual report may also be viewed by appointment, during normal business
hours, at our registered office located at Suite 902, #105, 150 Crowfoot Crescent N.W., Calgary, Alberta, Canada T3G 3T2.
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Item 10. Additional Information - continued
 
I. Subsidiary Information
 

Not applicable.

Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
 
Commodity Price Risk
 

Our future revenue and profitability will be dependant, to a significant extent, upon prevailing market prices for oil and gas. In the past, oil and gas
prices have been volatile. Prices are subject to wide fluctuations in response to changes in supply of, and demand for, oil and gas, market uncertainty, and a
variety of additional factors that are beyond our control. We currently are in an exploration stage and accordingly, we capitalize all net revenue received against
capital costs incurred.
 
Interest Rate Risk
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. Interest earned on cash and cash
equivalents is at nominal rates and therefore, the Company does not consider interest rate risk to be significant. At the date of this Annual Report, our
company has junior and senior notes outstanding that bear fixed rates of interest and accordingly, interest rate risk on these liabilities is not considered to be
significant. Interest rate risk on the long-term receivable is not considered significant. There are no interest rate swaps or financial contracts in place.
 
Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equity Securities
 

Not applicable.
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PART II
 
Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies
 

Not applicable.
 
Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds
 

Not applicable.
 
Item 15. Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our chief executive officer and chief financial officer to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures, as defined under Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e), as of April 30, 2011. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of April 30, 2011 due to a material weakness in our internal control
over financial reporting, as discussed below.
 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as required under applicable
United States securities regulatory requirements. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the
Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s chief executive and chief financial officers and effected by the company’s
board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:
 
 • pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company;
 
 • provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and

 
 • provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use of disposition of the company’s assets

that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements. A system of internal controls
can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met, no matter how well the system is conceived or operated.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2011. In making this assessment, our
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control Integrated
Framework. Based on that evaluation under this framework, our management concluded that as of April 30, 2011, our internal control over financial reporting
was not effective because of the following material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting:
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Item 15. Controls and Procedures. - continued
 
 • We have an insufficient number of personnel that have sufficient knowledge and experience in accounting, including U.S. GAAP.
 
 • Due to our small number of employees and resources, we have limited segregation of duties, as a result of which there is insufficient independent

review of duties performed.
 
 • As a result of the limited number of accounting personnel, we rely on outside consultants for the preparation of our financial reports, including

financial statements and management discussion and analysis, which could lead to overlooking items requiring disclosure.

This annual report does not include an attestation report by our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over
financial reporting. As we are neither a large accelerated filer nor an accelerated filer, our management's report was not subject to attestation by our registered
public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only management's report in this annual report.

Remediation Plan
 

We have hired a new chief financial officer to replace the interim chief financial officer subsequent to April 30, 2011.  The hiring of the new CFO,
who is located in the Houston area, and the move of the administrative functions to Houston will enhance certain financial reporting controls through improved
segregation of duties.  The size of the Company and its limited number of employees, will make it difficult to remediate all existing weaknesses.
 
Changes to Internal Controls and Procedures for Financial Reporting
 

During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011, our chief financial and chief executive officers resigned and were replaced with a new chief executive
officer and an interim chief financial officer. We also moved our administrative functions from Calgary to Houston to be closer to our new chief executive
officer. Owing to the limited number of staff we have relied heavily on the active involvement of our chief executive officers for our internal controls and thus
have had limited segregation of duties. During the year ended April 30, 2011 the Company eliminated its accounting staff and now completely relies upon
outside consultants to do its bookkeeping and prepare its financial reports. Other than as described, there were no changes in our internal control over financial
reporting that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting

Item 16. [Reserved]
 
Item 16A.Audit Committee Financial Expert.

Our board has determined that Mr. F. George Orr, a non-independent director, qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” as defined by rules
of the Securities and Exchange Commission. For a brief listing of Mr. Orr’s relevant experience, see Item 6.A. “Directors, Senior Management and Employees -
Directors and Senior Management.”
 
Item 16B. Code of Ethics.
 

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to our chief executive officer and all senior financial officers of our company, including the chief
financial officer, chief accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. Our code of ethics has been filed as an exhibit to this annual
report. Written copies are available upon request. If we make any substantive amendment to the code of ethics or grant any waivers, including any implicit
waiver, from a provision of the codes of ethics, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website.  
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Item 16C.Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
 
Independent Public Accountants Fees
 

Our board of directors appointed KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accountant to audit our financial statements for the fiscal year
ended April 30, 2011.
 

Audit Fees. The aggregate fees billed by KPMG LLP for professional services rendered for the audit of our annual financial statements for the fiscal
years ended April 30, 2011 and 2010, were $181,000 and $79,000, respectively.
 

Audit Related Fees. The aggregate fees billed for assurance and related services by KPMG LLP relating to the performance of interim reviews of our
financial statements and involvement in prospectus/registration documents, for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2011 and 2010 which are not reported under
the heading "Audit Fees" above, were $Nil and $Nil, respectively.
 

Tax Fees. The aggregate fees billed for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning by KPMG LLP were for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2011
and 2010 were $37,039 and $53,000, respectively.
 
Audit Committee Pre-Approved Policies and Procedures
 

Our audit committee pre-approves all services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm. All of the services and fees described
above were reviewed and approved by the audit committee before the respective services were rendered.

Item 16D.Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees.
 

Not applicable.
 
Item 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers.
 

There were no purchases of our common shares made by us or on our behalf or by any affiliated purchaser during the fiscal year ended April 30,
2011.

Item 16F. Change in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant.
 

None.
 
Item 16G.Corporate Governance.
 

None.
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PART III
 
Item 17. Financial Statements
 
Consolidated Financial Statements of Gravis Oil Corporation  
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm   F-2 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at April 30, 2011 and 2010   F-3 
Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehensive Loss and Deficit for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009   F-4 
Consolidated Statements of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009   F-5 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009   F-6 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements April 30, 2011   F-7 
 
 
Item 18. Financial Statements
 

Not applicable.
 
Item 19. Exhibits
 
Exhibit
Number

Description

1.1 Certificate of Incorporation - British Columbia (1)
1.2 Notice of Articles - British Columbia (2)
1.3 Certificate of Name Change - British Columbia (2)
1.4 Articles - British Columbia (2)
1.5 Certificate of Continuance - Alberta (3)
1.6 Articles of Continuance - Alberta (3)
1.7 By-law No. 1 - Alberta (3)
4.1 Canadian Stock Option Plan dated August 24, 2004, amended and restated February 19, 2007 and August 9, 2007 (4)
4.2 U.S. Stock Option Plan dated January 5, 2007 (4)
4.3 Operating and Farm-in Agreement dated October 24, 2007 in respect Loma Area, Montana (Big Sky project) (5)
4.4 Operating and Farm-in Agreement dated October 24, 2007 in respect Teton Area, Montana (Big Sky project) (5)
4.5 Canadian Equity Incentive Plan, amended and restated June 5, 2008 (6)
4.6 U.S. Equity Incentive Plan, amended and restated June 5, 2008 (6)
4.7 Agreement of Purchase and Sale dated August 27, 2009 between MegaWest Energy Missouri Corp. and Mega Partners 1, LLC (6)
4.8 Operating Agreement dated August 27, 2009 between MegaWest Energy Missouri Corp. and Mega Partners 1, LLC (6)
4.9 Side Letter Agreement dated August 27, 2009 between MegaWest Energy Missouri Corp. and Mega Partners 1, LLC (6)
4.10 Form of Subscription Agreement entered into with various subscribers in August, 2009 (6)
4.11 Form of Subscription Agreement dated July 30, 2010, among MegaWest Energy Corp. and certain subscribers for US$2,500,000 Senior

Convertible Notes (7)
4.12 Form of Exchange Agreement dated July 30, 2010, among MegaWest Energy Corp. and the holders of Series A preferred shares to convert the Series

A preferred shares into US$2,501,069 Junior Convertible Notes (7)
8.1 Subsidiaries (7)
11.1 Code of Ethics (7)
12.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act, as amended
12.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act, as amended
13.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
15.1 Consent of GLJ Petroleum Consultants
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Item 19. Exhibits - continued
 
(1) Incorporated by reference to our Form 6-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 6, 2006.
(2) Incorporated by reference to our Form 20-F filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2007.
(3) Incorporated by reference to our Form F-1/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 15, 2008.
(4) Incorporated by reference to our Form 20-F filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 10, 2007.
(5) Incorporated by reference to our Form F-1/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 31, 2007.
(6) Incorporated by reference to our Form 6-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 4, 2009.
(7) Incorporated by reference to our Form 6-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 16, 2010.
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SIGNATURES
 
The Registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F /A and that it has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to
sign this annual report on its behalf.

 GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION
  
June 21, 2012 By: /s/ JEFFREY FREEDMAN
  Jeffrey Freedman
  Chief Financial Officer
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To the Shareholders of Gravis Oil Corporation
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Gravis Oil Corporation and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance
sheets as at April 30, 2011 and 2010, the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, shareholders’ deficit and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended April 30, 2011, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with United States generally
accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
 
Auditors’ Responsibility
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
 
Opinion
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Gravis Oil Corporation and
its subsidiaries as at April 30, 2011 and 2010 and their consolidated results of operations and consolidated cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended April 30, 2011 in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles.
 
Emphasis of Matter
 
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which indicates that Gravis Oil Corporation has cash
outflows from operating activities, recurring losses, and a working capital deficiency at April 30, 2011.  These conditions, along with other matters as set
forth in Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that cast significant doubt about Gravis Oil
Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern.
 
/s/ KPMG LLP
 
Chartered Accountants
Calgary, Canada
October 12, 2011
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GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION (a development stage enterprise)
(formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.)
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(United States dollars)
 
  April 30, 2011  April 30, 2010 
Assets       
Current assets       
   Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,179,838  $ 150,005 
   Cash in escrow (note 10(b))   658,000   - 
   Accounts receivable   231,316   457,071 
   Prepaid expenses and deposits   92,196   173,288 
   2,161,350   780,364 
Oil and gas assets (note 6)   17,975,830   30,287,809 
Administrative assets   19,498   79,963 
Long-term receivable (note 7)   294,862   307,620 
Reclamation deposits (note 9)   143,696   140,815 
Deferred transaction costs (note 10)   223,276   - 
  $ 20,818,512  $ 31,596,571 
Liabilities         
Current liabilities         
    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 1,251,736  $ 744,408 
    Interest payable   505,696   - 
    Asset retirement obligations (note 9)   205,700   245,657 
    Current liability portion of convertible notes (note 10)   1,626,243   - 
   3,589,375   990,065 
Asset retirement obligations (note 9)   521,636   521,883 
Liability portion of convertible notes (note 10)   5,040,020   - 
Derivatives (note 11)   14,499,894   1,330,909 
   23,650,925   2,842,857 
Shareholders’ Deficit         
Common shares - Unlimited shares without par value authorized; 14,078,947 issued April 30,

2011;  13,328,947 issued April 30, 2010 (note 12)   79,016,425   78,836,171 
Preferred A shares - 100,000,000 authorized; nil issued April 30, 2011; 22,000 with a $100 stated value and no

par value issued April 30, 2010 (note 12)   -   1,881,262 
Contributed surplus   54,341,320   53,613,475 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (note 2)   (272,156)   11,615 
Accumulated deficit from prior operations   (443,861)   (443,861)
Accumulated deficit from development stage   (135,474,141)   (105,144,948)
   (2,832,413)   28,753,714 
  $ 20,818,512  $ 31,596,571 

Going concern (note 1)
Contingency and contractual obligation (note 22)
Subsequent events (note 23)

Approved by the Board:
/s/  F. George Orr  /s/  Tim L. Morrison
F. George Orr, Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee  Tim L. Morrison, President and Chief Executive Officer, Director and

Secretary
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION (a development stage enterprise)
(formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.)
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(United States dollars)

 

  Years ended April 30   

 
From

Development
Stage Inception
on November

1, 2006
through  

  2011   2010   2009   April 30, 2011  
Revenue and other income             

Oil sales  $ 1,565,963  $ 1,575,150  $ –  $ 3,141,113 
Interest income   16,213   6,073   135,190   1,044,941 

   1,582,176   1,581,223   135,190   4,186,054 
Expenses                 
Operating   3,470,746   3,955,084   –   7,425,830 
Impairment of oil and gas assets (note 6)   12,848,677   1,162,545   57,468,799   99,064,260 
General and administrative (note 15)   3,307,060   3,193,449   4,046,550   32,041,960 
Depreciation, depletion and accretion   844,160   293,113   127,884   1,353,141 
Loss on marketable securities   –   –   –   1,676,173 
Interest and accretion   1,512,443   –   12,479   3,888,233 
Foreign exchange loss (gain)   (86,959)   98,225   (1,573,251)   1,534,760 
Change in fair value of derivatives (note 11)   9,395,435   829,166   –   10,224,601 
Change in fair value of exchange shares   –   –   –   (18,387,365)
   31,291,562   9,531,582   60,082,461   138,821,593 
Net loss   (29,709,386)   (7,950,359)   (59,947,271)   (134,635,539)
Foreign exchange translation   (283,771)   4,984,026   (13,832,144)   (272,156)
Total comprehensive loss  $ (29,993,157)  $ (2,966,333)  $ (84,955,892)  $(134,907,695)
                 
Net loss per share                 

Basic and diluted  $ (2.22)  $ (0.60)  $ (4.60)     
                 
Weighted average shares outstanding                 

Basic and diluted (note 14)   13,387,166   13,325,545   13,035,892     
  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION (a development stage enterprise)
(formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.)
Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Deficit
(United States dollars)

              Accumulated        
              Other      Total  
  Common   Preferred A      Contributed   Comprehensive   Accumulated   Shareholders’  
  Shares   Shares   Warrants   Surplus   Income   Deficit   Deficit  
Period from
inception to April 30,
2008:                      
Issued, net of costs
(note 12)  $ 57,217,824  $ -  $ 46,022,853  $ (167,565)  $ -  $ -  $ 103,073,112 
Foreign exchange
translation   -   -   -   -   8,859,733   -   8,859,733 
Stock-based
compensation   -   -   -   10,384,259   -   -   10,384,259 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (37,472,384)   (37,472,384)
Balance at April 30,
2008  $ 57,217,824  $ -  $ 46,022,853  $ 10,216,694  $ 8,859,733  $ (37,472,384)  $ 84,844,720 
Issued, net of costs
(note 12)   21,610,709   -   (3,911,252)   -   -   -   17,699,457 
Foreign exchange
translation   -   -   -   -   (13,832,144)   -   (13,832,144)
Stock-based
compensation (note
13)   -   -   -   784,887   -   -   784,887 
Expiry of warrants   -   -   (42,111,601)   42,111,601   -   -   - 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (59,947,271)   (59,947,271)
Balance at April 30,
2009  $ 78,828,533  $ -  $ -  $ 53,113,182  $ (4,972,411)  $ (97,419,655)  $ 29,549,649 
Issued, net of costs
(note 12)   7,638   1,662,467   -   -   -   -   1,670,105 
Preferred A Shares
dividend (note 12)   -   218,795   -   -   -   (218,795)   - 
Foreign exchange
translation   -   -   -   -   4,984,026   -   4,984,026 
Stock-based
compensation (note
13)   -   -   -   500,293   -   -   500,293 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (7,950,359)   (7,950,359)
Balance at April 30,
2010  $ 78,836,171  $ 1,881,262  $ -  $ 53,613,475  $ 11,615  $ (105,588,809)  $ 28,753,714 
Issued, net of costs
(note 12)   180,254   -   -   -   -   -   180,254 
Preferred A Shares
dividend (note 12)   -   82,274   -   -   -   (82,274)   - 
Preferred A Shares
exchange (note 12)   -   (1,963,536)   -   -   -   (537,533)   (2,501,069)
Foreign exchange
translation   -   -   -   -   (283,771)   -   (283,771)
Stock-based
compensation (note
13)   -   -   -   727,845   -   -   727,845 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (29,709,386)   (29,709,386)
Balance at April 30,
2011  $ 79,016,425  $ -  $ -  $ 54,341,320  $ (272,156)  $ (135,918,002)  $ (2,832,413)
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION (a development stage enterprise)
(formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
 (United States dollars)

  Years ended April 30   

From Development
Stage Inception on
November 1, 2006

through  
  2011   2010   2009   April 30, 2011  
Operating activities             
Net loss  $ (29,709,386)  $ (7,950,359)  $ (59,947,271)  $ (134,635,539)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used by operating activities:                 

Impairment of oil and gas assets   12,848,677   1,162,545   57,468,799   99,064,260 
Depreciation, depletion and accretion   844,160   293,113   127,884   1,353,141 
Interest and accretion expense   1,512,443   -   12,305   3,888,233 
Stock-based compensation   885,160   457,085   534,934   18,152,238 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)   (36,181)   139,679   (2,039,522)   1,724,969 
Loss on marketable securities   -   -   -   1,676,173 
Unrealized change in fair value of derivatives   9,395,435   829,166   -   10,224,601 
Unrealized change in fair value of exchange shares   -   -   -   (18,387,365)
Interest paid   (50,083)   -   -   (50,083)
Change in long-term accounts receivable   12,758   (304,120)   -   (291,362)
Change in non-cash working capital   580,174   431,746   (238,793)   990,974 

   (3,716,843)   (4,941,145)   (4,081,664)   (16,289,760)
Financing activities                 
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes   7,100,000   -   -   7,100,000 
Proceeds from issuance of preferred shares   -   2,136,950   -   2,136,950 
Proceeds from issuance of common shares   -   -   12,970,061   48,068,853 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants   -   -   111,422   458,945 
Transaction costs   (327,752)   -   -   (327,752)
Notes payable   -   -   -   (36,182)
Change in cash in escrow   (658,000)   -   -   (658,000)
   6,114,248   2,136,950   13,081,483   56,742,814 
Investing activities                 
Expenditures on oil and gas assets   (1,361,890)   (941,322)   (14,010,367)   (33,325,706)
Expenditures on administrative assets   (3,054)   (7,401)   (36,887)   (385,523)
Disposition of oil and gas assets   -   2,391,077   -   2,391,077 
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired   -   -   -   (4,153,508)
Marketable securities   -   -   -   (1,675,193)
Change in reclamation deposit   (2,881)   33,494   (15,929)   (143,696)
   (1,367,825)   1,475,848   (14,063,183)   (37,292,549)
Change in cash and cash equivalents   1,029,580   (1,328,347)   (5,063,364)   3,160,505 
Exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash                 

Equivalents   253   (2,377)   1,420,801   (1,988,332)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   150,005   1,480,729   5,123,292   7,665 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 1,179,838  $ 150,005  $ 1,480,729  $ 1,179,838 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION (a development stage enterprise
(formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended April 30, 2011
(United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

 
1. Development Stage and Going Concern:
 
Gravis Oil Corporation (“Gravis” or the “Company”) is a development stage enterprise that is developing heavy oil properties. Gravis has been a development
stage company since November 2006 and its activities have included analysis and evaluation of technical data, preparation of geological models, exploration
drilling, conceptual engineering, construction and operation of thermal demonstration projects, and securing capital to fund operations.
 
As at April 30, 2011, the Company has a working capital deficiency of $1.4 million, recurring losses and net cash outflows from operating activities and an
accumulated deficit during the development stage of $135.5 million. Subsequent to April 30, 2011, as a result of the Company’s financial position, cost
factors and market conditions it suspended operations on its Missouri oil and gas assets. The Company will need to raise additional funds within the next 12
months by means of additional equity issuances, debt financing or selling of working interests in order to discharge its liabilities and continue its activities. In
the longer term, the recoverability of the carrying value of the Company’s long-lived assets is dependent upon the Company’s ability to preserve its interest in
the underlying properties, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves and the achievement of profitable operations. These matters raise substantial
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
 
While the outcome of fund raising and exploration activities cannot be determined at this time, these financial statements are prepared on the basis of a going
concern. The going concern basis of presentation assumes the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets
and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. While there is substantial doubt about the ability of the Company to continue
to use the going concern assumption, these financial statements do not include any adjustments to the amounts and classification of assets and liabilities that
may be necessary should the Company be unable to secure additional funding and attain profitable operations.
 
2. Change in Reporting and Functional Currency:
 
These financial statements have been prepared using the United States dollar as the reporting currency, as management is of the opinion the use of US dollars
to prepare the annual financial statements enhances communication with shareholders and improves comparability of financial information reported with peer
group companies. Financial statements in prior years were prepared using a Canadian dollar (Cdn dollar) reporting currency, however, both current year and
historical financial information has been translated to US dollars in accordance with the method described in the significant accounting policies. The change
in reporting currency resulted in the recognition of a cumulative foreign currency translation reserve of $272,156 in accumulated other comprehensive income
at July 30, 2011.
 
Effective July 30, 2010, the Company and its subsidiaries changed functional currency from the Cdn dollar to the US dollar. This change was made as a
result of the financing completed in July 2010, causing the Company’s primary source of funding to be in US dollars and making the US dollar the currency
of the economic environment in which the entity primarily generates and expends cash.
 
The methods for translating financial information to the reporting currency and to record foreign currency transactions in the Company’s functional currency
are described in the significant accounting policies.
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GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION (a development stage enterprise
(formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended April 30, 2011
(United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

 
3. Basis of Preparation:
 
As a Canadian company, Gravis historically prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
Canada (Canadian GAAP) and also provided reconciliation to United States generally accepted accounting principles (“US GAAP”).
 
Effective May 1, 2010, the Company started using United States generally accepted accounting principles ("US GAAP") retrospectively to prepare its
consolidated financial statements. The decision to change to US GAAP was made to enhance communication with shareholders and other investors and
improve the comparability of financial information reported with competitors and peer group companies.
 
The accounting policies set out in note 5 have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these audited consolidated financial statements. A
reconciliation of the US GAAP financial statements to Canadian GAAP is included in note 25.
 
4. Share Consolidation:
 
Effective June 20, 2011, the Company’s share capital was consolidated on a one-for-ten basis. All common share, preferred share, warrant and stock option
figures disclosed herein are reported on a consolidated basis.
 
5. Significant Accounting Policies:
 
(a) Principles of Consolidation:

 
These financial statements include the accounts of Gravis and its wholly-owned subsidiary, MegaWest Energy USA Corp. and its wholly owned
subsidiaries:

 
MegaWest Energy Texas Corp.
MegaWest Energy Kentucky Corp.
MegaWest Energy Missouri Corp.
MegaWest Energy Kansas Corp.
MegaWest Energy Montana Corp.

 
 A significant portion of the Company’s activities are conducted jointly with others and these consolidated financial statements reflect only the

Company’s proportionate interest in such activities. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
 
(b) Use of Estimates and Measurement Uncertainty:
 
 The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and other

disclosures in these financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates due to factors such as fluctuations in interest rates, currency
exchange rates, inflation levels and commodity prices, changes in economic conditions and legislative and regulatory changes.

 
 Significant estimates used in the preparation of these financial statements include estimates of oil and gas reserves and resources and the estimated

value of the unproved properties, fair value of the Preferred A Shares at the date of their exchange, derivative fair values, stock-based compensation
fair values and estimated cost and timing related to asset retirement obligations.
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GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION (a development stage enterprise
(formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended April 30, 2011
(United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

 
5. Significant Accounting Policies - continued
 
 Certain fair value estimates are based on expected volatility of the Company’s share price. In 2011, the Company used a volatility rate based on peer

entities rather than historical trading prices of its common shares as used in 2010 and prior years. The volatility of peer entities is considered more
representative for the Company due to the dilutive impact of financings completed in 2011 and the limited trading of the Company’s shares on the
OTC Bulletin Board.

 
(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents:
 
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with terms to maturity, at the date of acquisition, not exceeding 90 days. The

Company’s cash balances are maintained in both United States and Canadian banks.
 
(d) Oil and Gas Operations:
 
 The Company follows the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas operations whereby all costs related to exploration and development of oil and

gas reserves are capitalized. Under this method, the Company capitalizes all acquisition, exploration and development costs incurred for the purpose
of finding oil and natural gas reserves, including salaries, benefits and other internal costs directly attributable to these activities. Costs associated
with production and general corporate activities, however, are expensed in the period incurred. Costs are capitalized on a country-by-country basis. To
date, there has only been one cost center, the United States.

 
 Capitalized costs of oil and natural gas properties may not exceed an amount equal to the present value, discounted at 10%, of estimated future net

revenues from proved reserves plus the cost of unproven properties. Should capitalized costs exceed this ceiling, impairment is recognized.
 
 The present value of estimated future net cash flows is computed by applying the average first-day-of-the-month prices during the previous twelve-

month period of oil and natural gas to estimated future production of proved oil and natural gas reserves as of year-end less estimated future
expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves and assuming continuation of existing economic conditions. Prior to
December 31, 2009, prices and costs used to calculate future net cash flows were those as of the end of the appropriate quarterly period.

 
 Following the discovery of reserves and the commencement of production, the Company computes depletion of oil and natural gas properties using the

unit-of-production method based upon production and estimates of proved reserve quantities. Costs associated with unproved properties are excluded
from the depletion calculation until it is determined whether or not proved reserves can be assigned to such properties. Unproved properties are
assessed for impairment quarterly. Significant properties are assessed individually.

 
 The Company assesses all items classified as unproved property on a quarterly basis for possible impairment. The Company assesses properties on

an individual basis or as a group if properties are individually insignificant. The assessment includes consideration of the following factors, among
others: land relinquishment; intent to drill; remaining lease term; geological and geophysical evaluations; drilling results and activity; the assignment
of proved reserves; and the economic viability of development if proved reserves are assigned. During any period in which these factors indicate
impairment, the related exploration costs incurred are transferred to the full cost pool and are then subject to depletion and the ceiling limitations on
development oil and natural gas expenditures.
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GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION (a development stage enterprise
(formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended April 30, 2011
(United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

 
5. Significant Accounting Policies - continued
 
 Proceeds from the sale of oil and gas assets are applied against capitalized costs, with no gain or loss recognized, unless a sale would alter the rate of

depletion and depreciation by 25 percent or more.
 
(e) Administrative Assets:
 
 Leasehold improvements, office furniture and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation on leasehold improvements, office furniture and equipment is

provided on a straight-line basis over five years.
 
(f)
 

Asset Retirement Obligations:
 
The Company recognizes a liability for the estimated fair value of site restoration and abandonment costs when the obligations are legally incurred and
the fair value can be reasonably estimated. The fair value of the obligations is based on the estimated cash flow required to settle the obligations
discounted using the Company's credit adjusted risk-free interest rate. The obligation is recorded as a liability with a corresponding increase in the
carrying amount of the oil and gas assets. The capitalized amount will be depleted on a unit-of-production method. The liability is increased each
period, or accretes, due to the passage of time and a corresponding amount is recorded in the statement of operations. Revisions to the estimated fair
value would result in an adjustment to the liability and the capitalized amount in oil and gas assets.

 
(g) Foreign Currency Translation:

 
Commencing July 30, 2010, the US dollar is the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated to US dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date and non-monetary assets and
liabilities at the exchange rates in effect at the time of the transactions. Revenues and expenses are translated to US dollars at rates approximating
exchange rates in effect at the time of the transactions. Exchange gains and losses resulting from the period-end translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in the statement of operations.
 
For periods prior to July 30, 2010, the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries was Cdn dollar, which was translated into US
dollars, the Company’s reporting currency, using the current rate method. Under this method, assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate in
effect at the end of the comparative period; revenues, expenses and cash flows are translated at the average rate in effect for the period; and equity
transactions are translated at historical rates. Translation adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss presented in
shareholders’ equity.
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GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION (a development stage enterprise
(formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended April 30, 2011
(United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

 
5. Significant Accounting Policies - continued
 
(h) Oil Revenue:

 
Sales of crude oil are recognized in the period in which the product is delivered to a customer. Oil revenue represents the Company's share and is
recorded net of royalty payments to governments and other mineral interest owners.
 

(i) Stock-Based Compensation:
 
The Company accounts for all stock options and warrants granted to employees, directors and certain service providers using the fair value method.
Under this method, compensation expense is recorded with a corresponding credit to contributed surplus. Stock-based compensation expense for
employees is based on the estimated fair value of the related option or warrant at the time of grant and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period of the option. Stock-based compensation expense for other service providers is based on the estimated fair value of the related option or
warrant once vested. At the end of each reporting period, the fair value of each option and warrant not vested is re-calculated and the appropriate
amount is expensed in that period. Compensation expense is adjusted for the estimated amount of forfeitures.  
 
The Company issues common shares from treasury on the exercise of stock options and warrants and consideration received upon the exercise of
stock options and warrants together with the amount of non-cash compensation expense recognized in contributed surplus is recorded as the amount of
common shares.

 
(j) Income Taxes:

 
The Company follows the asset and liability method of tax allocation accounting. This method requires the recognition of deferred tax liabilities and
assets for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between financial accounting bases and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The
tax benefits of tax loss carry-forwards and other deferred taxes are recorded as an asset to the extent that management assesses the utilization of such
assets to be more likely than not. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rate in effect for the year in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates of deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the
year of the enacted rate change. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized.  
 
The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. During 2011, 2010 and 2009, there were no
charges for interest or penalties.
 

(k) Per Share Amounts:
 
Basic per share amounts are computed by dividing the loss by the weighted average shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted amounts
for options and consulting and other warrants are computed using the treasury stock method. The treasury stock method assumes that proceeds
received from the exercise of in-the-money options and warrants are used to repurchase shares at the average market price for the period. The difference
between the number of shares that could have been purchased at market prices in the period and the number of in-the-money options and warrants is
added to the weighted average shares outstanding. Dilutive amounts for convertible notes are determined by using the “as if converted method”.
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GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION (a development stage enterprise
(formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended April 30, 2011
(United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

 
5. Significant Accounting Policies - continued

 
(l) Financial Instruments:

 
All financial instruments, including derivatives, are to be recognized on the balance sheet initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement of all
financial assets and liabilities except those held-for-trading and available for sale are measured at amortized cost determined using the effective interest
rate method. Held-for-trading financial assets are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings. Available-for-sale financial
assets are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in comprehensive income and reclassified to earnings when derecognized or
impaired. 
 
Transaction costs attributable to certain financial instruments classified as other than held-for-trading and available for sale, such as the liability
portion of convertible notes, are presented as a deferred asset on the balance sheet and recognized as an expense over the term of the related financial
instrument. Other transaction costs are expensed on recognition of the instrument. The Company has classified its financial assets and liabilities as
follows:

 
Held-for-trading Loans and receivables Other liabilities
   
Cash and cash equivalents Accounts receivable Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Derivatives Long-term receivable Interest payable
  Liability portion of convertible notes
   
 At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses financial assets for impairment with any impairment recorded in the consolidated statement of

operations. To assess loans and receivables for impairment, the Company evaluates the probability of collection of accounts receivable and records an
allowance for doubtful accounts, which reduces loans and receivables to the amount management reasonably believes will be collected. In determining
the amount of the allowance, the following factors are considered: the length of the time the receivable has been outstanding, specific knowledge of each
customer’s financial condition and historical experience.
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date (exit price).
 
Fair value measurements are categorized using a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of the inputs used to measure fair value, which prioritized the
inputs into three broad levels:
 
Level 1 - Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date. Active markets are those in which
transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
 
Level 2 - Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the
reported date and includes those financial instruments that are valued using models or other valuation methodologies.
 
Level 3 - Pricing inputs include significant inputs that are generally less observable from objective sources. These inputs may be used with internally
developed methodologies that result in management’s best estimate of fair value.
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5. Significant Accounting Policies - continued
 
(m) Derivatives:

 
The Company evaluates all financial instruments for freestanding and embedded derivatives. Warrants and conversion features related to convertible
notes and preferred shares do not have readily determinable fair values and therefore require significant management judgment and estimation. The
Company uses the Black-Scholes and binomial pricing model to estimate the fair value of warrant and note conversion feature at the end of each
applicable reporting period. Changes in the fair value of these derivatives during each reporting period are included in the statement of operations.
Inputs into the Black-Scholes pricing model require estimates, including such items as estimated volatility of the Company’s stock and the estimated
life of the financial instruments being fair valued.
 

(n) Recent Accounting Pronouncements:
 
The FASB has issued ASU No. 2010-13, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Effect of Denominating the Exercise Price of a Share-
Based Payment Award in the Currency of the Market in Which the Underlying Equity Security Trades. This ASU codifies the consensus reached in
EITF Issue No. 09-J, "Effect of Denominating the Exercise Price of a Share-Based Payment Award in the Currency of the Market in Which the
Underlying Equity Security Trades." The amendments to the Codification clarify that an employee share-based payment award with an exercise price
denominated in the currency of a market in which a substantial portion of the entity’s equity shares trades should not be considered to contain a
condition that is not a market, performance, or service condition. Therefore, an entity would not classify such an award as a liability if it otherwise
qualifies as equity. This rule will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. The Company has applied
the principles from the update in its financial reporting.

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2010-06, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820): Improving
Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements. The ASU amends Subtopic 820-10 with new disclosure requirements and clarification of existing
disclosure requirements. New disclosures required include the amount of significant transfers in and out of levels 1 and 2 fair value measurements
and the reasons for the transfers. In addition, the reconciliation for level 3 activity will be required on a gross rather than net basis. The ASU provides
additional guidance related to the level of disaggregation in determining classes of assets and liabilities and disclosures about inputs and valuation
techniques. The amendments are effective for annual or interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the requirement to
provide the reconciliation for level 3 activities on a gross basis, which will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010. The
Company is currently assessing the impact of ASU 2010-6 and does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on its
consolidated financial statements.  
 
The FASB has issued ASU 2011-05, Comprehensive Income: Presentation of Comprehensive Income, the requirements of which increase in the
prominence of other comprehensive income in financial statements. The Company is currently assessing the impact of ASU 2011-05 and does not
expect adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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6. Oil and Gas Assets:
 
The following table summarizes the oil and gas assets by project:

Cost  Missouri (a)   Kentucky(b)   Montana (c)   Kansas (d)   Texas (e)   Other (f)   Total 
Balance, April 30,
2010  $ 24,936,309  $ 3,215,682  $ 686,209  $ 94,613  $ -  $ 1,354,996  $ 30,287,809 
Additions   1,516,465   102,364   -   4,745   -   -   1,623,574 
Depletion   (720,740)   -   -   -   -   -   (720,740)
Impairment   (9,066,590)   (3,179,174)   (602,913)   -   -   -   (12,848,677)
Foreign currency
translation   (301,444)   (38,872)   (8,296)   (1,144)   -   (16,380)   (366,136)
Balance, April 30,
2011  $ 16,364,000  $ 100,000  $ 75,000  $ 98,214  $ -  $ 1,338,616  $ 17,975,830 

Cost  Missouri (a)   Kentucky(b)   Montana (c)   Kansas (d)   Texas (e)   Other (f)   Total 
Balance, April 30,
2009  $ 22,462,582  $ 2,695,991  $ 1,273,963  $ 83,803  $ 251,460  $ 1,529,053  $ 28,296,852 
Additions   714,821   49,223   15,413   -   -   5,557   785,014 
Recoveries and
transfers   38,311   -   -   (3,200)   (323)   (4,719)   30,069 
Disposition   (2,011,529)   -   -   -   -   (379,548)   (2,391,077)
Depletion   (95,815)   -   -   -   -   -   (95,815)
Impairment   -   -   (816,696)   -   (290,237)   (55,612)   (1,162,545)
Foreign currency
translation   3,827,939   470,468   213,529   14,010   39,100   260,265   4,825,311 
Balance, April 30,
2010  $ 24,936,309  $ 3,215,682  $ 686,209  $ 94,613  $ -  $ 1,354,996  $ 30,287,809 

Cost  Missouri (a)   Kentucky(b)   Montana (c)   Kansas (d)   Texas (e)   Other (f)   Total 
Balance, April 30,
2008  $ 15,426,924  $ 43,241,600  $ 17,464,748  $ 3,912,739  $ 297,870  $ 1,567,335  $ 81,911,216 
Additions   9,842,427   1,729,644   1,351,879   289,679   578,319   916,508   14,708,456 
Impairment   -   (36,981,914)   (15,396,845)   (3,646,484)   (578,319)   (865,237)   (57,468,799)
Foreign currency
translation   (2,806,769)   (5,293,339)   (2,145,819)   (472,131)   (46,410)   (89,553)   (10,854,021)
Balance, April 30,
2009  $ 22,462,582  $ 2,695,991  $ 1,273,963  $ 83,803  $ 251,460  $ 1,529,053  $ 28,296,852 
 
During the year ended April 30, 2011, the Company capitalized $180,537 (2010 - $161,459, 2009 - $1,043,033), of administrative costs and $9,495 (2010
- $50,846, 2009 - $472,486), of stock-based compensation costs, which have been included as part of the Missouri project additions.
 
In conjunction with the Preferred B Option (note 11), for a period which is the latter of the Series B Preferred Shares (or the underlying investment rights to
buy Series B Preferred Shares) being outstanding or August 28, 2011, Mega Partners 1, LLC (“MP1”) held rights to acquire additional property interests as
follows:
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6. Oil and Gas Assets - continued

 
 • MP1 has the option to acquire up to a 20% proportionate interest in any of the Company’s properties outside of the Deerfield Area by paying a

proportionate 133% of the Company’s costs-to-date in respect of such property.
 
 • MP1 has the option to participate with the Company in any future oil and gas property acquisitions for a proportionate 20% share of any such

acquisitions.
 
(a) Missouri

 
Effective July 1, 2010, Gravis reacquired the 10% working interest in the Company’s Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects it had sold during
fiscal 2010 to MP1, in exchange for a 2.75% gross overriding royalty interest on the projects. Following this acquisition, Gravis has a 100% working
interest in both projects. At April 30, 2011, the Company had an average 98.3% working interest in approximately 38,119 gross acres of oil and gas
leases. Costs incurred relate to lease acquisition, geological and geophysical activities, exploration and delineation drilling and facilities for the
Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects. Subsequent to April 30, 2011, as a result of the Company’s financial position, cost factors and market
conditions it suspended operations on its Missouri oil and gas assets.  
 
MP1 retains the option to acquire up to a 10% interest in future projects within the Deerfield Area, on a project by project basis, by paying up to a US
$300,000 equalization payment per project and thereafter its proportionate share of all future development and operating costs in respect of such
project, including a proportionate share of facility costs.  
 
As at April 30, 2011, the Company performed a ceiling test calculation to assess the ceiling limitation of the proved oil properties in Missouri and
determined that its net capitalized costs for the Missouri projects exceeded the ceiling limitation. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment
charge of $9,066,590 (2010 - $nil; 2009 - $nil) on the Missouri projects.  
 
During 2011, the Company earned an average price of $59 per barrel of oil equivalent (boe) (2010 -$52.90; 2009 - $nil) and incurred operating
expenses of $130.70 per boe (2010 - $132.80; 2009 - $nil). The Company’s 2011 depletion rate was $27.15 per boe (2010 - $6.02; 2009 - $nil).

 
(b) Kentucky

 
The Company has a 37.5% working interest in the shallow rights and an additional 37.5% working interest in the deep rights in certain oil and gas
leases totaling approximately 29,147 unproved net mineral acres (10,930 net acres).  
 
On September 21, 2010, the Company and its 62.5% working interest partner (together the “Farmor”) signed a farm-out agreement for their interest in
5,100 net acres in the Little Muddy Area of Butler County, Kentucky.
 
On December 4, 2010, this farm-out agreement was expanded to cover the full 29,147 unproved net mineral acres. All acreage leased in Kentucky by
the Farmor and the Farmee in Butler, Warren, Edmonson and Muhlenberg counties shall be pooled and be subject to the new agreement, including
approximately 1,000 net acres owned by the Farmee which are contiguous with Farmor’s leases.
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6. Oil and Gas Assets - continued

 
 In 2011, the Farmee, at its sole cost, will drill, test and complete or abandon wells at locations of its choice on the joint lands, test production

technologies and construct any production facilities required. Upon Farmee recovering all of its project development costs out of 100% of the working
interest revenue attributable to each production project on the joint lands, the working interest in, and revenue from, each such project will be shared
50% by the Farmee and 50% by the Farmor (Gravis 18.75%, working interest partner 31.25%). During each year of the 4-year term of this agreement,
the Farmee is required to pay all lease rentals attributable to the joint lands and drill a sufficient number of wells to hold a minimum of 15% of the
joint lands. The parties will share any sale proceeds from the pooled lands, net of cost recovery, in proportion to their respective working interests.
 
During the year ended April 30, 2011, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $3,179,174 (2010 - $nil; 2009 - $36,981,914) on the
Kentucky project as a result of the lack of development activity by the Farmee and the curtailment of Company plans to continue exploration on the
project due to a lack of available capital. As a result of these factors and to help raise capital for other purposes the Company is seeking to depose of its
interest in this property. To date no offers have been received on the property and the amount that may be ultimately realized is uncertain.
 

(c) Montana
 
The Montana leases include an average 55.3% working interest in 15,688 unproved net mineral acres in Montana covering two prospects, Teton and
Devils Basin. 
 
During the year ended April 30, 2011 the Company recorded an impairment charge of $602,913 (2010 - $816,696, 2009 - $15,396,845) on the
Montana project. The impairment was recorded due to the expiry of leases and curtailment of plans to continue exploration on the lands in the near term
because of the lack of capital available for this project. The remaining costs represent the Company’s estimate of the fair value of the leases as
determined by sales in the area for long term leases with farmout potential and related seismic value.
 

(d) Kansas
 
The Chetopa project consists of a 100% interest in two oil and gas leases covering 385 net mineral acres located two miles south of Chetopa, Kansas.
The project was suspended in fiscal 2009. During the year ended April 30, 2011 the Company recorded an impairment charge of $nil (2010 - $nil,
2009 - $3,646,484). The carrying value of the Chetopa project represents the estimated salvage value of the equipment.
 

(e) Texas
 
The Company is a working interest owner in the Trinity Sands Project covering 34,000 unproved net mineral acres in Texas. The Company has an
average 39.8% working interest in 29,516 unproved mineral net acres (11,751 company net acres) in Texas comprised of a 50% working interest in
17,489 net mineral acres and 25% working interest in the remaining 12,027 net mineral acres.
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6. Oil and Gas Assets - continued
 
 Costs accumulated on the project relate to land acquisition, geological and geophysical activities and exploration drilling. During the year ended April

30, 2011, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $nil (2010 - $290,237; 2009 - $578,319). The impairment was recorded as the Company
has no plans to continue exploration on these lands.

 
(f) Other

 
Other costs consist of five used steam generators and related equipment. During the year ended April 30, 2010 the Company sold certain steam
generation equipment for cash proceeds of $379,548. During the year ended April 30, 2011, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $nil
(2010 -$55,612; 2009 - $865,237).

 
7. Long-term Receivable:
 
The $294,862 (April 30, 2010 - $307,620) long-term receivable is for capital and operating costs owing from MP1 on the Marmaton River and Grassy Creek
projects in Missouri. In July 2010, the Company and MP1 entered into an arrangement whereby the Company reacquired the remaining 10% working interest
in the projects in exchange for a 2.75% gross overriding royalty. Under this arrangement, the Company will recover the balance owing from 50% of the GOR
payments to the partner. During the time the receivable is outstanding, the Company earns interest on the outstanding balance at the U.S bank prime rate plus
3%. Included in the reported amount receivable is $15,050 of interest earned on the outstanding balance (2010 - nil; 2009 - nil). The Company expects to
recover approximately $100,000 of the long-term receivable in the next 12 months.
 
8. Natural Gas Purchase Line of Credit Agreement:
 
The Company had a natural gas purchase line of credit agreement for a line of credit for the sole purpose of buying natural gas to fuel the steam generators on
its Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects. The line of credit was repaid in February 2011 and then terminated.
 
9. Asset Retirement Obligations:
 
The total future asset retirement obligation was estimated based on the Company’s ownership interest in all wells and facilities, the estimated legal obligations
required to retire, dismantle, abandon and reclaim the wells and facilities and the estimated timing of such payments. The Company estimated the present
value of its asset retirement obligations at April 30, 2011 based on a future undiscounted liability of $1,208,292. These costs are expected to be incurred
within one to 24 years. A credit-adjusted risk-free discount rate of 10% and an inflation rate of 2% were used to calculate the present value.
 
Changes to the asset retirement obligation were as follows:
 
  2011  2010  2009 
Balance, beginning of year  $ 767,540  $ 858,286  $ 292,914 

Additions   42,197   -   542,694 
Disposition   -   (32,200)   - 
Revisions   (143,268)   (103,124)   (9,650)
Accretion   60,867   44,578   32,328 

   727,336   767,540   858,286 
Current portion for cash flows expected to be incurred within one year   (205,700)   (245,657)   - 
Long-term portion, end of year  $ 521,636  $ 521,883  $ 858,226 
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9. Asset Retirement Obligations - continued
 
As at April 30, 2011, the Company has $143,696 (2010 - $140,815; 2009 - $142,959) of reclamation deposits with authorities to secure certain
abandonment liabilities in Missouri.
 
Expected timing of asset retirement obligations:
 

Year Ended April 30    
2011  $ 220,000 
2012   40,000 
2013   - 
2014   122,200 
2015   135,600 
Thereafter   690,492 
   1,208,292 
Effect of discount   (480,956)
Total  $ 727,336 

 
10. Convertible Notes:
 
In July 2010, the Company closed a financing with a group of its existing shareholders for US $2.5 million of funding. The transactions included the
issuance of US $2.5 million in senior secured convertible notes (“Senior I Notes”), the conversion of the outstanding Preferred A Shares into US $2.5 million
junior secured convertible notes (“Junior Notes”) and the reacquisition of a 10% working interest in the Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects from MPI
in exchange for a 2.75% gross overriding royalty on these properties.
 
On December 28, 2010, January 31, 2011 and March 7, 2011, the Company issued a total of US $4.6 million senior secured convertible notes (“Senior II
Notes”).
 
The Senior I and Senior II Notes are senior obligations of the Company secured by the oil and gas assets in the state of Missouri. The Junior Notes are secured
by the same assets, but rank behind the Senior I and II Notes in priority.
 
The investors in the Senior I Notes and the Junior Notes were extended full anti-dilution protection on all convertible securities, including notes and warrants.
 
For a period of one year following the closing date of each note, the investors in the notes have a right to participate in future financings of the Company.
 
In the event the Company issues common shares or securities convertible into or exercisable for common shares at a price per share or conversion or exercise
price less than the conversion or exercise prices agreed to for each note, the conversion price of the notes and the exercise price of the warrants automatically
reduce to such lower prices. The number of warrants outstanding will be increased such that the expected exercise proceeds remain unchanged.
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10. Convertible Notes - continued
 
The Company incurred $327,752 of transaction costs for the issuance of Senior and Junior Notes which are presented as a deferred asset on the balance sheet
and recognized as an expense over the term of the Notes. During the year, the Company recognized $100,357 as expense, resulting in a deferred asset balance
of $223,276 as at April 30, 2011.
 
The table details the amounts recognized for the Senior and Junior Notes at the date of issuance:
 

  
Face value of

the Notes   

Carrying
amount of the

Notes   
Conversion

feature   Senior warrants 
Senior I Notes  $ 2,500,000  $ 1,245,490  $ 327,790  $ 926,720 
Senior II Notes   4,600,000   3,090,820   627,830   881,350 
   7,100,000   4,336,310   955,620   1,808,070 
Junior Notes   2,501,069   1,573,489   927,580   - 
  $ 9,601,069  $ 5,909,799  $ 1,883,200  $ 1,808,070 
 
The conversion feature and senior warrants amounts recognized are the fair values of the derivative components at issuance date, with the remainder of the
proceeds being attributed to the liability components of the notes.
 
The table details the continuity of convertible notes for the year ended April 30, 2011:
 

  
Face Value of the

Notes  
Carrying amount

of the Notes 
Balance, April 30, 2010  $ -  $ - 
Issued   9,601,069   5,909,799 
Interest and accretion   -   856,307 
Conversion of Senior I Notes   (150,000)   (99,843)
Balance, April 30, 2011   9,451,069   6,666,263 
Senior I Note current portion   (2,350,000)   (1,626,243)
Long-term portion  $ 7,101,069  $ 5,040,020 

 
(a) Senior I Notes

 
The Senior I Notes pay interest quarterly at an annual rate of 8% in cash or 12% in additional Senior I Notes at the Company’s option until January
30, 2011 and at the holder’s option thereafter. The Senior I Notes mature on January 30, 2012 and are convertible at any time at the holder’s option at a
conversion price of $0.50 per common share. The Senior I Notes are also redeemable in cash at any time at the Company’s option or convertible into
common shares at the Company’s option if certain conditions have been met. In the event of redemption before the end of the term, there will be a 5%
repayment premium. Note holders may elect to receive the redemption amount in common shares at the conversion price.
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10. Convertible Notes - continued
 
 In addition, one warrant was issued to the Senior I Note holders for each $0.50 principal amount of the Senior I Notes for a total of 5,000,000 Senior I

Warrants (“Senior I Warrants”). The Senior I Warrants were initially exercisable at $0.50 per share until July 29, 2013. On December 28, 2010, the
conversion price of the Senior I Notes was reduced to $0.20 per share and the number of Senior I Warrants was increased to 12,500,000 and the
exercise price reduced to $0.20 per share.
 
The fair values of the conversion feature and Senior I Warrants were estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model based on a risk-free rate of
0.29% - 0.84%, expected volatility of 75% - 100%, and an expected life of 18 months to 3 years.  
 
In March and April 2011, the Company issued 750,000 common shares on the conversion of $150,000 principal amount of Senior I Notes for which
$184,373 was credited to share capital (note 12) comprised of a $99,843 pro-rata portion of the liability and $84,530 of the conversion feature.

 
(b) Senior II Notes

 
The Senior II Notes pay interest quarterly at an annual rate of 8% in cash or 12% in additional Senior II Notes at the Company’s option for the first six
months after closing and at the holder’s option thereafter. The Senior II Notes mature 18 months after closing (June 28, 2012, July 31, 2012, or
September 7, 2012) and are convertible at any time at the holder’s option at a conversion price of $0.20 per common share. The Senior II Notes are
also redeemable in cash at any time at the Company’s option or convertible into common shares at the Company’s option if certain conditions have
been met. In the event of redemption before the end of the term, there will be a 15% premium due on the investment amount. Note holders may elect to
receive the redemption in common shares at the conversion price.  
 
In addition, one warrant has been issued to the Senior II Note holders for each $0.50 principal amount of the Senior Notes for a total of 9,200,000
Senior II Warrants (“Senior II Warrants”). The Senior II Warrants have an exercise price of $0.25 per share, of which 2,400,000 are exercisable until
December 28, 2013, 5,600,000 are exercisable until January 31, 2014 and 1,200,000 are exercisable until March 7, 2014.  
 
The fair values of the conversion feature and Senior II Warrants were estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model based on a risk-free rate of
0.28% - 1.15%, expected volatility of 120% - 130%, and an expected life of 18 months to 3 years.  
 
As at April 30, 2011, $658,000 of Senior II Note proceeds were held in an escrow account. This amount is made available to the Company upon
written request by the board of directors.

 
(c) Junior Notes

 
The Junior Notes pay interest quarterly at an annual rate of 5% in cash or 7.5% in additional Junior Notes at the Company’s option until January 30,
2011 and at the holder’s option thereafter. The Junior Notes mature on July 30, 2013 and are convertible at any time at the holder’s option at a
conversion price of $0.50 per common share. The Junior Notes are redeemable in cash at any time at the Company’s option or convertible into
common shares at the Company’s option if certain conditions have been met. In the event of redemption before the end of the term, there will be a 5%
premium due on the investment amount. Note holders may elect to receive the redemption amount in common shares at the conversion price.
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10. Convertible Notes - continued
 
 On December 28, 2010, the conversion price of the Junior Notes was reduced to $0.20 per share pursuant to the terms described above.  

 
The fair value of the conversion feature was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model based on a risk-free rate of 0.84%, expected volatility of
100%, and an expected life of 3 years.

 
11. Derivatives
 
The table summarizes the Company’s derivative instruments:
 

  
Preferred A

Warrants   
Preferred B

Option   

Note
conversion

features   Warrants   
Consulting

warrants   Total 
Balance, April 30, 2009  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 
Preferred A Warrants (a) & (d)   323,564   -   -   -   -   323,564 
Preferred B Option (b)   -   138,671   -   -   -   138,671 
Foreign currency translation   25,479   14,029   -   -   -   39,508 
Change in fair value   391,226   437,940   -   -   -   829,166 
Balance, April 30, 2010   740,269   590,640   -   -   -   1,330,909 
Preferred B Option (b)   -   10,894   -   -   -   10,894 
Consulting Warrants (c)   -   -   -   -   166,810   166,810 
Senior I Notes (note 10)   -   -   327,790   926,720   -   1,254,510 
Senior II Notes (note 10)   -   -   627,830   881,350   -   1,509,180 
Junior Notes (note 10)   -   -   927,580   -   -   927,580 
Conversion of Senior I Notes   -   -   (84,530)           (84,530)
Change in fair value   2,479,431   4,520,760   1,070,960   988,820   324,570   9,384,541 
Balance, April 30, 2011  $ 3,219,700  $ 5,122,294  $ 2,869,630  $ 2,796,890  $ 491,380  $ 14,499,894 
 
The fair values of derivative instruments were estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model based on the following weighted-average assumptions:
 

 Preferred A
Warrants

Preferred B
Option

Conversion
feature derivative Senior warrants

Consulting
warrants

Risk-free rate 1.01% 1.01% 0.32% 0.78% 0.90%
Expected volatility 100% 100% 104% 113% 122%
Expected life 3.3 years 5 years 1.4 years 2.5 years 2.6 years

 
The following table summarizes derivative warrants outstanding and exercisable as at April 30, 2011:
 

Issuance  
Number of

Warrants  
Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price  Weighted Avg. Life Remaining

Preferred A Warrants   19,250,000  $ 0.20 3.33 years
Senior I Warrants   12,500,000   0.20 2.25 years
Senior II Warrants   9,200,000   0.25 2.75 years
Consulting Warrants   2,720,000   0.25 2.56 years
   43,670,000  $ 0.21 2.85 years
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11. Derivatives - continued
 
(a) Preferred A Warrants:

 
In conjunction with the Preferred A Shares issuance in August 2009, the Company issued 1,540,000 warrants (the “Preferred A Warrants”) to the
Series A investors. Each Preferred A Warrant allows the holder to purchase a common share at $0.25 per share until August 28, 2014. After May 28,
2010 a cashless conversion option was available only with respect to Preferred A Warrant shares not included for unrestricted public resale in an
effective registration statement on the date notice of exercise is given to the Company. All of the Preferred A Warrants are outstanding as at April 30,
2011 and the Company has no effective registration statement in effect related to the Preferred A Warrant shares.  
 
The Preferred A Warrants have similar round-down provisions as the Senior warrants, as a result of which the number of Preferred A Warrants was
increased to 19,250,000 at an exercise price of $0.20 on December 28, 2010.

 
(b) Preferred B Option:

 
Junior Note holders received an option to purchase up to 20,000 Series B convertible preferred shares for a stated value of $100 each until November
24, 2010, convertible at US$1.00 per common share (the “Preferred B Option”).
 
In conjunction with the Senior Note financing, the Preferred B Option period was extended to May 24, 2011. The change in value of the options as a
result of the modification has been included in the change in fair value recognized in net loss. At April 30, 2011, no Preferred B Options had been
exercised.
 
The Company may force the conversion of Series B preferred shares after 12 months from the date of issuance, provided: i) production from the
Deerfield area is 3,000 barrels of oil in a 30 day period; ii) the common shares have traded at or above US$3.50 per share for the preceding 20
consecutive trading days; and iii) the daily average dollar trading volume has been in excess of US$1,500,000 per day for the same 20 day period.
Should Series B preferred shares having a stated value of not less than US$1.8 million be issued, the holders of such shares will have the right to
nominate one director to the board of directors of the Company.
 
In conjunction with the exercise of the Preferred B Option, the Company will issue up to 1,000,000 warrants (the “Preferred B Warrants”). Each
warrant allows the holder to purchase a common share at US$3.50 per share for a period of five years from issuance. After nine months from the date
of issuance, a cashless conversion option is provided only with respect to warrant shares not included for unrestricted public resale in an effective
registration statement on the date notice of exercise is given to the Company.
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11. Derivatives - continued
  

The Preferred B Warrants have similar round-down provisions as the Senior warrants, as a result of which the conversion price of the Series B
convertible preferred shares was reduced to $0.20 per share and the number of issuable Preferred B Warrants was increased to 17,500,000 at an
exercise price of $0.20 at December 28, 2010.
 
On May 24, 2011, the Preferred B Option exercise period was extended to June 7, 2011. On June 7, 2011, 17,600 Preferred B Options were exercised
for gross proceeds of $1.76 million and the remaining 2,400 Preferred B Options expired.

 
(c) Consulting Warrants:

 
During 2010, the Company issued the warrants to consultants for professional services:

         Fair Value  

Date of Issue  
Number of

Warrants   Exercise Price  Expiry Date  Issue Date   
April 30

2011 
July 30, 2010   720,000  $ 0.25(1) July 30, 2013  $ 81,510  $ 109,560 
December 28, 2010   2,000,000  $ 0.25 December 28, 2013   85,300   381,820 
   2,720,000       $ 166,810  $ 491,380 

 
 (1) On December 28, 2010, the number of warrants was increased from 360,000 to 720,000 and the exercise price was reduced from $0.50 to $0.25

per share pursuant to the terms described in note 10.

12. Share Capital:
 
The authorized capital of the Company consists of unlimited common shares without par value and 100,000,000 preferred shares without par value.
 
(a) Issued Common Shares:

 

  
Number of

Shares  Amount 
May 2000, cash received from escrow share issuances   225,000  $ 109,688 
August 2001, cash received from private placement   183,750   132,212 
July 2004, cancellation of escrow shares   (225,000)   (109,688)
February 2005, cash received from private placement   450,000   3,658 
December 2006, cash received from private placement   2,350,000   2,348,198 
December 2006, debt settlement   60,000   143,728 
January to March 2007, cash received from private placements   3,587,355   18,812,977 
March 2007, issued for services   37,500   772,247 
April 2007, acquisition of oil and gas assets   525,000   12,742,978 
May 2006 to April 2007, exercise of stock options   50,000   82,177 
May 2007 to November 2007, issued for services   37,500   782,434 
October 2007, acquisition of oil and gas assets   50,000   830,677 
October 2007, acquisition of oil and gas assets   475,000   7,955,559 
February 2008, conversion of exchange shares   950,000   1,689,127 
May 2007 to April 2008, exercise of stock options   84,459   1,409,940 
May 2007 to April 2008, exercise of warrants   672,602   11,147,811 
Share issue costs   -   (1,635,899)
Balance, April 30, 2008   9,513,166   57,217,824 
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12. Share Capital - continued
 
May 2008, cash received from private placement   2,675,000   15,907,637 
June 2008, conversion of promissory notes   741,256   1,870,071 
July 2008, acquisition of oil and gas assets   10,000   37,038 
May 2008 to April 2009, issued for services   206,500   926,977 
May 2008 to April 2009, exercise of warrants   178,525   3,936,737 
Share issue costs   -   (1,067,751)
Balance, April 30, 2009   13,324,447   78,828,533 
Shares issued for services   4,500   7,638 
Balance, April 30, 2010   13,328,947   78,836,171 
Conversion of Senior I Notes (note 10)   750,000   184,373 
Share issue costs   -   (4,119)
Balance, April 30, 2011   14,078,947  $ 79,016,425 
 
(b) Preferred A Shares:

  
Number of

Shares  Amount 
Issued, August 28, 2009   2,200  $ 2,200,000 
Preferred A Warrants and Preferred B Option (note 11)   -   (462,235)
Dividends   -   218,795 
Issue costs   -   (75,298)
Outstanding, April 30, 2010   2,200   1,881,262 
Dividends   -   82,274 
Outstanding, July 30, 2010   2,200   1,963,536 
Deficit adjustment on shareholder transaction   -   537,533 
Exchange for Junior notes (note 10)   (2,200)   (2,501,069)
Outstanding, April 30, 2011   -  $ - 
 
 
 Preferred A Shares

 
On August 28, 2009, the Company issued 2,200 Series A convertible preferred shares (the “Preferred A Shares”), with a stated value of US$100 for
gross proceeds of $2,200,000 and convertible into common shares at US$0.07 per common share.
 
The Preferred A Shares carried a cumulative quarterly dividend of 5% payable in cash or, at the Company’s discretion, of 7.5% payable in additional
Preferred A Shares. As at July 30, 2010, the Company had declared a total of $301,069 (April 30, 2010 - $218,795) of accumulated dividends. On
July 30, 2010, the Company exchanged 2,200 Preferred A Shares and US$301,069 of accumulated dividends for $2,501,069 of Junior Notes
through a transaction with existing shareholders. Dividends were calculated at 15% pursuant to the Preferred Share Subscription Agreement as the
Company was in default on paying dividends as they came due on a quarterly basis. In conjunction with the exchange, the Company recorded a
$537,533 distribution of accumulated deficit to shareholders for the difference between the $1,963,536 carrying value of the preferred shares and the
$2,501,069 fair value of the convertible note on the exchange date.
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13. Stock Based Compensation:
 
Gravis has two equity incentive plans. The number of shares reserved for issuance in aggregate under both plans is limited to 10% of the issued and
outstanding common shares of Gravis. The exercise price, term and vesting schedule of stock options granted are set by the board of directors at the time of
grant. Stock options granted under the plans can be exercised on a cashless basis, whereby the employee receives a lesser amount of shares in lieu of paying
the exercise price based on the quoted market price of the shares on the exercise date.
 
The following table summarizes the changes in stock options:
 
  Number of   Weighted Avg.  
  Options   Exercise Price  
Outstanding, April 30, 2008   965,000  $ 8.10 
Granted   647,300   2.70 
Forfeited   (410,100)   (5.30)
Cancelled   (454,350)   (8.90)
Outstanding, April 30, 2009   747,850  $ 4.10 
Granted   413,200   1.40 
Forfeited   (91,250)   (4.90)
Outstanding, April 30, 2010   1,069,800  $ 3.00 
Granted   1,302,000   0.50 
Expired   (213,500)   (4.90)
Forfeited   (304,000)   (2.50)
Cancelled   (450,000)   (2.80)
Outstanding, April 30, 2011   1,404,300  $ 0.60 
 
On May 26, 2008, the Company granted 237,950 stock options to certain employees and directors with a four-year term at exercise prices ranging from $4.20
to $6.20 per share. These options vest 25% six months from the grant date and 25% on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date.
 
On November 4, 2008, the Company cancelled 454,350 outstanding stock options held by employees and consultants that had a weighted average exercise
price of $8.90 per share and reissued 409,350 new stock options to the employees with an exercise price of $1.50 per share The modification resulted in an
incremental fair value of $180,760 to be expensed over the modified vesting period whereby 25% of the options vest six months from the grant date and 25%
of the options vest on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date.
 
During fiscal 2010, the Company granted 413,200 stock options to certain employees, consultants and directors with a three-year term at exercise prices
ranging from $1.00 to $1.80 per share. These options vest 25% six months from the grant date and 25% on each of the first, second and third anniversaries
of the grant date.
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13. Stock Based Compensation - continued
 
On January 1, 2011, the Company granted 500,000 stock options exercisable at $0.50 per share. These options vest in three equal tranches on the first,
second and third anniversaries of the grant date and expire on January 1, 2015.
 
On April 5, 2011, the Company granted 802,000 stock options exercisable at $0.50 per share of which 772,500 options vest immediately and 29,500 options
vest in three equal tranches on the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date. These options expire on April 5, 2014.
 
As at April 30, 2011, total compensation cost related to non-vested stock options not yet recognized is $110,420 which will be recognized over a weighted
average period of 3.2 years.
 
The fair value of options granted was determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the weighted average following assumptions:
 

 2011 2010 2009
Fair value per option $0.27 $1.58 $4.20
Expected volatility 130% 214% 83%
Risk-free rate 1.41% 2.57% 3.98%
Forfeiture rate 15% 10% 20%
Dividend rate 0% 0% 0%
Expected life 3.4 years 3 years 4 years

 
The following table summarizes information about the options outstanding and exercisable at April 30, 2011:

 Options Outstanding  Options Exercisable

Exercise Price Options
Weighted Avg. Life

Remaining
Weighted Avg. Exercise

Price  Options Weighted Avg. Exercise Price
$0.50 1,302,000 3.2 years $0.50  772,500 $0.50
$1.50 97,150 1.0 years $1.50  75,050 $1.50
$1.80 5,000 2.7 years $1.80  2,500 $1.80
$6.20 150 1.1 years $6.20  150 $6.20

 1,404,300 3.1 years $0.60  850,200 $0.60
Aggregate Intrinsic Value $ 65,100   $ 38,625 

 
In April 2011, the Company granted 480,000 warrants to certain officers and directors as recognition of past service contributions for which the $152,010
estimated fair value was recognized on the date of issuance. The warrants are exercisable at $0.50 per share until April 5, 2014

   Weighted Avg.
 Number of Weighted Avg. Life Remaining

 Warrants Exercise Price At April 30, 2011
Outstanding, April 30, 2010 - $ - -
Granted 480,000 0.50 2.9 years
Outstanding and exercisable, April 30, 2011 480,000 $ 0.50 2.9 years
Aggregate Intrinsic Value $ 24,000   
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13. Stock Based Compensation - continued
 
The fair value of compensation warrants was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: 0% dividends, 130% expected
volatility, 15% forfeiture rate, 1.33% risk-free interest rate and an expected life of 3 years.
 
14. Per Share Amounts:
 
There is no difference between the basic and diluted per share amounts as the effects of the convertible notes, derivative warrants, Preferred A Warrants,
Preferred B Option, stock options and compensation warrants are anti-dilutive.
 
15. General and Administrative Expenses:
 
General and administrative expenses for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010, 2009 and from development stage inception on November 1, 2006 to April 30,
2011 are as follows:

  

 
 
 

2011  

 
 
 

2010  

 
 
 

2009  

From Development
Stage Inception on

November 1, 2006
through April 30,

2011 
Stock-based compensation:             
Stock options  $ 575,835  $ 500,293  $ 784,887  $ 15,979,894 
Compensation warrants   152,010   -   -   152,010 
Consulting warrants   166,810   -   -   1,614,816 
Shares issued for services   -   7,638   222,533   1,955,486 
Less: capitalized portion   (9,495)   (50,846)   (472,486)   (1,549,968)
   885,160   457,085   534,934   18,152,238 
                 
Salaries and benefits   1,063,706   1,401,257   2,576,423   8,637,083 
Professional fees   1,104,290   460,101   439,370   2,877,864 
Investor relations   64,818   45,177   188,908   963,285 
Office and administration   325,259   938,534   1,136,719   3,482,801 
Information technology   44,364   52,754   213,229   469,970 
Less: capitalized portion   (180,537)   (161,459)   (1,043,033)   (2,541,281)
   2,421,900   2,736,364   3,511,616   13,889,722 
  $ 3,307,060  $ 3,193,449  $ 4,046,550  $ 32,041,960 
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16. Income Taxes:
 
The Company files federal and provincial income tax returns in Canada and federal, state and local income tax returns in the U.S.. The Company may be
subject to a reassessment of federal and provincial income taxes by Canadian tax authorities for a period of four years from the date of the original notice of
assessment in respect of any particular taxation year. For Canadian income tax returns, the open tax years range from 2007 to 2011. The U.S. federal statute of
limitations for assessment of income tax is closed for the tax years ending on or prior to April 30, 2008. In certain circumstances, the U.S. federal statute of
limitations can reach beyond the standard three-year period. U.S. state statutes of limitations for income tax assessment vary from state to state. Tax authorities
of Canada and U.S. have not audited any of the Company’s, or its subsidiaries’, income tax returns for the open taxation years noted above.
 
The Company determines its income tax benefits and net deferred income tax asset (liability) based on the Canadian federal and provincial statutory income
tax rates as the parent company is a Canadian corporation.
 
Income tax benefits differ from the amount that would be computed by applying the Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rates to the loss for
the year as follows:

  2011  2010  2009 
Loss for the year          
Canada  $ (13,027,198)  $ (4,355,736)  $ (1,785,482)
U.S.   (16,682,188)   (3,594,623)   (58,161,789)

   (29,709,386)   (7,950,359)   (59,947,271)
Statutory tax rate   27.5%   28.0%   29.0%
Expected income tax benefit   (8,170,081)   (2,226,101)   (17,384,709)
Increase (decrease) resulting from:             

Non-deductible stock-based compensation   243,419   127,915   154,668 
Other non-deductible expenses   2,602,228   16,906   12,930 
Effect of changes in tax rates   (1,182,836)   (76,387)   (3,459,889)
Effect of U.S. operations   197,573   (2,529,850)   (2,390,660)
Change in valuation allowance   6,309,697   4,687,517   23,067,660 

  $ -  $ -  $ - 
 
The components of the April 30 net deferred income tax asset (liability), after applying corporate income tax rates, are as follows:

  2011  2010  2009 
Net deferred income tax asset:          

Oil and gas and administrative assets - Canada  $ (337,824)  $ (356,868)  $ (145,269)
Oil and gas and administrative assets - U.S.   20,524,918   16,230,207   11,397,956 
Operating losses - Canada   3,654,294   3,250,256   2,552,917 
Operating losses - U.S.   15,507,383   13,880,655   13,457,487 
Share issue costs   198,663   211,746   73,220 
Unrealized loss on marketable securities   515,333   515,333   465,126 
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss   (878,640)   (856,899)   385,476 

   39,184,127   32,874,430   28,186,913 
Less: valuation allowance   (39,184,127)   (32,874,430)   (28,186,913)

  $ -  $ -  $ - 
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16. Income Taxes - continued
 
The Company has accumulated operating losses which expire over the following years:

  Canada  U.S. 
2014  $ 154,800  $ - 
2015   73,700   - 
2026   116,600   - 
2027   1,687,700   1,738,600 
Thereafter   12,584,400   42,568,400 
Total  $ 14,617,200  $ 44,307,000 

 
17. Supplemental Cash Flow Information:

  

 
 
 

2011  

 
 
 

2010  

 
 
 

2009  

From Development
Stage Inception on

November 1, 2006
through April 30,

2011 
Interest received  $ 1,163  $ 6,073  $ 135,190  $ 1,029,891 
Interest paid   50,083   -   -   50,083 
Income taxes paid   -   -   -   - 
Oil and gas assets acquired through the issuance of common shares (note 12)   -   -   -   21,566,252 
 
18. Related Party Transactions:
 
All related party transactions were in the normal course of operations and measured at fair value, which is the amount agreed upon by the transacting parties.
In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Company had the following related party transaction:
 
During the years ended April 30, 2011, the Company paid $104,406 (2010 - $95,919; 2009 - $107,748) in professional fees to a law firm, where the former
corporate secretary of the Company is a partner. As at April 30, 2011, accounts payable and accrued liabilities included $522 (2010 - $34,454; 2009 -
$2,992) due to the law firm.
 
19. Segmented Information:
 
Gravis presently has one reportable business segment, that being oil and gas development. Gravis’ corporate and administrative operations are conducted in
both Canada and the United States, while all of the oil and gas properties and operations are located in the United States.

  Year ended April 30, 2011  
  Canada   USA   Consolidated  
Revenue  $ 16,213  $ 1,565,963  $ 1,582,176 
Expenses   13,043,411   18,248,151   31,291,562 
Loss   (13,027,198)   (16,682,188)   (29,709,386)
Oil and gas assets   1,303,158   16,672,672   17,975,830 
Administrative assets   8,333   11,165   19,498 
Oil and gas asset additions   -   1,623,574   1,623,574 
Oil and gas asset impairment   -   (12,848,677)   (12,848,677)
Administrative asset additions   3,054   -   3,054 
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19. Segmented Information - continued
 
  Year ended April 30, 2010
  Canada  USA  Consolidated
Revenue  $ 4,224  $ 1,576,999  $ 1,581,223 
Expenses   4,359,960   5,171,622   9,531,582 
Loss   (4,355,736)   (3,594,623)   (7,950,359)
Oil and gas assets   1,319,538   28,968,271   30,287,809 
Administrative assets   65,077   14,886   79,963 
Oil and gas asset additions   1,515   783,499   785,014 
Oil and gas dispositions and recoveries   (384,267)   (1,976,741)   (2,361,008)
Oil and gas asset impairment   (55,612)   (1,106,933)   (1,162,545)
Administrative asset additions   -   7,401   7,401 

  
 

Year ended April 30, 2009
  Canada  USA  Consolidated
Revenue  $ 118,540  $ 16,650  $ 135,190 
Expenses   1,904,023   58,178,438   60,082,461 
Loss   (1,785,482)   (58,161,789)   (59,947,271)
Oil and gas assets   1,529,053   26,767,798   28,296,851 
Administrative assets   188,503   9,337   197,840 
Oil and gas asset additions   916,508   13,791,947   14,708,455 
Oil and gas asset impairment   -   (57,468,799)   (57,468,799)
Administrative asset additions   27,151   9,736   36,887 
 
20. Financial Instruments:
 
Expected maturities of the Company’s financial instruments are presented in the following table:
 
April 30  2012  2013  2014  2015  2016 
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,179,838  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 
Cash in escrow   658,000   -   -   -   - 
Accounts receivable   231,316   -   -   -   - 
Long-term receivable   100,000   194,862   -   -   - 
  $ 2,169,154  $ 194,862  $ -  $ -  $ - 
                     
April 30   2012   2013   2014   2015   2016 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 1,251,736  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 
Interest payable   505,696   -   -   -   - 
Liability portion of convertible notes   1,626,243   3,293,928   1,746,092   -   - 
Derivatives   -   1,568,910   4,588,990   3,219,700   5,122,294 
  $ 3,383,675  $ 4,862,838  $ 6,335,082  $ 3,219,700  $ 5,122,294 
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20. Financial Instruments - continued
 
The Company has exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks from its use of financial instruments. This note provides information about the Company's
exposure to each of these risks, and the Company's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing such risks. The board of directors has
overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company's risk management framework.
 
(a) Credit risk:

 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.
As at April 30, 2010, the maximum credit exposure is the carrying amount of accounts receivable of $231,316 and the long-term receivable of
$294,862 (2010 - accounts receivable $457,071; long-term receivable $307,620), each of which is receivable from a single counterparty. Both
counterparties are active in the exploration for and extraction of oil and natural gas, and are therefore largely exposed to the same risks as the Company.
 
The majority of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held in US bank deposit accounts and the Company views credit risk on cash and
cash equivalents as minimal.
 
The Company intends to minimize exposure to credit risk by only transacting with reputable counterparties.
 
There is a risk that the long term receivable will not be realized if the Company’s Marmaton and Grassy properties do not produce sufficient oil and
thereby result in no gross overriding royalties being owed by the Company from which the receivable is recovered (note 6).
 
The Company did not provide for any doubtful accounts nor did it write-off any receivables during the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009.
The Company would only choose to write-off a receivable balance (as opposed to providing an allowance) after all reasonable avenues of collection had
been exhausted.
 
As at April 30, 2011, the Company’s accounts receivable is aged between 30 and 60 days.

 
(b) Liquidity risk:

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in paying obligations as they come due. The Company's financial liabilities
consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Accounts payable consists of invoices payable to trade suppliers for capital expenditures, field
operating activities, and general corporate expenses. The Company processes invoices within a normal payment period.
 
The Company prepares operations and capital expenditure budgets which are regularly monitored and updated. As well, the Company utilizes
authorizations for expenditures on projects to manage capital expenditures. As discussed, the Company will have to attract additional financing to be
able to meet its obligations.
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20. Financial Instruments - continued
 
(c) Commodity price risk:

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in commodity prices, will affect the Company's oil sales, cash flows or the value of its financial instruments.
The objective of commodity price risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing
returns.
 
The Company is exposed to changes in oil prices which impact its revenues and to changes in natural gas process which impact its operating
expenses.
 
The Company does not utilize financial derivatives or other contracts to manage commodity price risks.

 
(d) Foreign currency exchange rate risk:

 
The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations as it has cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable denominated in Canadian dollars.
A 1% change in foreign exchange rates between the US and Canadian dollars would have resulted in a change of approximately $2,425 in the net loss
in 2011 (2010 - $2,570). There are no exchange rate contracts in place.

 
(e) Interest rate risk:

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. Interest earned on cash and cash
equivalents is at nominal rates and therefore, the Company does not consider interest rate risk to be significant. The Company has no variable interest-
bearing financial liabilities as at April 30, 2011 and 2010. Interest rate risk on the long-term receivable is not considered significant. There are no
interest rate swaps or financial contracts in place.

 
(f) Share price risk:

 
Share price risk is the risk that changes in the market price of the Company’s shares will affect the fair value of its derivatives. A 5% change in the
market price of the Company’s shares would have resulted in a change of approximately $1,073,700 in the net loss (2010 - $94,000).

 
21. Fair Value Measurements:
 
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, cash in escrow, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate
fair values due to their short terms to maturity. The long-term receivable is reported at amortized cost which approximates fair value.
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21. Fair Value Measurements - continued
 
Gravis’ financial liabilities are reported at fair value as presented in the following tables:

        Fair Value Measurements Using:  

  
Carrying
Amount   

Total Fair
Value   Level 1 Inputs   

Level 2
Inputs   Level 3 Inputs  

April 30, 2011                
Liability portion of convertible notes:                

Current portion  $ 1,626,243  $ 2,049,760  $ -  $ 2,049,760  $ - 
Long-term portion   5,040,020   4,464,990   -   4,464,990   - 

  $ 6,666,263  $ 6,514,750  $ -  $ 6,514,750  $ - 
                     
April 30, 2011                     
Derivatives:                     

Consulting warrants  $ 491,380  $ 491,380  $ -  $ -  $ 491,380 
Senior I Notes   1,631,850   1,631,850   -   -   1,631,850 
Senior II Notes   2,733,950   2,733,950   -   -   2,733,950 
Junior Notes   1,300,720   1,300,720   -   -   1,300,720 
Preferred A Warrants   3,219,700   3,219,700   -   -   3,219,700 
Preferred B Option   5,122,294   5,122,294   -   -   5,122,294 

  $ 14,499,894  $ 14,499,894  $ -  $ -  $ 14,499,894 
 
        Fair Value Measurements Using:  

  
Carrying
Amount   

Total Fair
Value   Level 1 Inputs   

Level 2
Inputs   Level 3 Inputs  

April 30, 2010                
Derivatives:                
Preferred A Warrants  $ 740,269  $ 740,269   -   -  $ 740,269 
Preferred B Option   590,640   590,640   -   -   590,640 
  $ 1,330,909  $ 1,330,909  $ -  $ -  $ 1,330,909 
 
The effect of changes in the fair value of the derivatives is included in note 11.
 
22. Contingency and Contractual Obligations:
 
(a) Contingency:

 
In January 2010, the Company experienced a flood in its office premises as a result of a broken water pipe. There was significant damage to the
premises rendering them unusable until remediation had been completed by the landlord. Pursuant to the lease contract, the Company has asserted that
rent should be abated during the remediation process and accordingly, the Company has not paid rent since December 2009. During the remediation
process, the Company engaged an independent environmental testing company to test for air quality and for the existence of other potentially hazardous
conditions. The testing revealed the existence of potentially hazardous mould and the consultant provided specific written instructions for the effective
remediation of the premises. During the remediation process, the landlord did not follow the consultant’s instructions and correct the potentially
hazardous mould situation and subsequently in June 2010 gave notice and declared the premises to be ready for occupancy. The Company re-engaged
the consultant to re-test the premises and the testing results again revealed the presence of potentially hazardous mould. The Company has determined
that the premises are not fit for re-occupancy and considers the landlord to be in default of the lease and the lease terminated.  
 
The landlord disputes the Company’s position and has given notice that it considers the Company to be in default of the lease for failure to re-occupy
the premises.
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22. Contingency and Contractual Obligations - continued
 
 In addition, the landlord has claimed that the Company owes monthly rent for the premises from January 2010 to June 30, 2010 in the amount of

$247,348 (Cdn$234,098) and has claimed that, as a result of the alleged default, pursuant to the terms of the lease, the Company owes three months
accelerated rent in the amount of $114,837 (Cdn$108,685). The landlord has also asserted that the Company would be liable for an amount up to the
full lease obligation of $1,596,329 (Cdn$1,510,816) which otherwise would have been due as follows:

 
Year Ended April 30    

2011  $ 473,055 
2012   473,055 
2013   473,055 
2014   177,164 

Thereafter   - 
Total  $ 1,596,329 

 
 To date, no legal action has been commenced by the landlord and the cost, if any, to the Company is not determinable. Accordingly, no amounts

related to rent or the disputed lease obligation have been recorded in these financial statements.
 
(b) Severance Obligation:

 
At April 30, 2011 pursuant to employment agreements with a senior officer, the Company is obligated to pay up to $206,080 (Cdn$195,040) under
certain events around employment termination.

 
23. Subsequent Events:
 
(a) On May 24, 2011, the Preferred B Option period was extended to June 7, 2011 (note 10).
 
(b) In June 2011, the Company raised $1.76 million pursuant to the exercise of 17,600 Preferred B Options and issued 15,399,125 Preferred B

Warrants exercisable at $0.20 until June 7, 2016. The remaining 2,400 Preferred B Options expired unexercised.
 
(c) Effective June 20, 2011, the Company’s share capital was consolidated on a one-for-ten basis which has been reflected retrospectively throughout these

consolidated financial statements.
 
24. Comparative Figures:
 
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current presentation.
 
25. Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to US GAAP:
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with US GAAP, which differs in certain respects from Canadian GAAP for matters
detailed in the following notes and tables.
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25. Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to US GAAP - continued
 
Consolidated Balance Sheets:

  As at April 30, 2011   As at April 30, 2010  
  US GAAP   Canadian GAAP   US GAAP   Canadian GAAP  
             
Assets             
Current assets             
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,179,838  $ 1,179,838  $ 150,005  $ 150,005 
Cash in escrow   658,000   658,000   -   - 
Accounts receivable   231,316   231,316   457,071   457,071 
Prepaid expenses and deposits   92,196   92,196   173,288   173,288 
   2,161,350   2,161,350   780,364   780,364 
Oil and gas assets (note (a)(vii))   17,975,830   16,782,655   30,287,809   24,011,678 
Administrative assets   19,498   19,498   79,963   79,963 
Reclamation deposits   143,696   143,696   140,815   140,815 
Long-term receivable   294,862   294,862   307,620   307,620 
Deferred transaction costs (note (a)(ix))   223,276   -   -   - 
  $ 20,818,512  $ 19,402,061  $ 31,596,571  $ 25,320,440 
                 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity                 
Current liabilities                 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 1,251,736  $ 1,251,736  $ 744,408  $ 744,408 
Interest payable   505,696   505,696   -   - 
Asset retirement obligations   205,700   205,700   245,657   245,657 
Current liability portion of convertible notes (note (a)(ix))   1,626,243   2,231,288   -   - 
   3,589,375   4,194,420   990,065   990,065 
Asset retirement obligations   521,636   521,636   521,883   521,883 
Liability portion of convertible notes (note (a)(ix))   5,040,020   6,002,554   -   - 
Derivatives (note (a)(ix))   14,499,894   -   1,330,909   - 
   23,650,925   10,718,610   2,842,857   1,511,948 
                 
Shareholders’ Deficit                 
Common shares   79,016,425   77,467,613   78,836,171   77,330,365 
Preferred A shares   -   -   1,881,262   1,881,262 
Warrants and options on preferred shares   -   1,010,500   -   462,235 
Equity portion of convertible notes   -   817,608         
Contributed surplus   54,341,320   21,616,747   53,613,475   20,888,902 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (272,156)   500,027   11,615   578,686 
Accumulated deficit from prior operations   (443,861)   (443,861)   (443,861)   (443,861)
Accumulated deficit from development stage   (135,474,141)   (92,285,183)   (105,144,948)   (76,889,097)
   (2,832,413)   8,683,451   28,753,714   23,808,492 
  $ 20,818,512  $ 19,402,061  $ 31,596,571  $ 25,320,440 
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25. Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to US GAAP - continued
 
Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ (Deficit) Equity:
 

As at April 30, 2011  

  Common shares  

Warrants and
options on

preferred shares   

Equity
portion of
convertible

notes   
Contributed

surplus   

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss   

Accumulated
deficit from
development

stage  
US GAAP  $ 79,016,425  $ -  $ -  $ 54,341,320  $ (272,156)  $ (135,474,141)
Adjustments for:                         
Re-class deficit adjustment on related
party
acquisitions (note (a)(i))   -   -   -   -   -   (16,231,971)
Property acquisitions (note (a)(ii))   (10,081,795)   (19,512,150)   -   -   -   - 
Stock-compensation transactions (note
(a)(ii))   (799,945)   (4,389,874)   -   (7,407,376)   -   - 
Transfer on stock option exercise (note
(a)(ii))   (1,168,781)   -   -   1,168,781   -   - 
Transfer on warrant exercise (note
(a)(ii))   (6,963,180)   6,963,180   -   -   -   - 
Transfer on unit exercise (note (a)(ii))   (194,978)   -   -   194,978   -   - 
Transfer on warrant expiry (note
(a)(ii))   -   25,214,191   -   (25,214,191)   -   - 
Stock-based compensation on stock
options (note (a)(ii))   -   -   -   -   -   11,565,539 
Less capitalized stock-based
compensation (note (a)(ii))   -   -   -   -   -   (878,764)
Stock-based compensation on shares
issued for services (note (a)(ii))   -   -   -   -   -   237,872 
Value of warrants on private
placements (note (a)(iii))   9,742,112   (8,275,347)   -   (1,466,765)   -   - 
Reduced interest expense on convertible
promissory notes (note (a)(iv))   100,011   -   -   -   -   (100,011)
Re-measure exchangeable shares (note
(a)(v))   7,860,750   -   -   -   -   (18,387,365)
Revenue, net of costs (note (a)(vi))   -   -   -   -   -   5,099,785 
Reduced impairment (note (a)(vii))   -   -   -   -   -   51,115,723 
Derivatives (notes (a)(viii))   -   473,129               7,829,357 
Derivatives (notes (a)(ix))   -   537,371   817,608   -   -   2,384,350 
Reduced interest on convertible notes
(note (a)(ix))   -   -   -   -   -   554,443 
Exercise of convertible notes (note
(a)(ix))   (43,006)   -   -   -   -   - 
Foreign exchange translation   -   -   -   -   772,183   - 
Canadian GAAP  $ 77,467,613  $ 1,010,500  $ 817,608  $ 21,616,747  $ 500,027  $ (92,285,183)
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25. Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to US GAAP - continued
 

As at April 30, 2010  

  
Common

shares   
Preferred A

shares   

Warrants and
options on

preferred shares   
Contributed

surplus   

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss   

Accumulated
deficit from
development

stage  
US GAAP  $ 78,836,171  $ 1,881,262  $ -  $ 53,613,475  $ 11,615  $ (105,144,948)
Adjustments for:                         
Re-class deficit adjustment on related
party
acquisitions (note (a)(i))   -   -   -   -   -   (16,231,971)
Property acquisitions (note (a)(ii))   (10,081,795)   -   (19,512,150)   -   -   - 
Stock-compensation transactions (note
(a)(ii))   (799,945)   -   (4,389,874)   (7,407,376)   -   - 
Transfer on stock option exercise (note
(a)(ii))   (1,168,781)   -   -   1,168,781   -   - 
Transfer on warrant exercise (note
(a)(ii))   (6,963,180)   -   6,963,180   -   -   - 
Transfer on unit exercise (note (a)(ii))   (194,978)   -   -   194,978   -   - 
Transfer on warrant expiry (note
(a)(ii))   -   -   25,214,191   (25,214,191)   -   - 
Stock-based compensation on stock
options (note (a)(ii))   -   -   -   -   -   11,565,539 
Less capitalized stock-based
compensation (note (a)(ii))   -   -   -   -   -   (878,764)
Stock-based compensation on shares
issued for services (note (a)(ii))   -   -   -   -   -   237,872 
Value of warrants on private
placements (note (a)(iii))   9,742,112   -   (8,275,347)   (1,466,765)   -   - 
Reduced interest expense on convertible
promissory notes (note (a)(iv))   100,011   -   -   -   -   (100,011)
Re-measure exchangeable shares (note
(a)(v))   7,860,750   -   -   -   -   (18,387,365)
Revenue, net of costs (note (a)(vi))   -   -   -   -   -   2,474,262 
Reduced impairment (note (a)(vii))   -   -   -   -   -   48,747,123 
Fair value adjustments on derivatives
(note (a)(viii))   -   -   462,235   -   -   829,166 
Foreign exchange translation   -   -   -   -   567,071   - 
Canadian GAAP  $ 77,330,365  $ 1,881,262  $ 462,235  $ 20,888,902  $ 578,686  $ (76,889,097)
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25. Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to US GAAP - continued
 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss:
 
  Year Ended April 30  
  2011   2010   2009  
US GAAP loss for the year  $ (29,709,386)  $ (7,950,359)  $ (59,947,271)
Adjustments for:             

Increased stock-based compensation expense (note (a)(ii))   -   -   (78,040)
Increased interest expense on convertible promissory notes (note (a)(iv))   -   -   (8,528)
Revenue, net of costs (note (a)(vi))   2,625,523   2,474,262   - 
Reduced impairment (note (a)(vii))   2,368,600   -   27,525,464 
Fair value adjustments on derivatives (note (a)(viii) & (ix))   9,395,435   829,166   - 
Reduced interest expense on convertible notes (note (a)(ix))   554,443   -   - 

Total adjustments   14,944,001   3,303,428   27,438,896 
Canadian GAAP comprehensive loss for the year  $ (14,765,385)  $ (4,646,931)  $ (32,508,375)
             
Canadian GAAP net loss per share - basic and diluted  $ (1.10)  $ (0.35)  $ (2.49)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic and diluted   13,387,166   13,325,545   13,035,892 
 
(a) Adjustments:
 

i) There is a difference in the measurement basis used to record related party transactions under Canadian GAAP compared to U.S. GAAP
when the transacting entities are not under common control. Under Canadian GAAP, related party transactions are recorded at their carrying
amounts unless independent evidence exists to support the exchange amount. Since independent evidence did not exist for the exchange
amounts of the related party acquisitions of Trinity, Deerfield Missouri and the assets of Deerfield Kansas, they were recorded at their
carrying amounts. Under U.S. GAAP, only related party transactions between transacting entities under common control are recorded at
their carrying amount. As common control did not exist between MegaWest and Trinity, Deerfield Missouri and Deerfield Kansas, these
acquisitions were recorded at their exchange amounts. As a result, the $16,231,971 difference between the carrying amount and transaction
amount at April 30, 2008 was re-classified from oil and gas assets under U.S. GAAP to deficit under Canadian GAAP. There were no
related party transactions of this nature during the years ended April 30, 2009, 2010 and 2011.

 
ii) There is a difference in determining the fair value of shares issued for certain stock-based transactions under Canadian GAAP and U.S.

GAAP if the market for the Company's shares is not active and liquid. Under Canadian GAAP, if the market for the Company's shares is
not active and liquid, fair value is established using valuation techniques that include recent arm's length market transactions. Under U.S.
GAAP, regulatory interpretation requires the use of quoted market prices as fair value. In January 2008, the Company’s market for the
shares became active and liquid. As a result, this GAAP difference is no longer applicable to share-based transactions occurring after
January 2008.

   
 As a result of this GAAP difference, the amount recorded for oil and gas acquisitions prior to January 2008 was lower under Canadian GAAP for the

portion of consideration comprised of common shares ($10,081,795) and warrants ($19,512,150).
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25. Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to US GAAP - continued

 
As a result of this GAAP difference, when stock options, warrants and unit rights issued prior to January 2008 are exercised, there was an adjustment
under Canadian GAAP related to the transfer from contributed surplus and warrants to share capital.

 
 • During the years ended April 30, 2011 and 2010, there were no options or warrants exercised.
 
 • During the year ended April 30, 2009, 1,900,000 incentive warrants were exercised resulting in an reduction of $2,362,223 for the transfer to

share capital from warrants. During the years ended April 30, 2008 and 2007, 1,525,000 options were exercised resulting in a reduction of
$1,168,781 for the transfer to share capital from contributed surplus, 6,925,000 warrants were exercised resulting in a reduction of
$4,600,957 for the transfer to share capital from warrants and 180,000 unit rights were exercised resulting in reduction of $194,978 for the
transfer to share capital from contributed surplus.

   
 As a result of this GAAP difference, when warrants issued prior to January 2008 expired, there was an adjustment under Canadian GAAP related to

the transfer from warrants to contributed surplus.
 
 • During the year ended April 30, 2009, 35,607,623 warrants expired resulting in a reduction of $25,214,191 for the transfer to contributed

surplus from warrants.
 
 As a result of this GAAP difference, when stock options or shares were issued as compensation prior to January 2008, there was an adjustment under

Canadian GAAP related to the amount recorded as stock-based compensation.
 
 • During the year ended April 30, 2009, stock-based compensation on stock options was reduced by $78,040. In years prior to April 30, 2009,

stock-based compensation on stock options was reduced by $11,487,499 of which $878,764 was capitalized to oil and gas assets. Stock-
based compensation on shares issued for services was reduced by $237,872.

 
iii) The value ascribed to the share purchase warrants issued in connection with the unit private placements is adjusted under Canadian GAAP.

Under Canadian GAAP, if the market for the Company's shares is not active and liquid, fair value is established using valuation
techniques that include recent arm's length market transactions. Under U.S. GAAP, the OTC exchange quoted price is used for the market
price input in the option pricing model. This resulted in an adjustment of $8,275,347 to share capital from warrants and $1,466,765 to
share capital from contributed surplus for the stock-based issue costs.

 
 In January 2008, the Company’s market for the shares became active and liquid. As a result, this GAAP difference is no longer applicable to share-

based transactions occurring after January 2008.
 

iv) Prior to the conversion of convertible promissory notes in June 2008, there was a difference in the treatment of the notes under Canadian
GAAP compared to U.S. GAAP. Under U.S. GAAP, the convertible promissory notes are classified as liability, and interest is accrued at
the contractual rate.
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25. Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to US GAAP - continued
   
 Under Canadian GAAP, the conversion feature of the notes is valued using an option pricing model and classified as shareholders' equity. The

residual amount is classified as a liability and accretion is recorded to bring the liability component to its face value at maturity using the effective
interest rate method.
   
This resulted in a reduction of interest expense and the re-classification of the liability component for the conversion feature to equity.

 
v) There is a difference in the classification and re-measurement of exchangeable shares under Canadian GAAP compared to U.S. GAAP.

Under U.S. GAAP, the exchangeable shares components are not separated, rather they are accounted for as temporary equity. The
exchangeable shares are measured at fair value on issuance and for each reporting period, the exchangeable shares are re-measured to their
redemption value, and the resulting difference is recognized as an adjustment to accumulated deficit.

   
 Under Canadian GAAP, exchangeable shares are split between the equity and liability components. The equity component of the exchangeable shares

is valued using an option pricing model and classified as shareholders' equity. The residual amount is classified as a liability at its fair value.
  
This resulted in a $10,526,515 reduction of oil and gas assets and a $7,860,750 increase of share capital and a $18,387,365 reduction of
accumulated deficit.

 
vi) Production revenue and costs during the development stage are included as part of oil and gas assets under Canadian GAAP. Under U.S.

GAAP, production revenue and related costs are charged to income as if the Company was already in the production stage. The
reclassification of revenue, net of costs, resulted in a decrease in oil and gas assets and a charge to the consolidated statement of operations.

  Year Ended April 30  
  2011   2010   2009  
Production revenue  $ 1,565,963  $ 1,575,150  $ - 
Operating costs   (3,470,746)  (3,955,084)  - 
   (1,904,783)  (2,379,934)  - 
Depletion   (720,740)  (94,328)  - 
Revenue, net of costs  $ (2,625,523) $ (2,474,262) $ - 

 
 This GAAP difference had the following impact on cash flows:
 

Year ended April 30, 2011  U.S. GAAP   GAAP Adjustment   Canadian GAAP  
Cash flows used by operating activities  $ (3,716,843)  $ 1,904,783  $ (1,812,060)
Cash flows used by investing activities  $ (1,367,825)  $ (1,904,783)  $ (3,272,608)

Year ended April 30, 2010  U.S. GAAP   GAAP Adjustment   Canadian GAAP  
Cash flows used by operating activities  $ (4,941,145)  $ 2,379,934  $ (2,561,211)
Cash flows from (used by) investing activities  $ 1,475,848  $ (2,379,934)  $ (904,086)

 
 
 
 
 
 

F-40

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 20-F/A, June 21, 2012 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
 
GRAVIS OIL CORPORATION (a development stage enterprise
(formerly MegaWest Energy Corp.)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended April 30, 2011
(United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

 
25. Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to US GAAP - continued
 

vii) As described in notes (a)(i), (ii), (iv), (v) and (vi), there have been adjustments in the values attributed to oil and gas assets relating to
certain share capital and related party transactions.

 
 
 As at April 30, 2011 and in prior years, the fair value of oil and gas assets was determined to be the same for Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP for all

projects, with the exception of the Missouri project. As a result, impairment was reduced under Canadian GAAP in 2011, 2009 and 2008.
 
Oil and Gas Assets:

 
As at April 30  2011   2010  
US GAAP:  $ 17,975,830  $ 30,287,809 
Adjustments for:         
Measuring oil and gas assets at exchange amounts for related party acquisitions (a)(i)   (16,231,971)   (16,231,971)
Re-measure exchange shares (a)(ii)   (10,081,795)   (10,081,795)
Re-measure exchange warrants (a)(ii)   (19,512,150)   (19,512,150)
Equity portion of exchangeable shares (a)(ii)   (10,526,615)   (10,526,615)
Additional capitalized stock-based compensation (a)(v)   (878,764)   (878,764)
Revenue, net of costs (a)(vi)   5,099,785   2,474,262 
Reduced impairment   51,115,723   48,747,123 
Foreign exchange translation   (177,388)   (266,221)
Canadian GAAP  $ 16,782,655  $ 24,011,678 
 

viii) There is a difference in the classification and measurement of warrants and options on preferred shares under U.S. GAAP compared to
Canadian GAAP. Under U.S. GAAP, warrants and options on preferred shares are a derivative classified as a liability when their terms
include a round-down provision. The Company issued warrants and options on preferred shares in August 2009 which are measured at
fair value on issuance and for each reporting period, they are re-measured. The resulting difference is recognized as an adjustment to the
consolidated statement of operations.

 
 Under Canadian GAAP, warrants and options on preferred shares are valued on the date of issuance using an option pricing model and classified as

shareholders’ equity.
 
This resulted in a reclassification from liability to equity of $473,129 (April 30, 2010 - $462,235) and a fair value reduction of $7,829,357 (April
30, 2010 - $829,166) credited to the consolidated statement of operations.

 
ix) There is a difference in the classification and measurement of the conversion feature of convertible notes and warrants under U.S. GAAP

compared to Canadian GAAP. Under U.S. GAAP, the conversion feature and warrants are a derivative classified as a liability when their
terms include a down-round provision. The Company issued convertible notes and warrants during the year ended April 30, 2011 for which
the conversion feature and warrants are measured at fair value on issuance and for each reporting period, they are re-measured. The resulting
difference is recognized as an adjustment to the consolidated statement of operations.
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25. Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to US GAAP - continued
   
 Under Canadian GAAP, the conversion feature and warrants are valued on the date of issuance using an option pricing model and classified as

shareholders’ equity.
  
In addition, under U.S. GAAP, transaction costs are reported as a deferred asset and amortized to expense over the term of the convertible notes. Under
Canadian GAAP, convertible note transaction costs are reported as an offset to the liability portion of convertible notes and recognized as an expense in
the consolidated statement of operations using the effective interest rate method.
   
These differences resulted in:

 
 • A reclassification from liability to equity and a fair value reduction of $2,384,350 credited to the consolidated statement of operations;
 
 • A $817,608 adjustment to the equity portion of convertible notes and a $537,371 adjustment to equity for the value of warrants;
 
 • A $1,567,579 net increase to the liability portion of convertible notes for a $2,385,921 increase on the reallocation of liability and

equity components of the notes, offset by the $223,276 reclassification of deferred transaction cost asset and an additional $40,623 for
the difference in amortization of transaction costs and a $554,443 reduction in interest and accretion expense in the consolidated statement
of operations.

 
 • A decrease of $43,006 to share capital for the partial conversion of convertible notes.
 
(b) Other disclosures required by Canadian GAAP:

 
Capital disclosures:
 
The Company’s objective is to have a sufficient working capital to maintain financial flexibility and to sustain the future development of the business.
In order to maintain financial flexibility, the Company may from time to time issue shares and adjust its capital spending to manage current and
projected capital levels. To assess its financial strength, the Company continually monitors its working capital, which is calculated as follows:

 
As at April 30  2011  2010 
Current assets  $ 2,161,350  $ 780,364 
Current liabilities   4,194,420   990,065 
Working capital (deficiency)  $ (2,033,070)  $ (209,701)

   
 The Company monitors its forecasted working capital on a monthly basis. The Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are

updated as necessary depending on varying factors including current and forecast prices, successful capital deployment and general industry
conditions. The annual and updated budgets are approved by the board of directors.
 
The Company’s share capital is not subject to external restrictions. There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during
the year.
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26. Supplemental Information on Oil and Gas Operations (Unaudited):
 
This supplementary oil and natural gas information is provided in accordance with the United States Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Topic
932 - “Extractive Activities - Oil and Gas”.
 
Although the Company annually files its reserves information under National Instrument 51-101 – Standards of Disclosure of Oil and Gas Activities (”NI
51-101”), which prescribes the standards for the preparation and disclosure of reserves and related information for reporting issuers in Canada, on April 4,
2012 the Company was granted an exemption from certain provisions of NI 51-101 permitting it to present its disclosure of oil and gas activities in
accordance with SEC requirements under Regulations S-K and S-X in addition to its NI 51-101 compliant disclosure.

There are significant differences to the type of volumes disclosed and the basis from which the volumes are economically determined under the SEC
requirements and NI 51-101. The SEC requires disclosure of net reserves, after royalties, using 12-month average prices and current costs; whereas NI 51-
101 requires gross reserves, before royalties, and future net revenue under forecast pricing and costs. Therefore the difference between the reported numbers
under the two disclosure standards can be material.

The Company retains qualified independent reserves evaluators to evaluate the Company’s proved oil reserves. The Company does not have any natural gas
reserves. For the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 the reports by GLJ Petroleum Consultants (“GLJ”) covered 100% of the Company’s oil reserves.
 
Proved oil and natural gas reserves, as defined within the SEC Rule 4-10(a)(22) of Regulation S-X, are those quantities of oil and gas, which, by analysis of
geoscience and engineering data can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from a given date forward from known reservoirs,
and under existing economic conditions, operating methods and government regulations prior to the time of which contracts providing the right to operate
expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, regardless of whether determinable or probabilistic methods are used for the estimation.
The project to extract the hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within a reasonable
time. Developed oil and natural gas reserves are reserves that can be expected to be recovered from existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods
or in which the cost of the required equipment is relatively minor compared to the cost of a new well; and through installed extraction equipment and
infrastructure operational at the time of the reserves estimate is the extraction is by means not involving a well. Estimates of the Company’s oil reserves are
subject to uncertainty and will change as additional information regarding producing fields and technology becomes available and as future economic and
operating conditions change.
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s proved developed and undeveloped reserves (all oil) within the United States, net of royalties, as at April 30,
2011, 2010 and 2009:
 
Oil (MBbls)  2011  2010  2009 
          
Proved reserves as at May 1   445   79   45 
Extensions and discoveries   46   -   43 
Dispositions   -   (3)   - 
Production   (28)   (32)   (9)
Revisions of prior estimates   -   401   - 
Total Proved reserves as at April 30   463   445   79 
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26. Supplemental Information on Oil and Gas Operations (Unaudited) - continued
 
Oil (MBbls)   2011   2010   2009 
             
Proved developed producing   191   191   - 
Non-producing   -   -   34 
Proved undeveloped   272   254   45 
Total Proved reserves as at April 30   463   445   79 

Note:
(1) This supplementary oil and natural gas information is provided in accordance with the United States Financial Accounting Standards Board Topic 932 –
“Extractive Activities – Oil and Gas”. The Canadian protocol disclosure is contained in its NI 51-101F1 report filed annually on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
 
Capitalized Costs Related to Oil and Gas Assets  2011   2010   2009  
          
Proved properties  $ 10,474,051  $ 9,630,780  $ 2,958,979 
Unproved properties   105,123,129   104,692,582   107,996,621 
   115,597,180   114,323,362   110,955,600 
Less: accumulated impairment   (98,143,411)   (85,294,734)   (84,187,801)
Less: accumulated depletion   (816,555)   (95,815)   - 
  $ 16,637,214  $ 28,932,813  $ 26,767,799 
             
             
Costs incurred in Oil and Gas Activities:   2011    2010    2009  
             
Development  $ 1,623,574  $ 779,457  $ 13,131,400 
Exploration   -   -   - 
  $ 1,623,574  $ 779,457  $ 13,131,400 
 
Note:
(1) This supplementary oil and natural gas information is provided in accordance with the United States Financial Accounting Standards Board Topic 932 –
“Extractive Activities – Oil and Gas”. The Canadian protocol disclosure is contained in its NI 51-101F1 report filed annually on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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26. Supplemental Information on Oil and Gas Operations (Unaudited) - continued
 
Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows From Proved Oil Reserves and Changes Therein:
 
The following standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows from proved oil reserves has been computed using the average first-day-of-the-month
price during the previous 12-month period, costs as at the balance sheet date and year-end statutory income tax rates. A discount factor of 10% has been
applied in determining the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows. The Company does not believe that the standardized measure of
discounted future net cash flows will be representative of actual future net cash flows and should not be considered to represent the fair value of the oil
properties. Actual net cash flows will differ from the presented estimated future net cash flows due to several factors including:
 
 • Future production will include production not only from proved properties, but may also include production from probable and possible

reserves;
 
 • Future production of oil and natural gas from proved properties may differ from reserves estimated;
 
 • Future production rates may vary from those estimated;
 
 • Future rather than average first-day-of-the-month prices during the previous 12-month period and costs as at the balance sheet date will apply;
 
 • Economic factors such as changes to interest rates, income tax rates, regulatory and fiscal environments and operating conditions cannot be

determined with certainty;
 
 • Future estimated income taxes do not take into account the effects of future exploration expenditures; and
 
 • Future development and asset retirement obligations may differ from those estimated.
 
Future net revenues, development, production and restoration costs have been based upon the estimates referred to above. The following tables summarize the
Company’s future net cash flows relating to proved oil reserves based on the standardized measure as prescribed in FASB Topic 932 - “Extractive Activities -
Oil and Gas”:

Future cash flows relating to proved reserves:  2011   2010   2009 
          
Future cash inflows  $ 26,338,000  $ 26,291,000  $ 3,425,000 
Future operating costs   (9,686,000)   (10,672,000)   (2,004,000)
Future development costs   (3,345,000)   (3,488,000)   (889,000)
Future asset retirement costs   (141,000)   (139,000)   (60,000)
Future income taxes   -   -   - 
Future net cash flows   13,166,000   11,992,000   472,000 
10% discount factor   (3,225,000)   (3,286,000)   (139,000)
Standardized measure  $ 9,941,000  $ 8,706,000  $ 333,000 

Note:
(1) This supplementary oil and natural gas information is provided in accordance with the United States Financial Accounting Standards Board Topic 932 –
“Extractive Activities – Oil and Gas”. The Canadian protocol disclosure is contained in its NI 51-101F1 report filed annually on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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26. Supplemental Information on Oil and Gas Operations (Unaudited) - continued
 
             
Reconciliation of future cash flows relating to proved reserves:   2011   2010   2009 
             
Undiscounted value as as at May 1  $ 11,992,000  $ 472,000  $ 256,000 
Extensions and discoveries   1,308,100   -   1,075,000 
Dispositions   -   (17,924)   - 
Production   (1,904,800)   (2,379,900)   (230,000)
Revisions of prior volume estimates   -   10,806,300   - 
Revisions of pricing   1,770,700   3,111,524   (629,000)
Undiscounted value as at April 30   13,166,000   11,992,000   472,000 
10% discount factor   (3,225,000)   (3,286,000)   (139,000)
Standardized measure  $ 9,941,000  $ 8,706,000  $ 333,000 
 
Note:
(1) This supplementary oil and natural gas information is provided in accordance with the United States Financial Accounting Standards Board Topic 932 –
“Extractive Activities – Oil and Gas”. The Canadian protocol disclosure is contained in its NI 51-101F1 report filed annually on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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Exhibit 12.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, Jeffrey Freeman , the Interim Chief Executive Officer of Gravis Oil Corporation, certify that:
 
 (1) I have reviewed this amended Annual Report on Form 20-F /A of Gravis Oil Corporation for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011;

 (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

 (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 (4) The company’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15a-15(f)) for the company and have:

 a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 d. Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this
report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 (5) The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
Date: June 21, 2012
 
 /s/ JEFFREY FREEDMAN  
Name: Jeffrey Freedman  
Title: Interim Chief Executive Officer  
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Exhibit 12.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, Jeffrey Freedman, the Chief Financial Officer of Gravis Oil Corporation, certify that:
 
 (1) I have reviewed this amended Annual Report on Form 20-F /A of Gravis Oil Corporation for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011;

 (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

 (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 (4) The company’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15a-15(f)) for the company and have:

 a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 d. Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this
report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 (5) The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

  
Date: June 21, 2012
 
 /s/ JEFFREY FREEDMAN  
Name: Jeffrey Freedman  
Title: Chief Financial Officer  
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Certification
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes - Oxley Act of 2002

 
In connection with the amended Annual Report on Form 20-F /A of Gravis Oil Corporation (the “Company”), for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned of the company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 (1) the Report fully complies, in all material respects, with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;

and

 (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
company.

 
 
  
 /s/ Jeffrey Freedman  
Name:  Jeffrey Freedman  
Title: Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
   
June 21, 2012  
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company and will be retained
by the Company and will be furnished to the SEC or its staff upon request. This exhibit is not “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 but is instead furnished as provided by applicable rules of the SEC.

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 20-F/A, June 21, 2012 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.
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 Principal Officers:
Keith M. Braaten, P. Eng.

President & CEO
Jodi L. Anhorn, P. Eng.

Executive Vice President &
COO
 

Officers / Vice Presidents:
 
Terry L. Aarsby, P. Eng.
Caralyn P. Bennett, P. Eng.
Leonard L. Herchen, P. Eng.
Myron J. Hladyshevsky, P.
Eng.
Bryan M. Joa, P. Eng.
Mark Jobin, P. Geol.
John E. Keith, P. Eng.
John H. Stilling, P. Eng.
Douglas R. Sutton, P. Eng.
James H. Willmon, P. Eng.

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ENGINEERS
 
 
Mr. Jeffrey Freedman, Chief Financial Officer
Gravis Oil Corporation
Suite 902, #105 150 Crowfoot Crescent NW
Calgary, Alberta, Canada T3G 3T2
 
 

Re: Gravis Oil Corporation
 
Gentlemen:
 
You have informed us that you intend to file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission an amended annual report for the year ended April 30, 2011
(the “Annual Report”) and are seeking our written consent to include references to our report on the oil reserves of Gravis Oil Corporation dated September 15,
2011, effective as of April 30, 2011 (the “GLJ Report”) that we prepared at your request.
 
We confirm that we consent to the inclusion of our name in the Annual Report and to references to the GLJ Report in the Annual Report.
 
This consent is given only with respect to the Annual Report, and is not intended to be, and should not be construed as, a consent to use the GLJ Report for
any other purpose without our prior written consent.
 
 
 Yours very truly,
  
 GLJ PETROLEUM CONSULTANTS LTD.
  
 ORIGINALLY SIGNED BY
  
 Jodi L. Anhorn, M. Sc., P. Eng.
 Executive Vice-President & COO

Calgary, Alberta Canada
June 18, 2012
 

4100, 400 - 3rd Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 4H2 ● (403) 266-9500 ● Fax (403) 262-1855 ● GLJPC.com

 

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 20-F/A, June 21, 2012 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.
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